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ADB FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
March3l2013

The financial highlights for the three months ended March 31 2013 are summarized below The

financial statements and indicators for the three months ended March 31 2009 to 2013 are summarized in

schedules and attached to this memorandum

Results of Operations

1.1 The Bank incurred net loss before distributions approved by the Board of Governors for the first

quarter of 2013 amounting to UA 4.03 million compared to an income of UA 67.46 million in the

first quarter of 2012 The current result was primarily due to fair valuation losses on borrowings and

related derivatives that are typically volatile amounting to UA 47.53 million

The trend of the Banks operating results for the first quarter of 2009 to 2013 is shown below

Trend in operating results

The above trend shows that total income on loans and investments increased from UA 117.31 million in

2009 to UA 148.48 million in 2012 but declined to UA 115.92 in 2013 The decline in 2013 is mainly due

to reduced investment income arising from lower yield and the reduction in the overall size of investment

portfolio Interest expense declined from UA 69.19 million in 2009 to UA 49.75 million in 2013 On the

other hand administrative expenses
of the Bank increased steadily in the first quarters of the last five

years from UA 11.42 million in 2009 to UA 22.59 million in 2013
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1.2 The significant factors influencing the financial results for the first quarter of 2013 compared to 2012

either negatively or positively are the following

Negative impacts

Fair valuation losses on borrowings and related derivatives amounted to UA 47.53 million in the

first quarter of2013 compared to net losses of UA 12.94 million in the same period of 2012

Loan and investment income declined from UA 148.48 million in 2012 to UA 115.92 million in

2013 due to the low market interest rates

Net translation gains reduced from UA 6.81 million in the first quarter of 2012 to UA 2.67 million in the

current period

Positive impacts

Net reversal of impairment provision on treasury investments held at amortized cost amounting to

UA 3.68 million in the current period following the sale of some MBJA bonds with nominal value of

USD 20 million

Interest expense decreased marginally from UA 51.84 million in 2012 to UA 49.75 million in 2013

Interest expense has declined steadily from the high of UA 69.52 million in 2009 to UA 49.75 million

in 2013 due mainly to relatively low market interest rates during these periods

The chart below shows the trend of borrowings and interest expense over of the last five periods
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The chart below compares the movement in investment and loan income with the investment and loan balances

over the three-month period in the last five years

Evolution of investment and loan income

Loan balances increased steadily from UA 6.06 billion in the first quarter of 2009 to UA 10.87 billion in

2013 consequently loan income increased steadily from UA 76.62 million in 2009 to UA 82.36 million in

2013 On the other hand investments which had increased from UA 5.55 billion at the end of the first quarter

of 2009 to UA 8.34 billion in 2012 dropped significantly to UA 6.00 billion at the end of the current year

The combination of reduced investment portfolio and the low market interest rates resulted in the significant

decline in investment income from UA 64.20 million in the first quarter of 2012 to UA33.60 million this

quarter

1.3 Zimbabwe Sudan and Somalia remained the three borrowing countries with arrears that are more

than six months at the end of March 2012 and 2013 comparative summary of loan charges in

arrears for six months and over is presented below
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The cumulative allowance for impairment on loan principal outstanding and charges receivable at

March 31 2013 amounted to UA 130.32 million and UA 202.79 million respectively representing

1.20% and 52.03% of outstanding loan principal and charges receivable respectively on that date

The charts below show the evolution over the last five periods of impairments compared to outstanding

loan principal and charges receivable respectively

Evolution of loan impairment to outstanding loans

Evolution of impairment on loan charges to outstanding balances of loan charges
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1.4 Total administrative expenses of the Bank Group before cost sharing for the three months ended

March 31 2013 amounted to UA 63.43 million representing 21.27% of the UA 298.27 million

budgeted for the year

Administrative expenses before management fees for the three months ended March 31 2013 and

2012 are made up of the following

2013 2012

lUAthousandsi UA UA

Salaries 28842 45% 26199 45%

Benefits 11369 18% 11531 20%

Total Salaries benefits 40211 63% 37730 65%

Other Personnel-related 2.473 4% 1946 3%

Short-term staff 56 0% 93 0%

Consultancy 5.230 8% 4353 8%

Staff training
523 1% 254 0%

Total Manpower Expense 48493 76% 44376 77%

Missions 4839 8% 4518 8%

Furniture Equipment 1.022 2% 1837 3%

Occupancy 3358 5% 2601 5%

Communication 2348 4% 1915 3%

Office supply and printing 327 0% 297 1%

Training of Regional Member
911 1% 403 10%

Countries

Meeting- Bank business 1086 2% 1063 2%

Others net 1048 2% 783 10%

Total Administrative Expenses
63.432 100% 57793 100%

1.5 Total Bank Group administrative expenses excluding depreciation increased by 9.76% from

UA 57.79 million in the first quarter of 2012 to UA 63.43 million in the same period of 2013 Total

manpower expenses in the first quarter of 2013 amounted to UA 48.49 million compared to UA 44.37

million incurred in the same period of 2012 representing an increase of 9.29% year on year On the

other hand other administration expenses increased by 11.4% from UA 13.42 million in 2012 to

UA 14.95 million for the three months of 2013 summary of total expenses from all sources i.e

from the Banks administrative expense budget as well as from bilateral and other multilateral

sources is presented as Schedule for infonnation only

Financial Condition

2.1 Loan disbursements for the three months ended March 31 2013 amounted to UA 124.82 million

compared to UA 240.98 million made during the three months ended March 31 2012

2.2 The Banks reserves increased by UA 53.0 million from UA 2667.43 million as at December 31

2012 to UA 2720.43 million as at March 31 2013 The increase is largely attributable to fair value

gains on borrowings arising from own credit recognized directly in equity in accordance with the

accounting rules



Selected Financial Indicators

The combination of the increase in administrative expenses and reduced operating income

resulted in an increase in the efficiency ratio from 32% at the end of 2012 to 37.3 1% above

the target ratio of 30% See schedule hereto for the rest of the financial ratio

Recommendation

The Board is invited to take note of the Financial Statements of the Bank for the three months

ended March 31 2013

Attach



AFRICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK

SCHEDULE

FINANCIAL fflGHLIGHTS

Aimnuits in UA millions

OUARTERS ENDED MARCH31

OPERATIONAL INCOME AND EXPENSES

Income front

Loans

Investments and related derivatives

Others debt securities

Total nicome from loans and investments

Borrowing expenses

Interest and amortized asuance costs

Net interest on borrowing-related derivatives

Unrealized gain/loss on fair-vahd borrowings and related derivatives

Unrealized gain/loss on derivatives on non fair-valued borrowings and others

Provision fbr impairment on loan principal and clinrges receivables

Provision lbr impairment on investments

Translation gsim/losses

Other income/loss

Net operational income

OTHER EXPENSES

Administrative expenses

Deprecintion Property eqlnpment and intangible assets

Sundry gsins/expenses

Total other expenses

Income beibre transfers approved by the Board of Governors

Transfers of income approved by the Board of Governors

NET INCOME FOR ThE PERIOD

FINANCIAL INDICATORS/RATIOS

Increase/Decrease in Loan Income

Decrease/Increase in Investment Income

Increase/Decrease in Borrowings expense

Increase/Decrease in Other expenses

Decrease/lncrease in Net operational income

Loan income/Borrowing expense ratio

Increase/Decrease in income befbre transfers

Interest coverage ratio .25x

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

82.36 84.25 73.67 71.14 76.62

32.51 62.96 35.46 60.38 38.74

1.06 1.26 1.39 0.33 1.95

115.93 148.48 110.52 131.85 117.31

86.39 79.72 58.19 81.12 74.39

36.64 27.88 9.35 36.40 5.19

47.54 21.01 6.15 0.46 13.40

8.06 8.55 23.89 21.08

4.45 3.57 3.92 4.47 3.13

6.60 21.53

2.67 6.82 23.48 1.00 11.31

0.18 0.56 1.18 0.84 0.69

20.72 87.50 56.76 57.39 0.96

22.59 18.79 17.37 14.04 11.42

1.58 1.01 1.03 1.15 1.06

0.58 0.25 1.42 0.22 0.66

24.75 20.04 16.98 15.41 11.81

4.03 67.46 39.79 41.98 10.84

4.03 67.46 39.79 41.98 10.841

2.24 14.36 3.56 7.15 6.46

48.38 77.57 41.28 55.87 34.94

4.03 6.13 9.19 35.36 18.13

23.46 18.07 10.14 30.47 0.79

76.33 54.16 1.09 5878.34 94.80

0.85 1.30 2.16 1.04 0.74

105.97 69.55 5.22 487.11 265.19

0.92 2.30 1.81 1.94 0.84

Indicative parameters

Slight differences niny occur in totals due to rounding



AFRICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK SCI-IEDULEB

FINANCIAL fflGHLIGHTS

Amounts ni UA millions

BALANCE SHEETS AS AT MARCH31

ASSETS

Cash

Dennind obligations

Treasuly investments

Derivative assets

Non-negotiable
instruments

Accounts receivable

Loans

Hedged loans-fair value adjustment

Accumulated provision tbr loan losses

Equity participations net

Other debt securities

Other assets

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

1473.98 634.69 230.51 171.51 388.53

3.80 3.80 3.80 3.80 3.80

6002.30 8345.86 7684.52 8181.43 5551.37

1587.82 1529.26 1105.44 887.97 702.87

1.29 2.19 3.66 7.89 11.73

869.53 785.08 691.99 765.69 489.32

10869.22 9466.18 8543.14 7444.28 6060.35

75.38 58.71 13.02 0.00 0.00

130.31 116.80 112.37 104.34 103.82

456.75 324.69 297.24 251.08 193.47

72.58 84.13 92.85 73.56 57.21

31.97 14.98 12.62 11.97 11.82

21314.31 21132.41 18548.41 17694.86 13366.65

Capital- subscriptions paid

Cumulative excininge adjustment on subscriptions

Reserves

FINANCIAL INDICATORS/RATIOS

Average return on liquid funds%

Average cost of borrowings%

Average return on bans%

Total debtlrotal callable capitab%

Senior debt/Callable capital
of non borrowing member

Debt/Equity ratio%

Total Debt/Usable capital

Reserve/Loan ratio

Reserve/Debt ratio

Disburseinsnts UA millions

Indicative parameters

Slight diflŁrenees umy occur in totals due to rounding

LIABILITIES CAPITAL RESERVES

Accounts payable

Derivative liabilities

Borrowings

1945.59

536.13

13352.62

2926.84

167.30
272043

2057.76 1411.93 1313.12 971.64

547.30 343.45 283.98 373.70

13453.61 11850.79 11313.92 7386.43

2609.21 2371.21 2351.81 2350.01

161.61 162.37 162.30 161.81
2.62615 2.73340 2.59433 2446.68

21314.31 21132.41 18548.41 17694.86 13366.65

1.68 2.96 1.79 2.99 2.76

1.52 1.57 1.15 2.49 5.88

3.25 3.58 3.50 3.80 5.15

22.16 28.92 52.19 58.16 37.97

55.34 56.01 96.02 123.07 77.41

243.68 264.87 239.79 236.50 159.77

49.91 55.41 79.54 90.96 65.89

26.23 28.98 33.22 36.25 42.09

20.37 19.52 23.07 22.93 33.12

124.82 240.98 466.48 112.87 629.99
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BALANCE SHEET

AS AT MARCH 31 2013

UA thousands Note

ON ACCOUNT OF CAPITAL Note

31 DECEMBER

2012

881453

3801

6487512

1558333

31 MARCH

2012

634694

3801

8345861

1529261

1974 2194

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Accrued income and charges receivable on

loans Note

Other accounts receivable

DEVELOPMENT FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Loans net Notes

Hedge loans Fair value adjustment note

Equity participations Note

Other debt securities Note

OTHER ASSETS

Property equipment and intangible assets

Miscellaneous

195212

567456

762668

ASSETS

CASH

DEMAND OBLIGATIONS

TREASURY INVESTMENTS Note

DERIVATIVE ASSETS Note

NON-NEGOTIABLE INSTRUMENTS

188158

596920

785078

TOTAL ASSETS

10885804 9349012

86854 58711

438555 324688

76537 84128

11487750 9816539

30421 14278

641 704

31062 14982

21214553 21132410

The accompanying notes to the interim financial statements form part of this statement



LIABILITIES EQUITY

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

Accrued financial charges

Other accounts payable

DERIVATIVE LIABILITIES Note

BORROWINGS Note

Borrowings at fair value

Borrowings at amortized cost

EQUITY Note

Capital

Subscriptions paid

Cumulative Exchange Adjustment on

Subscriptions CEAS
Subscriptions paid net of CEAS

Reserves

Total equity

TOTAL LIABILITIES EQUITY

31 DECEMBER

2012

31 MARCH

2012

440804 406813

1642268 1650943

2083072 2057756

512596 547296

12175956 12330452

1102844 1123159

13278800 13453611

2839475 2609206

166825 161606

2672650 2447600

2667435 2626147

5340085 5073747

21214553 21132410



INCOME STATEMENT
FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31 2013

UA thousands Note

OPERATIONAL INCOME EXPENSES

Income from

Loans Note

Investments and related derivatives Note

Other debt securities

Total income from loans and investments

Borroing expenses Note

Interest and amortized issuance costs

Net interest on borroing-related derivatives

Unrealized losses/gains on borrowings related derivatives and others

Provision for impairment Note

Loan principal

Loan charges

Provision for impairment on investments

Translation losses/gains

Other income

Net operational income

OTHER EXPENSES

Administrative expenses Note

Depreciation Property equipment and intangible assets

Sundiy incomelexpenses

Total other expenses

Income before distributions approved by the Board of Governors

Distributions of income approved by the Board of Governors

NET iNCOME FOR THE PERIOD

The accompanying notes to the financial statements form part of this statement

84251

62965

1262

148478

79717

27884

12947

605

2968

6817

562

87504

18788

1005

249

20042

67462

67462

2012



STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSiVE INCOME
FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31 2013

UA thousands Note

NET INCOME FOR THE PERIOD

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Net gains/losses on financial assets at thir value through Other Comprehensive

Income

Unrealized gain on fair-valued borrowings arising from own credit

Total other comprehensive income

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD

The iconpanying nolestothefinancial staiemenisform part of this statement

4186

18318

2012

67462

22.504

89.966



STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31 2013

UA thousands Note

Balance at January 12013

Net income for the period

Other comprehensive income

Net gain on financial assets at fair

value through Other

Comprehensive Income

Unrealized gain on fair-valued

borrowings arising from own

credit

2505975 160633 2636893 37203

67462

63509

4186

67462 4186

103231

18318

18318

973

2609206 161606 2704355 33017

2839475 166825 2632864 18096

4030

Balance at January 12012 ___________ ___________ ___________ __________ __________ ___________

Net income for the period

Other comprehensive income

Net gain on financial assets at fair

value through Other

Comprehensive Income

Unrealized gain on fair-valued

borrowings arising from own

credit
______________ ______________ ______________ ____________ _____________ _____________

Total other comprehensive income ____________ ____________ ____________ ___________ ___________ ___________

Net increase in paid up capital

Net conversion losses on new

subscriptions ____________ ____________ ____________ ___________ ___________ ___________

Balance at March 312012
___________ ___________ ___________ __________ __________ ___________

52155

Total other comprehensive income 030 4870 52155

Net increase in paid up capital 87367

Net conversion losses on new

subscriptions 475

Balance at March 31 2013 2926842 167300 2628834 22966 68630

The accompanying notes to the financial statements form part of this statement

45191

16475

4870



STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 312013

UA thousands Note

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities

Depreciation

Provision for impairment on loan
principal

and charges

Unrealized losses on investments and related derivatives

Amortization of discount or premium on treasury
investments at amortized cost

Provision for impairment on equity investments

Amortization of borrowing issuance costs

Unrealized gain on fair-valued borrowings and derivatives

Translation gainsIlosses

Net movements in derivatives

Changes in accrued income on loans

Changes in accrued financial charges

Changes in other receivables and payables

Net cash provided by operating activities

INVESTING LENDING AND DEVELOPMENT ACTIVITIES

Disbursements on loans

Repayments of loans

Investments maturing after months of acquisition

Investments at amortized cost

Investments at fair value through profit
and loss

Changes in other assets

Equity participations movement

Net cash provided used in investing lending and development activities

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

New borrowings

Repayments on borrowings

Net cash from capital subscriptions

Net cash provided by financing activities

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents

Increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period

COMPOSED OF
Investments maturing within months of acquisition

Investments at amortized cost

Investments at fair value through profit and loss

Cash

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period

SUPPLEMENTARY DISCLOSURE
Movement

resulting
from exchange rate fluctuations

Interest paid

Interest received

Dividend received

Movement resulting from exchange rate fluctuations

Loans

Borrowings

Currency swaps

1005

3573

4978
4824

4193
12946

6817
102583

27296
28906

185894

296449

240978

205889

105469

255960

2650
9276

197506

1523607

875849
103108

750866

26132

875941

1583583

2459524

60253

24349
105682

CASH FLOWS FROM

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net income

2012

67462

1824832

634694

2459526

67459
73117

1210

The accompanying notes to the interim financial statements formpart of this statement



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 312013

NOTE OPERATIONS AND AFFILIATED ORGANIZATIONS

The African Development Bank ADB or the Bank is multilateral development finance institution dedicated to the

economic and social progress of its regional member states The Banks headquarters is located in Abidjan Côte

dIvoire However since February 2003 the Bank has managed its operations largely from its temporary relocation

facilities in Tunis Tunisia The Bank finances development projects and programs in its regional member states

typically in cooperation with other national or international development institutions In furtherance of this objective

the Bank participates in the selection study and preparation of projects contributing to such development and where

necessary provides technical assistance The Bank also promotes investments of public and private capital in

projects and programs designed to contribute to the economic and social progress of the regional member states The

activities of the Bank are complemented by those of the African Development Fund ADF or the Fund which was

established by the Bank and certain countries and the Nigeria Trust Fund NTF which is special fund

administered by the Bank The ADB ADF and NTF each have separate and distinct assets and liabilities There is

no recourse to the ADB for obligations in respect of any of the ADF or NTF liabilities The ADF was established to

assist the Bank in contributing to the economic and social development of the Banks regional members to promote

cooperation and increased international trade particularly among the Banks members and to provide financing on

concessional terms for such purposes

In accordance with Article 57 of the Agreement Establishing the Bank the Bank its property other assets income

and its operations and transactions shall be exempt from all taxation and customs duties The Bank is also exempt

from any obligation to pay withhold or collect any tax or duty

NOTE SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Banks financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards IFRS

promulgated by the International Accounting Standards Board The interim financial statements have been prepared

in accordance with International Accounting Standard LAS No 34 Interim Financial Reporting These interim

financial statements should be read in conjunction with the financial statements of the Bank for the year ended

December 31 2012

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention except for certain financial assets

and financial liabilities that are carried at fair value

The accounting policies applied by the Bank in these interim financial statements are consistent with those applied by

the Bank in its audited financial statements for the year ended December 31 2012

The significant accounting policies applied by the Bank are summarized below



Revenue Recognition

Interest income is accrued and recognized based on the effective interest rate for the time such instrument is

outstanding and held by the Bank The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts the estimated future cash flows

through the expected life of the financial asset to the assets net carrying amount

Income from investments includes realized and unrealized gains and losses on financial instruments measured at fair

value through profit or loss

Dividends are recognized in income statement when the Banks right to receive the dividends is established in

accordance with LAS 18 Revenue

Functional and Presentation Currencies

The Bank conducts its operations in the currencies of its member countries As result of the application of lAS 21

revised The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates the Bank prospectively changed its functional

currency from the currencies of all its member countries to the Unit of Account UA effective January 2005 as it

was concluded that the UA most faithfully represented the aggregation of economic effects of the underlying

transactions events and conditions of the Bank conducted in different currencies The UA is also the currency in

which the financial statements are presented The value of the Unit of Account is defined in Article 5.1b of the

Agreement establishing the Bank the Agreement as equivalent to one Special Drawing Right SDR of the

International Monetary Fund IMF or any unit adopted for the same purpose by the IMF

Currency Translation

Income and expenses are translated to UA at the rates prevailing on the date of the transaction Monetary assets and

liabilities are translated into UA at rates prevailing at the balance sheet date The rates used for translating currencies

into UA at March 31 2013 and 2012 are reported in Note S-i Non-monetary assets and liabilities are translated into

UA at historical rates Translation differences are included in the determination of net income Capital subscriptions

are recorded in UA at the rates prevailing at the time of receipt The translation difference relating to payments of

capital subscriptions is reported in the financial statements as the Cumulative Exchange Adjustment on Subscriptions

CEAS This is composed of the difference between the UA amount at the predetermined rate and the UA amount

using the rate at the time of receipt When currencies are converted into other currencies the resulting gains or losses

are included in the determination of net income

Member Countries Subscriptions

Although the Agreement establishing the ADB allows for member country to withdraw from the Bank no member

has ever withdrawn its membership voluntarily nor has any indicated to the Bank that it intends to do so The

stability in the membership reflects the fact that the members are African and non-African countries committed to

the purpose of the Bank to contribute to the sustainable economic development and social progress of its regional

member countries individually and jointly Accordingly as of March 31 2013 the Bank did not expect to distribute

any portion of its net assets due to member country withdrawals

In the unlikely event of withdrawal by member the Bank shall arrange for the repurchase of the former members

shares The repurchase price of the shares is the value shown by the books of the Bank on the date the country ceases

to be member hereafter referred to as the termination date The Bank may partially or fully offset amounts due

for shares purchased against the members liabilities on loans and guarantees due to the Bank The former member

would remain liable for direct obligations and contingent liabilities to the Bank for so long as any parts of the loans

or guarantees contracted before the termination date are outstanding If at date subsequent to the termination date it

becomes evident that losses may not have been sufficiently taken into account when the repurchase price was

determined the former member may be required to pay on demand the amount by which the repurchase price of the

shares would have been reduced had the losses been taken into account when the repurchase price was determined In

addition the former member remains liable on any call subsequent to the termination date for unpaid subscriptions



to the extent that it would have been required to respond if the impairment of capital had occurred and the call had

been made at the time the repurchase price of its shares was determined

Were member to withdraw the Bank may set the dates in respect of payments for shares repurchased If for

example paying former member would have adverse consequences for the Banks financial position the Bank

could defer payment until the risk had passed and indefinitely if appropriate Furthermore shares that become

unsubscribed for any reason may be offered by the Bank for purchase by eligible member countries based on the

share transfer rules approved by the Board of Governors In any event no payments shall be made until six months

after the termination date

If the Bank were to terminate its operations all liabilities of the Bank would first be settled out of the assets of the

Bank and then if necessary out of members callable capital before any distribution could be made to any member

country Such distribution is subject to the prior decision of the Board of Governors of the Bank and would be based

on the pro-rata share of each member country

Employee Benefits

Pension Obligations

The Bank operates contributory defined benefit pension plan for its employees The Staff Retirement Plan SRP

provides benefit payments to participants upon retirement defined benefit plan is pension plan that defines an

amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive on retirement usually dependent on one or more factors

such as age years of service and compensation An actuarial valuation of the cost of providing benefits for the SRP

is determined using the Projected Unit Credit Method Upon reaching retirement age pension is calculated based on

the average remuneration for the final three years of pensionable service and the pension is subject to annual

inflationary adjustments Actuarial gains and losses are recognized immediately in other comprehensive income in

the year they occur Past service cost is recognized immediately to the extent that benefits are already vested

otherwise amortized on straight-line basis over the average period until the benefits become vested The pension

liability is recognized as part of other accounts payable in the balance sheet The liability represents the present value

of the Banks defined benefit obligations net of the fair value of plan assets

Post-Employment Medical Benefits

The Bank operates contributory defined Medical Benefit Plan MBP which provides post-employment healthcare

benefits to eligible former staff including retirees Membership of the MBP includes both staff and retirees of the

Bank The entitlement to the post-retirement healthcare benefit is usually conditional on the employee contributing to

the Plan up to retirement age and the completion of minimum service period The expected costs of these benefits

derive from contributions from plan members as well as the Bank and are accrued over the period of employment

and during retirement Contributions by the Bank to the MBP are charged to expenses
and included in the income

statement The MBP Board an independent body created by the Bank determines the adequacy of the contributions

and is authorized to recommend changes to the contribution rates of both the Bank and plan members Actuarial

gains and losses are recognized immediately in other comprehensive income in the year they occur The medical plan

liability is recognized as part of other accounts payable in the balance sheet The liability represents
the present value

of the Banks post-employment medical benefit obligations net of the fair value of plan assets

Financial Instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized on the Banks balance sheet when the Bank assumes related

contractual rights or obligations



Financial Assets

In accordance with IFRS the Bank manages its financial assets in line with the applicable business model and

accordingly classifies its financial assets into the following categories financial assets at amortized cost financial

assets at fair value through profit or loss FVTPL and financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive

income FVTOCI In accordance with the Banks business model financial assets are held either for the

stabilization of income through the management of net interest margin or for liquidity management The Banks

investments in the equity of enterprises whether in the private or public is for the promotion of economic

development of its member countries and not for trading to realize fair value changes Management determines the

classification of its financial assets at initial recognition

Financial Assets at Amortized Cost

financial asset is classified as at amortized cost only if the asset meets the objective of the Banks business

model to hold the asset to collect the contractual cash flows and the contractual terms give rise on specified

dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding The nature of

any derivatives embedded in debt investment are considered in determining whether the cash flows of the

investment are solely payment of principal and interest on the principal outstanding and are not accounted for

separately

If either of the two criteria above is not met the financial asset is classified as at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at amortized cost include some loans and receivables on amounts advanced to borrowers and

certain debt investments that meet the criteria of financial assets at amortized cost Receivables comprise

demand obligations accrued income and receivables from loans and investments and other amounts receivable

Loans and receivables meeting the two criteria above are carried at amortized cost using the effective interest

method

Loan origination fees are deferred and recognized over the life of the related loan as an adjustment of yield

However incremental direct costs associated with originating loans are expensed as incurred as such amounts

are considered insignificant The amortization of loan origination fee is included in income from loans

Investments classified as financial assets at amortized cost include investments that are non-derivative financial

assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities These investments are carried and subsequently

measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method

ii Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss FVTPL
Debt instruments that do not meet the amortized cost criteria as described above are measured at FVTPL This

category includes all treasury assets held for resale to realize short-term fair value changes as well as certain

loans for which either of the criteria for recognition at amortized cost is not met Gains and losses on these

financial assets are reported in the income statement in the period in which they arise Derivatives are also

categorized as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

In addition debt instruments that meet amortized cost criteria can be designated and measured at FVTPL

debt instrument may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if such designation eliminates or

significantly reduces measurement or recognition inconsistency that would arise from measuring assets or

liabilities or recognizing the gains and losses on them on different bases
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iii Financial Assets at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income FVTOCI

On initial recognition the Bank can make an irrevocable election on an instrument-by-instrument basis to

designate investments in equity instruments not held for trading as financial assets measured at FVTOCI

Equity investments are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs Subsequently they are measured at

fair value with gains and losses arising from changes in fair value recognized in other comprehensive income

The cumulative gains or losses are not reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the investments and no

impairments are recognized in profit or loss Dividends earned from such investments are recognized in profit

and loss unless the dividends clearly represent repayment of part of the cost of the investment

Recognition and Derecognition of Financial Assets

Purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized or derecognized on trade-date basis which is the date on

which the Bank commits to purchase or sell the asset Loans are recognized when cash is advanced to the borrowers

Financial assets not carried at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognized at fair value plus transaction

costs Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired

or where the Bank has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership

Securities Purchased under Resale Agreements and Securities Sold under Repurchase Agreements

Securities purchased under resale agreements and securities sold under repurchase agreements are reported at market

rates The Bank receives securities purchased under resale agreements monitors their fair value and if necessary may

require additional collateral

Cash and Cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand demand deposits and other short-term highly liquid investments

that are readily convertible to known amount of cash are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value and have

time to maturity upon acquisition of three months or less

Financial Liabilities

Borrowings

In the ordinary course of its business the Bank borrows funds in the major capital markets for lending and

liquidity management purposes The Bank issues debt instruments denominated in various currencies with

differing maturities at fixed or variable interest rates The Banks borrowing strategy is driven by three major

factors namely timeliness in meeting cash flow requirements optimizing asset and liability management with

the objective of mitigating exposure to financial risks and providing cost-effective funding

In addition to long and medium-term borrowings the Bank also undertakes short-term borrowing for cash and

liquidity management purposes only Borrowings not designated at fair value through profit or loss are carried on

the balance sheet at amortized cost with interest expense determined using the effective interest method

Borrowing expenses are recognized in profit or loss and include the amortization of issuance costs discounts and

premiums which is determined using the effective interest method Borrowing activities may create exposure to

market risk most notably interest rate and currency risks

The Bank uses derivatives and other risk management approaches to mitigate such risks Details of the Banks

risk management policies and practices are contained in Note to these financial statements Certain of the

Banks borrowings obtained prior to 1990 from the governments of certain member countries of the Bank are

interest-free loans In accordance with the provisions of the amendments resulting from the improvements to
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IFRS issued in May 2008 relating to the revised lAS 20 Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of

Government Assistance such borrowings are carried at the amounts at which they are repayable on their due

dates

ii Financial Liabilities at Fair Value through Profit or Loss

This category has two sub-categories financial liabilities held for trading and those designated at fair value

through profit or loss at inception Derivatives are categorized as held-for-trading The Bank applies fair value

designation primarily to borrowings that have been swapped into floating-rate debt using derivative contracts In

these cases the designation of the borrowing at fair value through profit or loss is made in order to significantly

reduce accounting mismatches that otherwise would have arisen if the borrowings were carried on the balance

sheet at amortized cost while the related swaps are carried on the balance sheet at fair value

In accordance with IFRS fair value changes for financial liabilities that are designated as at fair value through

profit or loss that is attributable to changes in the Banks own credit risk is recognized in other comprehensive

income Changes in fair value attributable to the Banks credit risk are not subsequently reclassified to profit or

loss

iii Other Liabilities

All financial liabilities that are not derivatives or designated at fair value through profit or loss are recorded at

amortized cost The amounts include certain borrowings accrued finance charges on borrowings and other

accounts payable

Financial liabilities are derecognized when they are discharged or canceled or when they expire

Derivatives

The Bank uses derivative instruments in its portfolios for asset/liability management cost reduction risk

management and hedging purposes These instruments are mainly cross-currency swaps and interest rate swaps

The derivatives on borrowings are used to modi the interest rate or currency
characteristics of the debt the Bank

issues This economic relationship is established on the date the debt is issued and maintained throughout the terms

of the contracts The interest component of these derivatives is reported as part of borrowing expenses

The Bank classifies all derivatives at fair value with all changes in fair value recognized in the income statement

When the criteria for the application of the fair value option are met then the related debt is also carried at fair

value with changes in fair value recognized in the income statement

The Bank assesses its hybrid financial assets i.e the combined financial asset host and embedded derivative in its

entirety to determine their classification hybrid financial asset is measured at amortized cost if the combined

cash flows represent solely principal and interest on the outstanding principal otherwise it is measured at fair value

The Bank did not hold any hybrid financial assets as at March 31 2013

Derivatives embedded in financial liabilities or other non-financial host contracts are treated as separate derivatives

when their risks and characteristics were not closely related to those of the host contract and the host contract was

not carried at fair value with unrealized gains or losses reported in profit or loss Such derivatives were stripped

from the host contract and measured at fair value with unrealized gains and losses reported in profit or loss
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Hedge Accounting

The Bank applies fair value hedge accounting to interest rate swaps contracted to hedge the interest rate risk

exposure associated with its fixed rate loans Under fair value hedge accounting the change in the fair value of the

hedging instrument and the change in the fair value of the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk are

recognized in the income statement

At inception of the hedge the Bank documents the relationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged

item along with its risk management objectives and its strategy for undertaking the hedge transactions

Furthermore at the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing basis the Bank documents whether the hedging

instrument is highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values of the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the Bank revokes the hedging relationship when the hedging instrument

expires or is sold terminated or exercised or when it no longer qualifies for hedge accounting The cumulative fair

value adjustment to the carrying amount of the hedged item arising from the hedged risk is amortized to profit or

loss from that date

Impairment of Financial Assets

Asset Carried at Amortized Cost

The Bank first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets If the

Bank determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset that

asset is included in group of financial assets with similar credit characteristics and collectively assessed for

impairment Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is or continues

to be recognized are not included in collective assessment of impairment financial asset or group of financial

assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred if and only if there is objective evidence of impairment as

result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset loss event and that loss event

or events has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that

can be reliably estimated

If the Bank determines that there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables or

investments carried at amortized cost has been incurred the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the

difference between the assets carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows excluding

future credit losses that have not been incurred discounted at the financial assets original effective interest rate

For sovereign-guaranteed loans the estimated impairment representing present value losses arises from delays that

may be experienced in receiving amounts due For non-sovereign- guaranteed loans the impairment reflects

managements best estimate of the non-collectability in whole or in part of amounts due as well as delays in the

receipt of such amounts

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is

recognized in the income statement If loan or investment carried at amortized cost has variable interest rate the

discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate determined under the contract

Interest and charges are accrued on all loans including those in arrears When subsequent event causes the amount

of impairment loss to decrease the decrease in impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss

Offsetting of Financial Instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and reported on net basis when there is current legally enforceable right

to offset the recognized amounts current legally enforceable right exists if the right is not contingent on future

event and is enforceable both in the normal course of business and in the event of default insolvency or bankruptcy
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of the entity and all counterparties and there is an intention on the part of the Bank to settle on net basis or realize

the asset and settle the liability simultaneously

Fair Value Disclosure

In liquid or active markets the most reliable indicators of fair value are quoted market prices financial

instrument is regarded as quoted in an active market if quoted prices are regularly available from an exchange

dealer broker industry group pricing service or regulatory agency and those prices represent actual and regularly

occurring market transactions on an arms length basis If the above criteria are not met the market is regarded as

being inactive Indications that market might be inactive include when there is wide bid-offer spread or

significant increase in the bid-offer spread or there are few or no recent transactions observed in the market When

markets become illiquid or less active market quotations may not represent the prices at which orderly transactions

would take place between willing buyers and sellers and therefore may require adjustment in the valuation process

Consequently in an inactive market price quotations are not necessarily determinative of fair values Considerable

judgment is required to distinguish between active and inactive markets

The fair values of quoted assets in active markets are based on current bid prices while those of liabilities are based

on current asking prices For financial instruments with inactive markets or unlisted securities the Bank establishes

fair value by using valuation techniques that incorporate the maximum use of market data inputs These include the

use of recent arms length transactions discounted cash flow analysis option pricing models and other valuation

techniques commonly used by market participants Financial instruments for which market quotations are not

readily available have been valued using methodologies and assumptions that necessarily require the use of

subjective judgments Accordingly the actual value at which such financial instruments could be exchanged in

current transaction or whether they are actually exchangeable is not readily determinable Management believes

that these methodologies and assumptions are reasonable however the values actually realizable in sale might be

different from the fair values disclosed

The following three hierarchical levels are used for the determination of fair value

Level Quoted prices in active markets for the same instrument i.e without modification or repackaging

Level Quoted prices in active markets for similar assets or liabilities or other valuation techniques for which all

significant inputs are based on observable market data

Level Valuation techniques for which any significant input is not based on observable market data

The methods and assumptions used by the Bank in estimating the fair values of financial instruments are as

follows

Cash The carrying amount is the fair value

Investments Fair values for investment securities are based on quoted market prices where available If quoted

market prices are not available fair values are based on quoted market prices of comparable instruments

Borrowings The fair values of the Banks borrowings are based on market quotations when possible or valuation

techniques based on discounted cash flow models using LIBOR market-determined discount curves adjusted by the

Banks credit spread Credit spreads are obtained from market data as well as indicative quotations received from

certain counterparties for the Banks new public bond issues The Bank also uses systems based on industry

standard pricing models and valuation techniques to value borrowings and their associated derivatives The models

use market-sourced inputs such as interest rates yield curves exchange rates and option volatilities Valuation

models are subject to internal and periodic external reviews When determination is made that the market for an

existing borrowing is inactive or illiquid appropriate adjustments are made to the relevant observable market data
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to arrive at the Banks best estimate of the price at which the Bank could have bought back the borrowing at the

balance sheet date

For borrowings on which the Bank has elected fair value option the portion of fair value changes on the valuation

of borrowings relating to the credit risk of the Bank is reported in Other Comprehensive Income in accordance with

IFRS

Equity Investments The underlying assets of entities in which the Bank has equity investments are periodically fair

valued both by fund managers and independent valuation experts using market practices The fair value of

investments in listed enterprises is based on the latest available quoted bid prices The fair value of investments in

unlisted entities is assessed using appropriate methods for example discounted cash flows The fair value of the

Banks equity participations is estimated as the Banks percentage ownership of the net asset value of the funds

Derivative Financial Instruments The fair values of derivative financial instruments are based on market

quotations when possible or valuation techniques that use market estimates of cash flows and discount rates The

Bank also uses valuation tools based on industry standard pricing models and valuation techniques to value

derivative financial instruments The models use market-sourced inputs such as interest rates yield curves

exchange rates and option volatilities All financial models used for valuing the Banks financial instruments are

subject to both internal and periodic external reviews

Loans The Bank does not sell its sovereign loans nor does it believe there is comparable market for these loans

The fair value of loans reported in these financial statements represents Managements best estimates of the

expected cash flows of its loans The fair valuation of loans has been determined using discounted cash flow

model based on year-end market lending rates in currencies including impairment percentages when applicable

and credit spreads for non-sovereign loans The changes in fair value of loans carried at fair value through profit

and loss are reported in the income statement However the estimated fair value of loans carried at amortized cost

is provided in the notes to the financial statements for disclosure purposes only The estimated fair value of loans is

disclosed in Note

Day One Profit and Loss

The best evidence of the fair value of financial instrument at initial recognition is the transaction price i.e the fair

value of the consideration given or received gain or loss may only be recognized on initial recognition of

financial instrument if the fair value of that instrument is evidenced by comparison with other observable current

market transactions in the same instrument i.e without modification or repackaging or based on valuation

technique whose variables include only data from observable markets On initial recognition gain or loss may not

be recognized when using valuation technique that does not incorporate data solely from observable markets The

Bank only recognizes gains or losses after initial recognition to the extent that they arise from change in factor

including time that market participants would consider in setting price

The Bank holds financial instruments some maturing after more than ten years where fair value is determined

based on valuation models that use inputs that may not be market-observable as of the calculation date Such

financial instruments are initially recognized at the transaction price although the value obtained from the relevant

valuation model may differ The difference between the transaction price and the model value commonly referred

to as day one profit and loss is either amortized over the life of the transaction or deferred until the

instruments fair value can be determined using market observable inputs or is realized through settlement The

financial instrument is subsequently measured at fair value adjusted for the deferred day one profit and loss

Subsequent changes in fair value are recognized immediately in the income statement without immediate reversal

of deferred day one profits and losses
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Investment in Associate

Under lAS 28 Investments in Associates the ADF and any other entity in which the Bank has significant

influence are considered associates of the Bank An associate is an entity over which the Bank has significant

influence but not control over the entitys financial and operating policy decisions The relationship between the

Bank and the ADF is described in more detail in Note lAS 28 requires that the equity method be used to account

for investments in associates Under the equity method an investment in an associate is initially recognized at cost

and the carrying amount is increased or decreased to recognize the investors share of the profit or loss of the

investee after the date of acquisition The investors share of the profit or loss of the investee is recognized in the

investors income statement The subscriptions by the Bank to the capital of the ADF occurred between 1974 and

1990 At March 31 2013 such subscriptions cumulatively represented approximately percent of the economic

interest in the capital of the ADF

Although ADF is not-for-profit entity and has never distributed any dividend to its subscribers since its creation in

1972 the revisions to lAS 28 require that the equity method be used to account for the Banks investment in the

ADF Furthermore in accordance with lAS 36 the net investment in the ADF is assessed for impairment

Cumulative losses as measured under the equity method are limited to the investments original cost as the ADB

has not guaranteed any potential losses of the ADF

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment is measured at historical cost less depreciation Historical cost includes expenditure

directly attributable to the acquisition of the items Subsequent costs are included in the assets carrying amount or

are recognized as separate asset as appropriate only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated

with the item will flow to the Bank and the cost of the item can be measured reliably Repairs and maintenance are

charged to the income statement when they are incurred

Land is not depreciated Depreciation on other assets is calculated using the straight-line method to amortize the

difference between cost and estimated residual values over estimated useful lives The estimated useful lives are as

follows

-Buildings 15-20 years

-Fixtures and fittings 6-10 years

-Furniture and equipment 3-7
years

-Motor vehicles years

The residual values and useful lives of assets are reviewed periodically and adjusted if appropriate Assets that are

subject to amortization are reviewed annually for impairment An assets carrying amount is written down

immediately to its recoverable amount if the assets carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable

amount The recoverable amount is the higher of the assets fair value less costs to sell and its value in use Gains

and losses on disposal are determined as the difference between proceeds and the assets carrying amount and are

included in the income statement in the period of disposal

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets include computer systems software and are stated at historical cost less amortization An

intangible asset is recognized only when its cost can be measured reliably and it is probable that the expected future

economic benefits attributable to it will flow to the Bank Amortization of intangible assets is calculated using the

straight-line method to write down the cost of intangible assets to their residual values over their estimated useful

lives of 3-5 years
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Leases

The Bank has entered into several operating lease agreements including those for its offices in Tunisia and in

certain other regional member countries Under such agreements all the risks and benefits of ownership are

effectively retained by the lessor Payments made under operating leases are charged to the income statement on

straight-line basis over the period of the lease Benefits received and receivable as an incentive to enter into an

operating lease are also recognized on straight-line basis over the lease term When an operating lease is

terminated before the lease period has expired any payment required to be made to the lessor by way of penalty is

recognized as an expense in the period in which the termination takes place

Allocations and Distributions of Income Approved by the Board of Governors

In accordance with the Agreement establishing the Bank the Board of Governors is the sole authority for approving

allocations from income to surplus account or distributions to other entities for development purposes Surplus

consists of earnings from prior years which are retained by the Bank until further decision is made on their

disposition or the conditions of distribution for specified uses have been met Distributions of income for

development purposes are reported as expenses on the Income Statement in the year of approval Distributions of

income for development purposes may be funded from amounts previously transferred to surplus account or from

the current years income

Retained Earnings

Retained earnings of the Bank consist of amounts allocated to reserves from prior years income balance of

amounts allocated to surplus after deducting distributions approved by the Board of Governors unallocated current

periods net income and expenses recognized directly in equity as required by IFRS

Critical Accounting Judgments and Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

In the preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS Management makes certain estimates

assumptions and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets liabilities revenue and expenses as well as

the disclosure of contingent liabilities Actual results could differ from such estimates Estimates and judgments are

continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors including expectations of future

events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances

The most significant judgments and estimates are summarized below

Significant Judgments

The Banks accounting policies require that assets and liabilities be designated at inception into different

accounting categories Such decisions require significant judgment and relate to the following circumstances

Fair Value through Profit and Loss In designating financial assets or liabilities at fair value through profit or

loss the Bank has determined that such assets or liabilities meet the criteria for this classification

Amortized Cost for Embedded Derivatives The Bank follows the guidance of IFRS on classifying financial

assets with embedded derivatives in their entirety as at amortized cost or fair value through profit or loss In

making this judgment the Bank considers whether the cash flows of the financial asset are solely payment of

principal and interest on the principal outstanding and classifies the qualifying asset accordingly without

separating the derivative

Significant Estimates

The Bank also uses estimates for its financial statements in the following circumstances

Impairment Losses on Financial Assets Measured at Amortized Cost At each financial statements reporting

date the Bank reviews its financial assets measured at amortized cost for impairment The Bank first assesses
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whether objective evidence of impairment exists for individual assets If such objective evidence exists

impairment is determined by discounting expected future cash flows using the assets original effective interest

rate and comparing this amount to the assets net carrying amount Determining the amount and timing of future

cash flows on impaired assets requires significant judgment If the Bank determines that no objective evidence of

impairment exists for an individually assessed asset that asset is included in group of assets with similar credit

characteristics and collectively assessed for impairment Objective evidence of impairment for group of assets

may include observable data indicating that there has been an adverse change in the payment status of borrowers

in group or national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on assets in the group

Management uses estimates based on historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics and

objective evidence of impairment similar to those in the portfolio when scheduling its future cash flows The

methodology and assumptions used for estimating both the amount and timing of future cash flows are reviewed

regularly to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience

Fair Value of Financial Instruments The fair value of financial instruments that are not quoted in active markets

is determined by using valuation techniques Where valuation techniques for example models are used to

determine fair values they are validated and periodically reviewed by qualified personnel independent of the area

that created them All valuation models are calibrated to ensure that outputs reflect actual data and comparative

market prices To the extent practical valuation models use only observable data however areas such as credit

risk both own and counterparty volatilities and correlations require management to make estimates Changes in

assumptions about these factors could affect the reported fair value of financial instruments

Retirement Benefits The present value of retirement benefit obligations is sensitive to the actuarial and financial

assumptions used including the discount rate At the end of each year the Bank determines the appropriate

discount rate to be used to determine the present value of estimated future pension obligations based on interest

rates of suitably long-term high-quality corporate bonds in the currencies comprising the Banks UA

Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications of prior periods amounts have been made to conform to the presentation in the current

period These reclassifications did not affect prior periods reported result

NOTE THE EFFECT OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

At the date of issue of these financial statements the following new and amended International Financial Reporting

Standards and Interpretations were effective for application by the Bank The Bank has also early adopted the

revision to lAS 32

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements

IFRS 10 replaces the portion of lAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements that addresses the

accounting for consolidated financial statements It introduces new control model to determine whether an

investee should be consolidated This IFRS defines the principle of control and establishes control as the sole basis

for determining which entities should be consolidated by the reporting entity It also establishes principles for the

presentation and preparation of consolidated financial statements when an entity has determined that it controls one

or more other entities The changes introduced by IFRS 10 require management to exercise significant judgement to

determine which entities are controlled and therefore are required to be consolidated by the Bank compared with

the requirements that were in lAS 27

IFRS 10 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 2013 but will not have any effect in the Banks

financial statements because based on the control criteria management does not consider that any entities with
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which it is involved which are currently excluded from consolidation will need to be included on adoption of the

new standard

IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interest in Other Entities

IFRS 12 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 2013 IFRS 12 requires an entity to disclose

information that enables users of financial statements to evaluate the nature of and risks associated with its interests

in other entities and the effects of those interests on its financial position financial performance and cash flows

IFRS 12 is required to be applied by an entity that has an interest in any of the following entities subsidiaries joint

arrangements associates and unconsolidated structured entities This standard requires disclosures of interests in

subsidiaries and associates and also expands the disclosure requirements for unconsolidated structured entities The

new disclosures also cover among other issues judgments made in determining if the entity controls has joint

control or significant influence over an entity

The adoption of IFRS 12 is not expected to have any significant impact on the Banks financial position or

performance as it only relates to disclosures

IFRS 13 Fair Value

IFRS 13 defines fair value sets out in single IFRS framework for measuring fair value and requires disclosures

about fair value measurements

IFRS 13 explains how to measure fair value for financial reporting which is market-based measurement not an

entity-specific measurement It does not require fair value measurements in addition to those already required or

permitted by other standards and is not intended to establish valuation standards or affect valuation practices outside

financial reporting However this standard expands the concepts and principles behind fair valuation In addition

extensive disclosures about fair value are required under IFRS 13 and in particular when an entity relies on

unobservable valuation inputs under the level fair valuation hierarchy

IFRS 13 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 2013 The Bank does not consider that the

definition of fair value that is applied in IFRS 13 differs in material way from its current approach and

consequently anticipates there will not be any significant impact from this standard on its financial position or

performance However since IFRS 13 expands the disclosure requirements in respect of fair value measurement the

financial statements will in the future as well as other disclosures contain An analysis of the fair value hierarchy

for investment property as well as for financial instruments information about the sensitivity of fair value

measurements to changes in unobservable estimation inputs and detailed commentary on the Banks valuations

methods and procedures

lAS 19 Revised Employee Benefits

The amendments to 19 are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 2013 The key changes

in the amended standard involve the elimination of the option to defer the recognition of actuarial gains and losses

known as the corridor method Accordingly under the amended standard all actuarial gains and losses have to be

recognized immediately in OCI In addition an entity is no longer able to recognize in profit or loss the long term

expected return on assets held Finally the amended standard requires enhanced disclosures about defined benefit

plans

Other than the enhanced disclosures about defined benefit plans the adoption of the amended lAS 19 is not expected

to have any significant effect on the net income of the Bank because it already recognizes all actuarial gains and

losses in OCI under the option provided in the previous LAS 19 However on adoption of the amendments the Bank

has changed the basis for determining the income or expense related to net defined benefit plans The Bank now

determines this by applying the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the
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annual period to the net defined benefit liability asset at the beginning of the annual period taking into account any

changes in the net defined benefit liability asset during the period as result of contributions and benefit payments

Previously interest income or expense on plan assets was determined by the Bank based on their long-term rate of

expected return The change in accounting policy had no impact on net assets as at 31 December 2012 and 31 March

2013

Based on the exception to retrospective application provided for in the amendments the Bank has opted not to

adjust the carrying amount of assets outside the scope of lAS 19 such as property plant and equipment for changes

in employee benefit costs that were included in their carrying amount before the date of initial application

IFRS Financial Instruments Disclosures and lAS 32 Financial Instruments

Presentation

In December 2011 IASB issued new disclosure requirements in respect of the effect of offsetting arrangements on

an entitys financial position as part of common project with the US Financial Accounting Standards Board

FASB The new requirements are set out in Disclosures-Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

amendment to IFRS and are related to financial assets and liabilities that are offset in the statement of financial

position or that are subject to master netting arrangements or similar agreements As part of the same project the

IASB also published Disclosures-Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities amendment to lAS 32

clarifying the offsetting criteria in lAS 32 to address inconsistency in their application

The amendments to IFRS are to be applied in the financial statements for the annual periods beginning on or after

January 1st 2013 with those relating to lAS 32 being effective from annual periods beginning on or after January

1st 2014 The application of IFRS revisions will not impact the financial position or performance of the Bank as

the amendments primarily relate to disclosure and presentation of financial instruments and derivatives which are

offset in the statement of financial position or are part of master netting agreement The Bank has early adopted the

revisions to LkS 32 It similarly has no impact on the financial position of the Bank as the amendments merely

clarify the offsetting criteria and how these is to be applied in practice

NOTE RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND PROCEDURES

In carrying out its development mandate the Bank seeks to maximize its capacity to assume core business risks

resulting from its lending and investing operations while at the same time minimizing its non-core business risks

market risk counterparty risk and operational risk that are incidental but nevertheless critical to the execution of its

mandate

The degree of risk the Bank is willing to assume to achieve its development mandate is limited by its risk-bearing

capacity This institutional risk appetite is embodied in the Banks capital adequacy policy and its commitment to

maintain prudent risk pro- file consistent with the highest credit rating In 2011 the Bank through comprehensive

exercise re-defined its risk appetite and revised the capital adequacy policy As result of this exercise the Bank

allocates its risk capital between non-core risks 10 percent with sovereign and non-sovereign operations sharing

equally the remaining balance 45 percent each As part of the revision the Banks rating scale was also revised as

explained under systematic credit risk assessment below

The policies processes and procedures by which the Bank manages its risk profile continually evolve in response to

market credit product and other developments The highest level of risk management oversight is assured by the

Banks Board of Executive Directors which is chaired by the President The Board of Directors is committed to the

highest standards of corporate governance In addition to approving all risk management policies the Board of

Directors regularly reviews trends in the Banks risk profiles and performance to ensure compliance with the

underlying policies
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The guiding principles by which the Bank manages its risks are governed by the General Authority on the Banks

Financial Products and Services the FPS Authority the General Authority on Asset Liability Management the ALM

Authority and the Banks Credit Risk Management Guidelines

The FPS Authority provides the framework under which the Bank develops and implements financial products and

services for its borrowers and separate guidelines prescribe the rules governing the management of credit and

operational risk for the Banks sovereign and non-sovereign loan guarantee and equity investment portfolios

The ALM Authority is the overarching framework through which Management has been vested with the authority to

manage the Banks financial assets and liabilities within defined parameters The ALM Authority sets out the guiding

principles for managing the Banks interest rate risk currency exchange rate risk liquidity risk counterparty credit risk

and operational risk The ALM Authority covers the Banks entire
array

of ALM activities such as debt-funding

operations and investment of liquid resources including the interest rate and currency risk management aspects of the

Banks lending and equity investment operations

Under the umbrella of the FPS Authority and the ALM Authority the President is authorized to approve and amend

more detailed operational guidelines as necessary upon the recommendations of the Asset and Liability Management

Committee ALCO and the Operations Committee OPSCOM The ALCO is the oversight and control organ of the

Banks finance and treasury risk management activities It is the Banks most senior management forum on finance and

treasury risk management issues and is chaired by the Vice President for Finance OPSCOM is chaired by the Chief

Operating Officer and reviews all operational activities before they are submitted to the Board of Directors for

approval In June 2012 the Bank also created the Credit Risk Committee CRC to ensure effective implementation of

the Banks credit policies and oversee all credit risk issues related to sovereign and non-sovereign operations prior to

their submission to OPSCOM

The ALCO CRC and OPSCM meet on regular basis to perform their oversight roles Among its functions the ALCO

reviews regular and ad-hoc finance and treasury risk management reports
and financial projections and approves

strategies to manage the balance sheet The Credit Risk Committee took over the Credit Risk responsibilities previously

handled by ALCO including the coverage of the endtoend credit risk governance credit assessments portfolio

monitoring and rating change approval amongst others ALCO and CRC are supported by several standing working

groups that report on specific issues including country risk non-sovereign credit risk interest rate risk currency risk

operational risk financial projections and financial products and services

Day-to-day operational responsibility for implementing the Banks financial and risk management policies and

guidelines is delegated to the appropriate business units The Financial Management Department is responsible for

monitoring the day-to-day compliance with those policies and guidelines

The following sections describe in detail the manner in which the individual sources of risk are managed by the Bank

Credit Risk

Credit risk arises from the inability or unwillingness of counterparties to discharge their financial obligations It is the

potential for financial loss due to default of one or more debtors/obligors Credit risk is the largest source of risk for the

Bank arising essentially from its lending and treasury operations

The Bank manages three principal sources of credit risk sovereign credit risk in its public sector portfolio ii non

sovereign credit risk in its portfolio of non-sovereign and enclave projects and iii counterparty credit risk in its

portfolio of treasury investments and derivative transactions used for asset and liability management purposes These

risks are managed within an integrated framework of credit policies guidelines and processes which are described in

more detail in the sections below
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Sovereign Credit Risk

When the Bank lends to public sector borrowers it generally requires full sovereign guarantee or the equivalent from

the borrowing member state In extending credit to sovereign entities it is exposed to country risk which includes

potential losses arising from countrys inability or unwillingness to service its obligations to the Bank The Bank

manages country credit risk through its policies related to the quality at entry of project proposals exposure

management including individual country exposures and overall creditworthiness of the concerned country These

include the assessment of the countrys risk profile as determined by its macroeconomic performance debt

sustainability socio-political conditions and the conduciveness of its business environment
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Excludes fully repaid loans and canceled loans

Countries in non-accrual status as at March 31 2013

1The outcome af the referendum conducted in Southern Sudan in January 2011 supported the creation of an independent state of Southern Sudan After the

split of the current state of Sudan into two separate nations became effective in July2011 the number and amounts of loans shown against Sudan in this

statement would be split between the emerging states on basis agreed upon following the ongoing negotiations between the North and South Sudan At the end

of March2013 no decision has been taken by the states of the North and South Sudan regarding the terms and conditions of such exchange

Slight differences may occur in totals due to rounding

Country Exposure

The Banks exposures as at March 31 2013 to borrowing member countries as well as the private sector

and enclave projects from its lending activities are summarized below

Amounts in UA thousands

129216

17665

Botswana 1091309 962093 8.85

Cameroon 26077 8412 0.08

Cape Verde 48763 48763 0.45

Congo CG 8188 8188 0.08

Côte DIvoire 4326 4326 0.04

Democratic Republicof Congo 10 609483 609483 5.61

Egypt 13 1637590 614487 1023103 9.41

Eq Guinea 62465 60223 2242 0.02

Ethiopia 1337 1337 0.01

Gabon 14 522414 286753 235661 2.17

Mauritius 474259 313024 161235 1.48

Morocco 43 3518528 1383977 2134551 19.64

Multinational 24791 24791 0.23

Namibia 32654 32654 0.30

Nigeria 214029 200107 13923 0.13

Seychelles 12995 12995 0.12

Somalia 4294 4294 0.04

South Africa 1878857 72576 743801 1062479 9.78

Sudan 56424 56424 0.52

Swaziland 40103 40103 0.37

Tunisia 35 2262113 18904 434185 1809024 16.64

Zimbabwe 12 198597 198597 1.83

Total Public Sector 183 12729596 291587 3983331 8454678 77.79

Total Private Sector 94 3735761 512914 808304 2414543 22.21

Total 277 16465357 804501 4791635 10869221 100.00
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Systematic Credit Risk Assessment

The foundation of the Banks credit risk management is systematic credit risk assessment framework

through underlying models and their associated risk factors that have been optimized to ensure more

predictive power of the rating parameters and to better align with international rating scales and ensure

consistency with best practices The credit risk assessment is measured using uniform internal 22-grade

Master Scale optimized to provide increased granularity ii better differentiation between obligors

iii smoother grade distribution to alleviate the current grade concentration and finally iv to create

common framework when communicating credit risks to risks takers The level of granularity helps in

measuring probabilities of default in order to better differentiate between obligors

Aandabove Alandabove

A2 Excellent

1- A- A3

Very Low Risk
BBB Baal

888 Baa2
Strong

2- BBS- Baa3

BB Bat

Low Risk 88 Ba2 Good

3- SB- Ba3

Bi

B2
Safsfactory

Moderate Risk 4-

B- 83 Acceptable

CCC Caal
Marginat

HighRisk

CCC Caa2 Special Aitenfon

CCC- Caa3 Substandard

VeryHighRisk
CC Ca Doubtful

10 Loss

The credit ratings at the sovereign level are derived from risk assessment of five risk indices that include

macroeconomic performance debt sustainability socio-political factors business environment and the

Banks portfolio performance These five risk indices are combined to derive composite country risk

index The country risk ratings are validated against the average country risk ratings from different

international rating agencies and other specialized international organizations The CRC reviews the

country ratings on quarterly basis to ensure that they reflect the expected risk profiles of the countries

The CRC also assesses whether the countries are in compliance with their country exposure limits and

approves changes in loss provisioning if required
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Portfolio Risk Monitoring

The weighted average risk rating of the Banks sovereign and sovereign-guaranteed portfolio was 2.53 at

the end of March 2013 compared to 2.38 as of December 31 2012

It is the Banks policy that if the payment of principal interest or other charges with respect to any Bank

Group credit becomes 30 days overdue no new loans to that member country or to any public sector

borrower in that country will be presented to the Board of Directors for approval nor will any previously

approved loan be signed until all arrears are cleared Furthermore for such countries disbursements on all

loans to or guaranteed by that member country are suspended until all overdue amounts have been paid

These countries also become ineligible in the subsequent billing period for waiver of 0.5 percent on the

commitment fees charged on qualifying undisbursed loans

Although the Bank benefits from the advantages of its preferred creditor status and rigorously monitors the

exposure on non-performing sovereign borrowers some countries have experienced difficulties in

servicing their debts to the Bank on timely basis As previously described the Bank makes provisions for

impairment on its sovereign loan portfolio commensurate with the assessment of the incurred loss in such

portfolio

To cover potential Expected Losses EL and Unexpected Losses UL related to credit the Bank

maintains prudent risk capital cushion for credit risks The Banks capital adequacy policy articulates

differentiated risk capital requirements for public sector and private sector credit-sensitive assets loans

and equity investments as well as for contingent liabilities guarantees and client risk management

products in each risk class Risk capital requirements are generally higher for private sector operations

which have higher probability of default and loss-given default than public sector operations At the end

of March 2013 the Banks public sector loan portfolio used up to 23.3 percent of the Banks total risk

capital based on the Banks capital adequacy framework The Bank defines risk capital as the sum of paid-

in capital net of exchange adjustment plus accumulated reserves Callable capital is not included in the

computation of risk capital

Non-Sovereign Credit Risk

When the Bank lends to private sector borrowers and to enclave projects it does not benefit from

sovereign guarantees The Bank may also provide financing to creditworthy commercially oriented entities

that are publicly owned without sovereign guarantee

To assess the credit risk of non-sovereign projects or facilities the Bank uses several models to assess the

risk of every project at entry The models are tailored to the specific characteristics and nature of the

transactions The result of the credit risk assessment is measured using uniform internal 22-grade master

scale as described above

Non-sovereign transactions are grouped into the following three main categories project finance

financial institutions and private equity funds Internal credit ratings are derived on the basis of some

pre-determined critical factors
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Project Finance

The first factor involves the overall evaluation and assessment of the borrowers financial strength This

assesses

Primarily the capacity of the project to generate sufficient cash flow to service its debt ii the

companys operating performance and profitability and iii the project companys capital structure

financial flexibility and liquidity positions

Secondly the following four main non-financial parameters are analyzed the outlook of the industry in

which the project company operates ii the competitive position of the project company within the

industry iii the strength of the project companys management with particular emphasis on its ability to

deal with adverse conditions and iv the quality of the information on which the analysis is based

Finally the project companys risk rating is adjusted to reflect the overall host country risk rating

Financial Institutions

The assessment of financial institutions follows the uniform rating system commonly referred to as the

CAMELS model Capital adequacy analyses of the composition adequacy and quality of the

institutions capital ii Asset quality operating policies and procedures and risk management framework

iii Management quality and decision-making framework iv Earnings and market position an

evaluation of the quality and level of profitability Liquidity and funding adequacy an assessment

focusing on the entitys ability to access debt market and vi Sensitivity to market risk an assessment of

the impact of interest rate changes and exchange rate fluctuations

Private Equity Funds

The assessment of Private Equity Funds takes into consideration the analysis of the following qualitative

and quantitative factors

Financial strength and historic fund performance

Investment strategy
and risk management

Industry structure

Management and corporate governance and

Information quality

All new non-sovereign projects require an initial credit rating and undergo rigorous project approval

process The Non-Sovereign Working Group of the CRC reviews the non-sovereign credit rating of each

project on quarterly
basis and may recommend changes for approval by CRC if justified by evolving

country and project conditions
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In compliance with IFRS the Bank does not make general provisions to cover the expected losses in the

performing non-sovereign portfolio For the non-performing portfolio the Bank makes specific provision

based on an assessment ofthe credit impairment or incurred loss on each loan

In addition to private sector lending the Bank makes equity investments in private sector entities either

directly or through investment funds

To cover potential unexpected credit-related losses due to extreme and unpredictable events the Bank

maintains risk capital cushion for non-sovereign credit risks derived from Basel II Advanced Internal

Rating-Based Approach IRB At the end of March 2013 the Banks non-sovereign portfolio required as

risk capital approximately 30.5 percent of the Banks total on-balance sheet risk capital sources This level

is still below the limit of 45 percent determined by the Bank for total non-sovereign operations Out of the

Banks non-sovereign portfolio equity participations required as risk capital approximately 11.2 percent of

the Banks total on-balance sheet risk capital sources below the statutory limit of 15 percent established

by the Board of Governors for equity participations

Credit Exposure Limits

The Bank operates system of exposure limits to ensure the maintenance of an adequately diversified

portfolio at any given point in time The Bank manages credit risk at the global country exposure limit

combined sovereign-guaranteed and non-sovereign portfolios by ensuring that in aggregate the total

exposure to any country does not exceed 15 percent of the Banks total risk capital This threshold and

other determinants of country limit allocation are clearly spelt out in the Banks capital adequacy

framework

In the revised capital adequacy and exposure management approved by the Board in May 2011 the 15

percent of the Banks total risk capital global country concentration limit is meant to allow for adequate

portfolio diversification However in order to ensure that the allocation in aggregate does not exceed

100 percent of risk capital available for core lending activities and ii there is fairness of allocation

among RMCs Performance Based Adjusted Country Limits formula PACL is used

The credit exposure on the non-sovereign portfolio is further managed by regularly monitoring the

exposure limit with regard to the specific industry/sectors equity investments and single obligor In

addition the Bank generally requires range of collateral security and/or guarantees from project

sponsors to partially mitigate the credit risk for direct private sector loans

Counterparty Credit Risk

In the normal course of business the Bank utilizes various financial instruments to meet the needs of its

borrowers manage its exposure to fluctuations in market interest and currency rates and to temporarily

invest its liquid resources prior to disbursement All of these financial instruments involve to varying

degrees the risk that the counterparty to the transaction may be unable to meet its obligation to the Bank

Given the nature of the Banks business it is not possible to completely eliminate counterparty credit risk

however the Bank minimizes this risk by executing transactions within prudential framework of

approved counterparties minimum credit rating standards counterparty exposure limits and counterparty

credit risk mitigation measures
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Counterparties must meet the Banks minimum credit rating requirements and are approved by the Banks

Vice President for Finance For local currency operations less stringent minimum credit rating limits are

permitted in order to provide adequate availability of investment opportunities and derivative

counterparties for implementing appropriate risk management strategies The ALCO approves

counterparties that are rated below the minimum rating requirements

Counterparties are classified as investment counterparties derivative counterparties and trading

counterparties Their ratings are closely monitored for compliance with established criteria

For trading counterparties the Bank requires minimum short-term credit rating of A-21P-2/F-2 for trades

settled under delivery vs payment DVP terms and minimumlong-term credit rating of A/A2 for non

DVP-based transactions

The following table details the minimum credit ratings for authorized investment counterparties

Government NA2 AA-Aa3 WJAaa

Government
agencies

and supranalionals AIA2 AA-/Aa3 AM/Aaa

Banks NA2 M-IAa3 PAAJAaa

Corporations induding
non.bank financial institutions NA2 AA-IAa3 MA/Aaa

MBSLBS Maxmrum
legal maturity of 50

years
for ABSIMBS with the undedying clateral originated in the UK and

40.year maximum legal matunty for all other eligible ABS/MBS Also the maximum weighted average
life

for all ABSITdBS at the time of acquisition shall not eeed
years

The Bank may also invest in money market mutual funds with minimum rating of AA-/Aa3 and

collateralized securities repurchase agreements

The Bank uses derivatives in the management of its borrowing portfolio and for asset and liability

management purposes As rule the Bank executes an ISDA master agreement and netting agreement

with its derivative counterparties prior to undertaking any transactions Derivative counterparties are

required to be rated AA-/Aa3 by at least two approved rating agencies or A-I A3 for counterparties with

whom the Bank has entered into collateral exchange agreement Lower rated counterparties may be used

exceptionally for local currency transactions These counterparties require the approval of ALCO

Approved transactions with derivative counterparties include swaps forwards options and other over-the-

counter derivatives

In addition to these minimum rating requirements the Bank operates
within framework of exposure

limits based on the counterparty credit rating and size subject to maximum of 12 percent of the Banks

total risk capital equity and reserves for any single counterparty Individual counterparty credit exposures

are aggregated across all instruments using the Bank for International Settlements BIS potential future

exposure methodology and monitored regularly against the Banks credit limits after considering the

benefits of any collateral
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To cover potential unexpected credit losses due to extreme and unpredictable events the Bank maintains

conservative risk capital cushion for counterparty credit risks in line with the current BIS standards At the

end of March 2013 the Banks counterparty credit portfolio including all investments and derivative

instruments required as risk capital 1.7 percent of the Banks total on-balance sheet risk capital sources

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the potential for loss resulting from insufficient liquidity to meet cash flow needs in

timely manner Liquidity risk arises when there is maturity mismatch between assets and liabilities The

Banks principal liquidity risk management objective is to hold sufficient liquid resources to enable it to

meet all probable cash flow needs for rolling 1-year horizon without additional financing from the capital

markets for an extended period In order to minimize this risk the Bank maintains prudential minimum

level of liquidity PML based on the projected net cash requirement for rolling one-year period The

PML is updated quarterly and computed as the sum of four components 1-year debt service payments

1-year projected net loan disbursements loans disbursed less repayments if greater than zero loan

equivalent value of committed guarantees and undisbursed equity investments

To strike balance between generating adequate investment returns and holding securities that can be

easily sold for cash if required the Bank divides its investment portfolio into tranches with different

liquidity objectives and benchmarks The Banks core liquidity portfolio operational portfolio is invested

in highly liquid securities that can be readily liquidated if required to meet the Banks short-term liquidity

needs Probable redemptions of swaps and borrowings with embedded options are included in the

computation of the size of the operational tranche of liquidity In addition to the core liquidity portfolio

the Bank maintains second tranche of liquidity the prudential portfolio that is also invested in relatively

liquid securities to cover its expected medium-term operational cash flow needs third tranche of

liquidity which is funded by the Banks equity resources is held in portfolio of fixed income securities

intended to collect contractual cash flows with the objective of stabilizing the Banks net income In

determining its level of liquidity for compliance with the PML the Bank includes cash deposits and

securities in all the treasury investments with appropriate hair-cuts based on asset class and credit rating

Currency Exchange Risk

Currency risk is the potential loss due to adverse movements in market foreign exchange rates To promote

stable growth in its risk-bearing capacity the Banks principal currency risk management objective is to

protect its risk capital from translation risk due to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates by

matching the currency composition of its net assets to the currency composition of the SDR UA The

agreement establishing the Bank explicitly prohibits it from taking direct currency exchange exposures by

requiring liabilities in any one currency to be matched with assets in the same currency This is achieved

primarily by holding or lending the proceeds of its borrowings after swap activities in the same

currencies in which they were borrowed after swap activities To avoid creating new currency

mismatches the Bank requires its borrowers to service their loans in the currencies disbursed

Because large part of its balance sheet is funded by equity resources which are denominated in Units of

Account equivalent to the SDR the Bank has net asset position
that is potentially exposed to translation

risk when currency exchange rates fluctuate The Banks policy is to minimize the potential
fluctuation of

the value of its net worth measured in Units of Account by matching to the extent possible the currency

composition of its net assets with the currency basket of the SDR the Unit of Account In line with this
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policy during the first three months of 2013 the Banks currency alignment was adjusted to maintain it

within an acceptable band of the composition of the currencies making up the SDR In keeping with the

Banks currency risk management policy spot currency transactions are carried out to realign the net

assets to the SDR basket each time there is revision to the SDR currency composition

The Bank also hedges its exposure to adverse movements on currency exchange rates on its administrative

expenses The distribution of the currencies of the Banks recurring administrative expenditures shows

high concentration of expenses in Euros USD and Tunisian Dinar

Currency Risk Sensitivity Analysis

As described in the previous section the Bank manages its currency risk exposure by matching to the

extent possible the currency composition of its net assets with the currency basket of the SDR The SDR

is composed of basket of four currencies namely the US dollar Euro Japanese yen and Pound sterling

The weight of each currency in the basket is reviewed by the International Monetary Fund IMF every

five
years

and the last revision became effective on January 2011 based on the value of exports of goods

and services and international reserves The SDR rate represents the sum of specific amounts of the four

basket currencies valued in U.s dollars on the basis of the exchange rates quoted at noon each day in the

London market

Interest Rate Risk

The Banks interest rate risk sensitivity is comprised of the following two elements

the sensitivity of the interest margin between the rate the Bank earns on its assets and the cost of the

borrowings funding such assets

the sensitivity of the income on assets funded by equity resources to changes in interest rates

The Banks principal interest rate risk management objective is to generate stable overall net interest

margin that is not overly sensitive to sharp changes in market interest rates but yet adequately responsive

to general market trends

Interest Rate Risk on Assets Funded by Debt

Over half of the Banks interest-rate-sensitive assets are funded by debt The Bank seeks to generate stable

net interest margin on assets funded by debt by matching the interest rate characteristics of each class of

assets with those of the corresponding liabilities

In 1990 the Bank began offering variable rate loans The interest rate on these loans resets semi-annually

based on the average cost of dedicated pool of the Banks borrowings These pools are funded with mix

of fixed rate and floating rate borrowings to provide borrowers with broadly stable interest rates that

gradually track changes in market interest rates The cost of funds pass-through formulation incorporated in

the lending rates charged on the Banks pool-based loans has traditionally helped to minimize the interest

rate sensitivity of the net interest margin on this part of its loan portfolio In view of declining demand for

this product in favor of market-based loans the Bank is carefully managing the gradual winding down of

the designated funding pools
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Since 1997 the Bank offers fixed and floating rate loans whose interest rate is directly linked to market

interest rates market- based loans For the market-based loan products the Banks net interest margin is

preserved by using swaps to align the interest rate sensitivity of the loans with that of the Banks underlying

funding reference six-month Libor floating rate The Bank may also provide borrowers with risk

management products such as swaps to modif the currency and interest rate terms of its market-based loan

products Although it retains the credit risks of the borrower the Bank eliminates the associated market risk

on these risk management products by simultaneously laying off market risks with an approved derivative

counterpart

For the portfolio of liquid assets funded by borrowings the Bank protects its net interest margin by

managing its investments within limits around benchmarks that replicate the interest rate characteristics of

the underlying funding for each portfolio tranche The portfolio of liquid assets funded by borrowings is

currently divided into two tranches to reflect the different business purposes and underlying funding The

core part
of the investment portfolio is held to comply with the Banks liquidity policy and uses six-month

Libor floating rate benchmark The operational liquidity portfolio is managed to meet projected operational

cash flow needs and uses one-month Libor floating rate benchmark

The Bank diversifies the sources of its funding by issuing debt in variety of markets and instruments

Unless fixed rate funding is required for one of its pool-based loan products the Bank protects its net

interest margin by simultaneously swapping all new borrowings into floating rate in one of the Banks

active currencies on standard six-month Libor rate reference Where the Bank issues structured debt the

Bank simultaneously enters into swap with matching terms to synthetically create the desired six-month

Libor-based floating rate funding For risk management purposes callable funding is considered as one

alternative to issuing short-term debt such as Euro Commercial Paper The Bank manages refinancing risk

by limiting the amount of debt that will mature or is potentially callable within one year to 25 percent of the

outstanding debt portfolio

Interest Rate Risk on Assets Funded by Equity

The second principal source of interest rate risk is the interest rate sensitivity of the income earned from

funding significant portion of the Banks assets with equity resources Changes in market interest rates in

the currencies of the Banks equity resources the SDR affect the net interest margin earned on assets

funded by equity In general lower nominal market interest rates result in lower lending and investment

rates which in the long term reduce the nominal earnings on the Banks equity resources

The Bank manages the interest rate profile of the assets funded by equity resources with the objective of

reducing the sensitivity of the net interest margin to fluctuations in market interest rates This is achieved by

continuously adjusting the repricing profile of the assets funded by the Banks equity resources fixed rate

loans and investments to match repricing profile benchmark The Banks repricing profile benchmark is

10-year ladder whereby uniform 10 percent of the Banks assets is funded by equity reprice in each year

Using this benchmark the Banks net interest margin on assets funded by equity tends to track 10-year

moving average of 10-year maturity SDR interest rates
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Prepayment Risk

In addition to the two principal sources of interest rate risk described above the Bank is exposed to

prepayment risk on loans committed before 1997 Although the Bank is unable to charge prepayment

penalty on such older loans in practice the level of prepayments has generally been within acceptable

levels In 2005 prepayments of pre-1997 loans declined sharply to UA 70 million compared to the amounts

in prior years due in large part to increased market interest rates For all market-based loans issued since

1997 the Bank protects itself from prepayment risk by linking the prepayment penalty to the cost of

redeploying the funds at current market rates In 2006 total prepayments of UA 298 million included an

amount of UA 192 million in respect of market-based floating rate loans while in 2007 total prepayment

amounted to UA 199 million of which 98 percent related to market-based loans Prepayment in 2008

amounted to UA 17 million while prepayments in 2009 and 2010 were UA 20 million and UA 67 million

respectively No prepayments were received in the year ended December 31 2011 while prepayments in

2012 amounted to UA 21.71 million Prepayments in the quarter ended March 31 2013 amounted to UA

80.11 million

Operational Risk

Like all financial institutions the Bank is exposed to operational risks arising from its systems and

processes

Operational risks include the risks of losses resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes people

and/or systems and from external events which could have negative financial or adverse reputational

impact Operational risk is present in virtually all the Banks transactions and includes losses attributable to

failures of internal processes in credit and market operations

The Internal Control Unit ICU of the Bank is responsible for implementing the Integrated Internal Control

Framework IICF which consists of two phases Phase one relates to the implementation of Internal

Control over Financial Reporting ICFR based on the COSO Framework as means of regularly

evaluating the effectiveness and efficiency of the Banks internal controls in all significant business

processes with financial statement impact As part of this process Managements attestation on the

adequacy of internal controls over financial reporting is published in the Banks annual report

Phase two of the IICF entails the implementation of Operational Risk Management Framework which is

intended to address risks inherent in other business processes not covered by ICFR The Operational Risk

Management Framework ORM was approved by the Board of Directors in March 2012 as the first step in

addressing risks related to business processes and the implementation process is ongoing The

implementation of ORM will ensure structured and well-coordinated approach to risk identification and

assessment risk mitigation and control as well as risk reporting across the Bank It will also provide the

basis for applying advanced measurement approach in measuring operational risk capital Currently the

Banks Capital Adequacy and Exposure Management Framework provides for an operational risk capital

charge of 15 percent of the average operating income for the preceding years in line with Basel II

recommendations for operational risk

It is the primary responsibility of the management of each business unit to implement adequate controls in

their respective business processes This responsibility is supported by institutional standards in the

following areas
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Requirements for appropriate segregation of duties including the independent authorization of

transactions

Requirements for the reconciliation and monitoring of transactions

Documentation of controls and procedures

Training and professional development

Risk mitigation including insurance where this is effective

Compliance with institutional standards is verified through periodic reviews undertaken by the Office of the

Auditor General of the Bank The results of internal audit reviews are discussed with the Management of the

relevant business units with summaries submitted to Senior Management of the Bank and the Audit and

Finance Committee of the Board of Directors

The Bank also has contingency and business continuity plan which aims to ensure the continuity of its

operations and protect the interests of all the key stakeholders of the Bank Group namely the member

countries borrowing and non-borrowing bondholders and other creditors as well as employees and their

families in the event of any disturbance in its office locations Three key organs in the Bank ensure the

oversight and implementation of the plan the Executive Crisis Committee chaired by the President of

the Bank which makes the key decisions based on recommendations from the Operations Crisis Committee

0CC ii the 0CC that closely monitors all developments affecting the Bank and advises on measures

necessary to mitigate the relevant risks and iii the business continuity Unit BCPU that follows up on the

implementation of decisions made and is also responsible for periodic tests of the overall business

continuity preparedness of the Bank and staff

Other elements of the Banks operational risk management practices include compliance with the Code of

conduct and staff rules the work of the Fraud and Investigations Department and the existence of

Whistleblower Protection Policy
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NOTE FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The tables below set out the classification of each class of financial assets and liabilities and their respective

fair values as at March31 2013 and 2012

Analysis of Financial Assets and Liabilities by Measurement Basis

March 312013

Cash

Financial Assets and Liabilities Fair value

through Profit or Loss through other

Mandatorily Designated at comprehensive

at Fair value Fair Value income

Demand
obligations

Treasury investments

Derivative assets

Non-negotiable instruments on

account of capital

Accounts receivable

Loans

Equity participations

Other debt securities

Total financial assets

Accounts payable

Derivative liabilities

Borrowings

Total financial liabilities

Cash

Demand obligations

Treasury investments

Derivative assets

Non-negotiable instruments on

account of capital

Accounts receivable

Loans

Equity participations

Other debt securities

Total financial assets

Accounts payable

Derivative liabilities

Borrowings

Total financial liabilities

Financial

Assets and

Liabilities at

Amortized Total Carrying

Cost Amount

634694 634694

3801 3801

3121208 8345860

1529261

2194 2194

785078 785078

9407723 9407.723

328688

84128

21121427

2057756

547296

13453611

16058663

2057756

Fair Value

634694

3801

8575632

1529261

2194

785078

10003300

328688

84128

21946776

2057756

547296

13664366

16269418

thousands

Financial

Assets and

Liabilities at Total

Amortized Carrying

Cost Amount Fair Value

1473985 1473985 1473985

3801 3801 3801

3078772 2923527 6002299 6254381

1587824 1587824 1587824

1295 1295 1295

869527 869527 869527

17127 10852095 10869222 10704189

456752 456752 456752

72576 72576 72576

4683723 456752 16196806 21331281 21424330

1945593 1945593 1945593

536126 536126 536126

12183892 1168731 13352623 13542825

536 126 12 183 892 114324 15834342 16 024544

FUA thousandsi

Financial Assets and Liabilities

through Profit or Loss

Fair value

through

Mandatorily other

at Designated at comprehensive

March 312012 Fair value Fair Value income

5224652

1529261

328688

84128

6753913 328688 14038826

547296

12330452 1123159

547296 12330452 3180915
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NOTE TREASURY INVESTMENTS

As part of its overall portfolio management strategy the Bank invests in government agency

supranational bank and corporate obligations time deposits mortgage and asset-backed securities secured

lending transactions resale agreements and related derivative instruments including futures forward

contracts cross- currency swaps interest rate swaps options and short sales

For government agency and supranational obligations with final maturity longer than year and less than

15 years the Bank may only invest in obligations with counterparties having minimum credit rating of

AA- or unconditionally guaranteed by governments of member countries or other official entities with the

same rating criteria For maturities beyond 15 years and up to 30 years AAA rating is required For

mortgage and asset-backed securities the Bank may only invest in securities with AAA credit rating For

bank and corporate obligations with final maturity longer than months and less than years the Bank may

only invest with counterparties having minimum credit rating of AA- AAA rating is required for

obligations beyond years
and up to 10 years The purchases of currency or interest rate options are

permitted only if the life of the option contract does not exceed year Such transactions are only executed

with counterparties with credit ratings of AA- or above All derivative transactions including options cross-

currency and interest rate swaps including asset swap transactions are only permitted with approved

counterparties or guaranteed by entities with which the Bank has entered into Master Derivative Agreements

and Collateral Support Agreement with minimum credit ratings of A-/A3 at the time of the transaction

As at March 31 2013 the Bank had received collateral with fair value of UA 845 million in connection

with swap agreements Of this amount total UA 639 million was in the form of cash and has been

recorded on the balance sheet with corresponding liability included in Other accounts payable The

balance of UA 206 million was in the form of liquid financial assets and are kept in custody by the Bank

At March 31 2013 and 2012 the Bank had no securities sold under repurchase agreements repos

The composition of treasury
investments as at March 31 2013 and 2012 was as follows

thousands
2013 2012

Treasury investments mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss 3078772 5224652

Treasury investments at amortized costs 2929041 3130396

Provision for impairment on investments 5514 9187

Total 6002299 8345861
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Treasury investments mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss FVTPL

summary of the Banks treasury investments mandatorily measured at FVTPL as at March 31 2013 and 2012 was

as follows

US Dollar

2013 2012

264.31 285.64

72.16 59.88 69.22

Euro GBP

2012 2013 2012

785.54 10.16 23.45

34.56 8.68

552.41 11.27 9.89

0.33

1065.18 32.87

74.77 21.76

2.512.79 84.74 33.34

The nominal value of treasury investments mandatorily measured at FVTPL as at March 31 2013 was UA

3058.03 million 2012 UA 5209.32 The average yield of treasury investments mandatorily measured at

FVTPL for three months ended March 31 2013 was 1.07% 2012 2.80%

The contractual maturity structure of treasury investments mandatorily measured at FVTPL as at December 31

2013 and 2012 was as follows

millions

One year or less

More than one year but less than two years

More than two years but less than three years

More than three years but less than four years

More than four years but less than five years

More than five years

Total

Treasury investments at amortized cost

summary of the Banks treasury investments at amortized cost at March 31 2013 and 2012 was as follows

2013millions

Time Deposits

Asset-Backed Securities

Government and

Agency Obligations

Corporate Bonds

Financial Institutions

Supranational

Total

735.28 1080.44

31.74 40.12

42741 783.28

60.35 110.85

159125 2360.21

350.30

0.33

749.72

110.85

1180.42

Other Currencies All Currencies

2013 2012 2013 2012

111.33 256.62 385.80 1351.25

150.06 94.44

61.69 1096.85 1704.43

11.03 43.10 40.45

21000 1848.46

192.96 185.62

122.36 318.31 3.078.77 5.224.65

2013

1748.26

564.40

53169

94.73

7.57

132.12

3078.77

2012

3439.50

1080.35

450.50

149.26

17.78

87.26

5224.65

Other

US Dollar Euro GBP Currencies All Currencies

2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

Asset-Backed Securities 193.18 186.50 193.18 186.50

Government and Agency Obligations 664.49 670.28 576.49 566.76 297.15 190.30 132.18 184.29 1670.31 1611.63

CorporateBonds 52.33 111.33 12.11 32.53 64.44 143.86

Financial Institutions 24.21 73.22 105.10 221.51 18.04 54.12 57.26 63.67 204.61 412.52

Supranational 400.87 413.27 187.44 165.59 208.19 189.18 7.85 796.50 775.89

Total 1335.08 1454.60 869.03 953.86 535.49 466.13 189.44 255.81 2929.04 3130.40
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The nominal value of treasury investments at amortized cost as at March 31 2013 is UA 2947.53 million 2012

UA 3167.88 The average yield of treasury investments at amortized cost for the three months ended March 31

2013 was 3.16% 2012 3.71%

The contractual maturity structure of treasury investments at amortized cost as at March 31 2013 and 2012 was as

follows

millions 2013 2012

One year or less 385.98 428.45

More than one year but less than two years
480.81 406.47

More than two years but less than three years
308.68 453.65

More than three years but less than four years
299.29 316.08

More than four years but less than five years
372.87 312.90

More than five years 1081.41 1212.85

Total 2929.04 3130.40

The fair value of treasury investments at amortized cost as at March 31 2013 was UA 3176.83 million 2012 UA

3350.98

NOTE DERIVATiVE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The fair values of derivative financial assets and financial liabilities at March 31 2013 and 2012 were as follows

UA thousands

2013 2012

Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

Borrowings-related

Cross-currency swaps 1291243 404779 1206887 397357

Interest Rate swaps 233683 10394 213691 11857

Loan swaps 13112 116697 44428 132509

Embedded derivatives 1849 1284

1538038 533719 1466290 541723

Investments-related

Asset swaps 4226 2407 3510 5573

Macro-hedge swaps and others 45560 59461

49786 2407 62971 5573

Total 1587824 536126 1529261 547296
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The notional amounts of derivative financial assets and financial liabilities at March 31 2013 and 2012 were as

follows

UA thousands 2013 2012

Borrowings related

Cross currency swaps 9361904 9388661

Interest rate swaps 4474136 510 321

Loan swaps 1245199 241 274

Embedded derivatives 12766 25 932

15094005 15 166 188

Investments related

Asset swaps 185 613 227 529

Macro hedge swaps 443710 490 522

629323 718051

Total
15723328 15884239

Loan Swaps

The Bank has entered into interest rate swaps to effectively convert fixed rate income on loans in certain

currencies into variable rate income

Futures contracts

The Bank has entered into futures contracts to hedge fixed interest rate bonds against interest rate variations As

at March 31 2013 the Bank had 2577 contracts in Euro and 4454 contracts in US Dollars The nominal value

of each contract is one million of each currency unit

Administrative Expenses Hedge

To insulate the Bank from possible significant increases in administrative expenses that could arise from an

appreciation of the principal currencies of administrative expenditure i.e EUR GBP TND and USD vis-à-vis the

UA the Bank executed forward exchange transactions to economically hedge its administrative expenses

Hedge Accounting

The Bank applies fair value hedge accounting to interest rate swaps contracted to hedge its interest rate risk

exposure associated to fixed rate loans Changes in the fair value of the derivative hedging instruments are

recognized in profit or loss The hedged item is adjusted to reflect changes in its fair value in respect of the risk

being hedged with the gain or loss attributable to the hedged risk being recognized in profit or loss

The fair value of the loan swaps designated and effective as hedging instruments as at March 31 2013 was

liability of UA 115.98 million The fair value gain on these loan swaps for the period ended March 31 2013 was

UA 12.89 million The fair value loss on the hedged loans attributable to the hedged risk was UA 12.81 million

Therefore the hedge ineffectiveness recognized in profit or loss was gain of UA 0.08 million

Hedge accounting treatment for swaps at the designation date requires the amortization of the difference between

the net carrying amount of loans and their fair value as at January 2011 For three months ended March 2013

the amortization of fair value adjustment on the hedged risk amounted to UA 1.28 million
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NOTE NON-NEGOTIABLE INSTRUMENTS ON ACCOUNT OF CAPITAL

Prior to May 1981 all payments in respect of paid-up capital had been made in convertible currencies However

for the capital increases authorized in May 1979 but effective December 1982 and May 1981 regional members

had the following two options for making their payments

Five equal annual installments of which at least 50 percent is payable in convertible currency
and the

remainder in local currency or

Five equal annual installments of which 20 percent is payable in convertible currency and 80 percent

in non-negotiable non-interest-bearing notes Such notes are redeemable by the Bank solely in

convertible
currency

in installments commencing on the fifth anniversary of the first subscription

payment date

Non-regional members were required to make their payments solely in convertible currencies

The paid-up portion of subscriptions authorized in accordance with Board of Governors Resolution B/BG/87/1

relating to the Fourth General Capital Increase GCI-IV is to be paid as follows

Regional Members 50 percent
in five equal annual installments in cash in freely convertible

currency or freely convertible currencies selected by the member state and 50 percent by the deposit of

five non-negotiable non-interest-bearing notes of equal value denominated in Units of Account Such

notes are redeemable by the Bank solely in convertible currency in five equal annual installments

commencing on the fifth anniversary of the first subscription payment date

Non-Regional Members five equal annual installments in their national currencies where such

currencies are freely convertible or in notes denominated in freely convertible currencies encashable on

demand

Under the Fifth General Capital Increase GCI-V there is no distinction in the payment arrangements between

regional and non-regional members Each member is required to pay for the paid-up portion of its subscribed

shares in eight equal and consecutive annual installments The first installments shall be paid in cash and in

freely convertible currency The second to the eighth installments shall be paid in cash or notes encashable on

demand in freely convertible currency

Under the Sixth General Capital Increase GCI-VI approved in accordance with the Board of Governors

Resolution B/BG/20 10/08 of May 27 2010 each member eligible to receive financing exclusively from the

African Development Fund only shall pay for the paid-up portion of its subscribed shares in twelve 12 equal

and consecutive annual installments while Middle Income Countries Blend countries and Non-Regional

member countries shall pay for the paid-up portion of their respective subscribed shares in eight equal and

consecutive annual installments

Payments for shares under GCI-VI are to be made in freely convertible currencies in cash or promissory notes

encashable on or before the due date for payment
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At March 31 2013 and 2012 the non-negotiable notes balances were as follows

thousands 2013

Balance at January 1974

Net movement for the period ______________ffi79

Balance at March 31 1.295

NOTE LOANS

The Banks loan portfolio comprises loans granted to or guaranteed by borrowing member countries as well as

certain other non- sovereign-guaranteed loans Amounts disbursed on loans are repayable in the currency or

currencies disbursed by the Bank or in other freely convertible currency or currencies approved by the Bank The

amount repayable in each of these currencies shall be equal to the amount disbursed in the original currency

Loans are granted for maximum period of twenty years including grace period which is typically the period

of project implementation Loans are for the purpose of financing development projects and programs and are not

intended for sale Furthennore management does not believe there is comparable secondary market for the type

of loans made by the Bank

The types of loans currently held by the Bank and the rates charged are described below

Multi-Currency Fixed Rate Loans For all loans negotiated prior to July 1990 the Bank charges interest at

fixed rates

Multi-Currency Variable Rate Loans Between July 1990 and September 30 1997 the Bank offered multi-

currency variable rate loans to its borrowers The variable interest rate is reset twice year and is based on the

Banks own cost of qualified borrowing plus 50 basis points resulting in pass-through of average borrowing

costs to borrowers

Conversion of Multi-Currency Pool-Based Variable Rate Loans Borrowers were offered the choice to

convert the disbursed and undisbursed amounts of their multi-currency pool-based variable rate loans to single

currency variable terms or retain the terms of their existing multi-currency pool-based variable rate loans The

conversion dates were October 1997 and March 1998 The other terms and conditions of converted loans

remained the same as in the original loan agreements Since October 1997 the Bank has provided several

alternative interest rate mechanisms In all cases the applicable rate of interest is the sum of two components

namely the chosen base rate plus lending margin

Single Currency Variable Rate Loans Since October 1997 the Bank has offered single currency variable

rate loans The variable base rate is the
average cost of funding designated pool of borrowings in each

currency and is adjusted semi-annually on January and July

Single Currency Floating Rate Loans Since October 1997 the Bank has offered LIBOR-based single

currency floating rate loans The floating base rate is determined for each currency and the reset frequency is

based on the Banks selected reference interest rate in each market The Banks standard floating base rate is the

six 6-month reference rate USD LIBOR JPY LIBOR EURIBOR and JIBAR which is reset semi-annually

on February and August and is applicable for the six-month period following the reset date

2012

3044

850

2194
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Single Currency Fixed Rate Loans Fixed rate loans were reintroduced with effect from October 1997 in the

form of single currency
fixed rate loans The fixed rate is computed as the inter-bank swap market rate

corresponding to the principal amortization schedule of the loan The funding spread comprises funding cost

margin and market risk premium as determined by the Bank As part of the fixed lending rate the funding

spread remains fixed for the maturity of the loan for which the lending rate has been fixed Prior to fixing the

lending rate the single currency fixed rate loan is essentially variable spread loan

Fixed Spread Loans In January 2005 the Bank reviewed the entire set of products and lending processes
and

adjusted the pricing of its market-based loan products for the first time since their introduction in October 1997

To this effect the Bank simplified the pricing for sovereign and sovereign-guaranteed borrowers and suspended

variable spread loans by eliminating the funding cost margin and market risk premium The simplification

resulted in single lending product known as the fixed spread loan with simple pricing based on fixed

spread over Libor and no other charges

Enhanced Variable Spread Loans In January 2009 in response to the impact of the global financial crisis

and the ensuing increase in funding costs for all categories of issuers the Bank revised the financial terms and

conditions offered to its sovereign and sovereign-guaranteed clients to ensure full cost pass through of its

borrowing costs to its clients thereby safe- guarding its financial integrity and its ability to remain stable

source of long-term funding As result the Bank temporarily suspended the fixed spread loan product for

sovereign and sovereign-guaranteed borrowers and reintroduced the variable spread loan For non-sovereign-

guaranteed borrowers the fixed spread loan product is still applicable

In December 2009 the Bank introduced the enhanced variable spread loan product which offers to variable

spread loan borrowers free option to fix the floating base rate Currently the Banks only standard loan

product for sovereign and sovereign- guaranteed borrowers is the Enhanced Variable Spread Loan

In May 2010 the lending margin of the enhanced variable spread loan was increased to 60 basis points from 40

basis points for every loan approved after January 2011 For non-sovereign-guaranteed loans the lending

margin is based on the Banks assessment of the risks inherent in each project

Others Other loan structures offered by the Bank include parallel co-financing and AIB syndications Through

syndications the Bank is able to mobilize co-financing by transferring some or all of the risks associated with its

loans and guarantees to other financing partners Thus syndications decrease and diversif the risk profile of

the Banks financing portfolio Syndications may be on funded or unfunded basis and they may be arranged

on an individual portfolio or any other basis consistent with industry practices

The Bank also offers its RMCs local currency loans if the Bank is able to fund efficiently in the local currency

market The local currency loans are offered under the fixed spread loan pricing framework with cost-pass

through principle for local currency
loans to ensure that the overall cost of funds is compensated

At March 31 2013 and 2012 outstanding loans were as follows

UAthousands 2013 2012

Outstanding balance of loans-amortized cost 10852095 9465812

Outstanding balance of loans-fair value
17127

10869222 9465812

Less accumulated provision for impairment
130317 16800

Balance at March 31
10738905 9349012
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During the year ended December 31 2012 the Bank disbursed loan that is measured at FVTPL due to the

existence of conversion option in the loan that could potentially change the future cash flows to no longer

represent solely payments of principal and interest as required by IFRS The fair value of this loan has been

determined using the expected cash flows model with inputs including interest rates and the borrowers credit

spread which was estimated based on the Banks internal rating methodology for non-sovereign loans

Maturity and Currency Composition of Outstanding Loans

The contractual maturity structure of outstanding loans as at March 31 2013 and 2012 was as follows

UA millions

Periods

One year or less

More than one year but less than two years

More than two years but less than three years

More than three years but less than four years

More than four years but less than five years

More than five years

Total

Fixed Floating

Rate Rate

408.12 398.09

457.10 312.02

559.01 432.43

582.39 245.94

603.25 218.65

5.500.04 918.03

8109.91 2525.16

Borrowers may repay
loans before their contractual maturity subject to the terms specified in the loan agreements

2013 2012

Variable
Total Total

Rate

211.44 1017.65 822.81

11.77 780.89 724.85

5.04 996.48 731.40

3.68 832.01 904.57

2.21 824.11 719.83

0.01 6418.08 5562.35

234.15 10869.22 9465.81
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The currency composition and types of outstanding loans as at March 31 2013 and 2012 were as follows

Euro

Japanese Yen

Pound Sterling

Swiss Franc

US Dollar

Others

Euro

Japanese Yen

Pound Sterling

South African Rand

Swiss Franc

US Dollar

Others ______________________________________________

Euro

Japanese Yen

South African Rand

US Dollar ____________________________________________

Euro

Japanese Yen

Swiss Franc

US Dollar

Others ______________________________________________

Euro

Japanese Yen

Swiss Franc

US Dollar

Others

The weighted average yield on outstanding loans for the three months ended March

3.56%

31 2013 was 3.03% 2012

Amounts in UA millions

Fixed Rate Multi-Currency

Single Currency

Floating Rate Single Currency

Variable Rate Multi-Currency

Single Currency

Total

2013 2012

Amount Amount

189.98 74.20

311.37 368.02

2.45 2.51

3.70 137.61

185.57 192.46

0.03 0.36

693.10 6.38 775.16 8.19

4019.77 3096.75

6.81 9.43

842.67 507.35

2544.46 2097.02

3.12

7416.83 68.24 5710.55 60.33

444.23 484.68

15.56 19.40

180.13 221.44

1885.21 1970.29

2525.13 23.23 2695.81 28.48

44.64 58.22

1.42 2.97

0.02

104.77 103.96

150.83 1.38 165.17 1.75

25.70 39.28

19.73 27.36

1.26 1.96

36.64 50.52

83.33 0.77 119.12 1.26

10869.22 100.00 9465.81 100.00
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comparative summary of the currency composition of outstanding loans at March 31 2013 and 2012 was as

follows

Amounts in UA millions 2013 2012

Amount Amount

Euro 4724.32 43.47 3753.13 39.65

Japanese Yen 354.89 3.27 427.18 4.51

Pound Sterling 2.45 0.02 2.51 0.03

South African Rand 1022.80 9.41 728.78 7.70

Swiss Franc 4.96 0.05 139.59 1.47

US Dollar 4756.65 43.76 4414.26 46.64

Others 3.15 0.02 0.36 0.00

Total 10869.22 100.00 9465.81 100.00

Accrued Income and Charges Receivable on Loans

The accrued income and charges receivable on loans as at March 31 2013 and 2012 were as follows

2013 2012

Accrued income and charges receivable on loans 389750 373962

Less accumulated provision for impairment 202791 185805

Balance at March 31 186959 188158

Provision for Impairment on Loan Principal and Charges Receivable

At March 31 2013 outstanding loans with an aggregate principal balance of UA 312.64 million 2012 UA
302.02 million of which UA 272.06 million 2012 UA 270.02 million was overdue were considered to be

impaired

The gross amounts of loans and charges receivable that were impaired and their cumulative impairment at

March 31 2013 and 2012 were as follows

UAthousands 2013 2012

Outstanding balance on impaired loans 312635 302023

Less accumulated provision for impairment
130317 16800

Net balance on impaired loans
182318 185223

Charges receivable and accrued income on impaired loans 284796 263195

Less accumulated provision for impairment
202791 185805

Net charges receivable and accrued income on impaired loans 82005 77390

on outstanding loan principal for the threeThe movements in the accumulated provision for impairment

months ended March 31 2013 and 2012 were as follows
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UAthousands 2013 2012

Balance at January
128508 118023

Provision for impairment on loan principal for the period
339 605

Provision reversal for loan written off 798

Translation effects 1470 1030

Balance at March31 130317 116800

Accumulated provisions for impairment on outstanding loan principal included the provisions relating to public

and private sector loans During the quarters ended March 31 2013 and 2012 no provision for impairment was

made on private sector loans principal The accumulated provisions on private sector loans at March 31 2013

amounted to UA 35.84 million 2012 UA 23.59 million

The movements in the accumulated provision for impairment on loan interest and charges receivable for the

years ended March 31 2013 and 2012 were as follows

UA thousands 2013 2012

Balance at January 197804 184888

Provision for impairment on loan charges for the period
4108 2968

Translation effects
779 2051

Balance at March 31 202791 185805

Accumulated provisions for impairment on loan interest and charges receivable included the provisions

relating to public and private sector loans During the quarters ended March 31 2013 provision for

impairment was made on interest and charges receivable on private sector loans in the amount of UA 0.51

million 2012 UA 0.77 million The accumulated provision on interest and charges receivable on private

sector loans at March 31 2013 amounted to UA 16.05 million 2012 UA 12.77 million

Guarantees

The Bank may enter into special irrevocable commitments to pay amounts to borrowers or other parties for

goods and services to be financed under loan agreements At March 31 2013 No outstanding irrevocable

reimbursement guarantees was issued by the Bank to commercial banks on undisbursed loans 2012 UA 5.96

million

Also the Bank may provide repayment guarantees to entities within its regional member countries for

development loans granted to such entities by third parties Guarantees represent potential risk to the Bank if

the payments guaranteed for an entity are not made Guarantees provided by the Bank to some of its borrowers

outstanding at March 31 2013 amounted to UA 14.60 million 2012 UA 8.62 million
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NOTE EQUITY PARTICIPATIONS

Investment in ADF
The ADF was established in 1972 as an international institution to assist the Bank in contributing to the

economic and social development of African countries to promote co-operation and increased international

trade particularly among the African countries and to provide financing on highly concessional terms for

such purposes The Funds original subscriptions were pro-vided by the Bank and the original State

Participants to the ADF Agreement and State Participants acceding to the Agreement since the original

signing date Thereafter further subscriptions were received from participants in the form of Special General

Increases and General Replenishments

The ADF has 14-member Board of Directors made up of members selected by the African Development

Bank and members selected by State Participants The Funds Board of Directors reports to the Board of

Governors made up of representatives of the State Participants and the ADB The President of the Bank is

the ex-officio President of the Fund

To carry out its functions the Fund utilizes the offices staff organization services and facilities of the Bank

for which it
pays

share of the administrative expenses The share of administrative expenses paid by the

Fund to the Bank is calculated annually on the basis of cost-sharing formula approved by the Board of

Directors which is driven in large part by the number of programs and projects executed during the period

Based on the cost-sharing formula the share of administrative expenses incurred by ADF for the period

ended March 31 2013 amounted to UA 40.73 million 2012 UA 38.87 million representing 65.91 percent

2012 68.76 percent of the shareable administrative expenses incurred by the Bank The accounts of the

ADF are kept separate and distinct from those of the Bank

Although the ADB by agreement exercises 50 percent of the voting powers in the ADF the Agreement

establishing the ADF also provides that in the event of termination of the ADFs operations the assets of the

Fund shall be distributed pro-rata to its participants in proportion to the amounts paid-in by them on account

of their subscriptions after settlement of any outstanding claims against the participants At March 31 2013

the Banks pro-rata or economic share in ADF was 0.56 percent 2012 0.63 percent

As result of the implementation in 2006 of the Multilateral Debt Relief Initiative the net asset value of

ADF which is the basis for determining the value of the Banks investment in the Fund declined resulting in

impairment loss on the Banks investment The net assets of ADF is made up of its net development

resources less outstanding demand obligations plus disbursed and outstanding loans excluding balances due

from countries that have reached their HIPC completion points and are therefore due for MDRI loan

cancelation at the balance sheet date

Other Equity Participations

The Bank may take equity positions in privately owned productive enterprises and financial intermediaries

public sector companies that are in the process
of being privatized or regional and sub-regional institutions

The Banks objective in such equity investments is to promote the economic development of its regional

member countries and in particular the development of their private sectors The Banks equity participation

is also intended to promote efficient use of resources promoting African participation playing catalytic
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role in attracting other investors and lenders and mobilizing the flow of domestic and external resources to

financially viable projects which also have significant economic merit

Unless otherwise approved by the Board of Directors the Banks equity participation shall not exceed 25

percent of the equity capital of the entity in which it invests The Bank currently holds less than 20 percent of

the total equity capital of most of the institutions in which it participates The Bank therefore does not seek

controlling interest in the companies in which it invests but closely monitors its equity investments through

Board representation In accordance with the Board of Governors Resolution B/B G/2009/1 of May 13

2009 total equity investment by the Bank shall not at any time exceed 15 percent of the aggregate amount of

the Banks paid-in capital and reserves and surplus risk capital included in its ordinary capital resources

Under IFRS equity investments must be measured at fair value through profit or loss However where the

equity investment is not held for trading an entity has the option to take fair value changes into other

comprehensive income OCI with no recycling of the change in fair value to profit or loss if the investment

is subsequently derecognized As the Banks equity investments are currently held for strategic purposes

rather than for trading the Bank has opted to designate all its equity investments as at fair value through

other comprehensive income

NOTE OThER DEBT SECURITIES

The Bank may invest in certain debt instruments issued by entities in its Regional Member Countries RMC
for the purpose of financing development projects and programs These investments are classified as financial

assets at amortized cost

The carrying amount of Other debt securities at March 31 2013 and 2012 was as follows

2013
thousands

2012

Investments in debt instruments in RMCs 72576 84 128

NOTE BORROWINGS

The capital adequacy framework approved by the Board of Directors adopted the use of single debt to usable

capital ratio to monitor the Banks leverage The ratio caps the Banks total outstanding debt at 100 percent of

usable capital Usable capital comprises the equity of the Bank and the callable capital of its non-borrowing

members rated A- or better The Banks usable capital at March 31 2013 was UA 26756 million

As at March 31 2013 and 2012 the Banks borrowings were as follows

2013 2012

Borrowings at fair value
12183.89 12330.45

Borrowings at amortized cost
1168.73 1123.16

Total 13352.62 13453.61
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The Banks borrowings as at March 31 2013 included subordinated borrowings in the amount of UA 755.66

million 2012 770.37 UA million

The Bank uses derivatives in its borrowing and liability management activities to take advantage of cost

saving opportunities and to lower its funding costs

Certain long-term borrowing agreements contain provisions that allow redemption at the option of the holder

at specified dates prior to maturity Such borrowings are reflected in the tables on the maturity structure of

borrowings using the put dates rather than the contractual maturities Management believes however that

portion of such borrowings may remain outstanding beyond their earliest redemption dates

The Bank has entered into cross-currency swap agreements with major international banks through which

proceeds from borrowings are converted into different currency and include forward exchange contract

providing for the future exchange of the two currencies in order to recover the currency converted The Bank

has also entered into interest rate swaps which transform floating rate payment obligation in particular

currency into fixed rate payment obligation or vice-versa

The contractual except for callable borrowings maturity structure of outstanding borrowings as at March 31

2013 was as follows

Borrowings Carried at Fair Value

millions

Periods Ordinary Callable Total

One year or less .663.73 438.71 2.1 02.44

More than one year but less than two years 1785.23 17.40 .802.63

More than two years but less than three years 1401.97 42.54 1444.51

More than three years but less than four years 2061.99 206 l.99

More than four years but less than five years 1413.07 l.4l3.07

More than five years 3358.87 0.38 3359.25

Total 11684.86 499.03 12183.89

ii Borrowings Carried at Amortized Cost

millions

Periods Ordinary Callable Total

307.43 12.77 320.20

10.05

317.72

One year or less

More than one year but less than two years

More than two years but less than three years

More than three years but less than four years

More than four years but less than five years

More than five years
522.38

Sub-total 1157.58 12.77 1170.35

Net unamortized premium and discount 1.62 1.62

Total 1155.96 12.77 1168.73

10.05

317.72

522.38

48



The contractual except for callable borrowings maturity structure of outstanding borrowings as at March 31

2012 was as follows

Borrowings Carried at Fair Value

millionsj

Periods

ii Borrowings Carried at Amortized Cost

Ordinary Callable

3172.73 276.13

Total

3448.86

UA millions

Periods Ordinary Callable Total

One year or less 17.65 104.51 122.16

More than one year but less than two years 320.70 320.70

More than two years but less than three years

More than three years but less than four years
258.22 258.22

More than four years but less than five years

More than five years 414.60 9.77 424.37

Sub-total 1011.17 114.28 1125.45

Net unamortized premium and discount 2.29 2.29

Total 1008.88 114.28 1123.16

The fair value of borrowings carried at fair value through profit or loss at March 31 2013 was UA 12183.89

million 2012 UA 12330.45 million For these borrowings the amount the Bank will be contractually

required to pay at maturity at March 31 2013 was UA 12349.11 million 2012 UA 12569.21 million The

surrender value of callable borrowings is equivalent to the notional amount plus accrued finance charges

As per Note there was net loss of UA 16.67 million on fair-valued borrowings and related derivatives for

the quarter ended March 31 2013 2012 net loss of UA 21.Olmillion The fair value gain attributable to

changes in the Banks credit risk included in the other comprehensive income for the period to March 31

2013 was UA 52.15 million 2012 gain of UA 18.32 million

Fair value changes attributable to changes in the Banks credit risk are determined by comparing the

discounted cash flows for the borrowings designated at fair value through profit or loss using the Banks credit

spread on the relevant liquid markets for ADB quoted bonds versus LIBOR both at the beginning and end of

the relevant period The Banks credit spread was not applied for fair value changes on callable borrowings

with less than one year call date

One year or less

More than one year but less than two years 1251.42 5.57 1256.99

More than two years but less than three years 1709.98 1709.98

More than three years but less than four years 1184.20 1184.20

More than four years but less than five years 2013.36 2013.36

More than five years 2713.03 4.03 2717.06

Total 12044.72 285.73 12330.45
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For borrowings designated at fair value through profit or loss at March 31 2013 the cumulative unrealized fair

value losses to date were UA 945.48 million 2012 losses of UA 786.23 million

NOTE EQUITY

Equity is composed of capital and reserves These are further detailed as follows

Capital

Capital includes subscriptions paid-in by member countries and cumulative exchange adjustments on

subscriptions CEAS The Bank is not exposed to any externally imposed capital requirements

Subscriptions Paid In

Subscriptions to the capital stock of the Bank are made up of the subscription to the initial capital

voluntary capital increase and six General Capital Increases GCI The Fifth General Capital Increase GCI
was approved by the Board of Governors of the Bank on May 29 1998 and became effective on

September 30 1999 upon ratification by member states and entry into force of the related amendments to the

Agreements establishing the Bank The GCI-V increased the authorized capital of the Bank by 35 percent

from 1.62 million shares to 2.187 million shares with par value of UA 10000 per share The GCI-V shares

total of 567000 shares are divided into paid-up and callable shares in proportion of six percent 6% paid-

up and ninety-four percent 94% callable The GCI-V shares were allocated to the regional and non-regional

members such that when fully subscribed the regional members shall hold 60 percent of the total stock of

the Bank and non-regional members shall hold the balance of 40 percent

Prior to the GCI-V subscribed capital was divided into paid-up capital and callable capital in the proportion

of to With the Gd-V the authorized capital stock of the Bank consists of 10.81 percent paid-up shares

and 89.19 percent callable shares

Prior to the sixth General Capital Increase GCI-VI and by its resolutions BIBG/2008/07 and BIBG/2009/05

the Board of Governors authorized two capital increases bringing the Authorized Capital of the Bank from

UA 21870 million to UA 22120 million to allow the Republic of Turkey and the Grand Duchy of

Luxembourg to become members of the Bank The membership of these two countries shall become

effective upon completion of the formalities specified in the Agreement establishing the Bank and in the

General Rules Governing Admission of Non-Regional Countries to Membership of the Bank As at March

31 2013 such formalities had not been completed

In 2009 the Board of Directors endorsed proposal made by Canada and Republic of Korea offering to

subscribe temporarily to additional non-voting callable capital of the Bank in the amounts of UA 1.63

billion and UA 0.19 billion respectively This proposal was adopted by the Board of Governors on February

22 2010 Accordingly the authorized capital stock of the Bank increased from UA 22120 million to UA

23947 million by the creation of additional 182710 non-voting shares These non-voting callable shares

were to be absorbed by the subscriptions of Canada and the Republic of Korea to GCI-VI when they become

effective
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The GCI-VI was approved by the Board of Governors of the Bank on May 27 2010 GCI-VI increased the

authorized capital stock of the Bank from UA 23947 million to UA 67687 million with the creation of

4374000 new shares The new shares created are to be allocated to the regional and non-regional groups in

such proportions that when fully subscribed the regional group shall hold 60 percent of the total capital

stock of the Bank and the non-regional group 40 percent The new shares and the previous ones described

above shall be divided into paid-up and callable shares in the proportion of percent paid-up shares and 94

percent callable shares

Following the Board of Governors resolutions the temporary non-voting callable shares of Canada and

Korea described above were effectively retired in 2011 and 2012 respectively Consequently the authorized

capital of the Bank reduced by 163296 and 19414 shares representing the retired non-voting callable shares

for Canada and Korea respectively

Following its Resolution B/BG/2012/04 of May 31 2012 the Board of Governors authorized Special

Capital Increase of the authorized share capital of the Bank to allow for subscription by new regional

member country the Republic of South Sudan of the minimum number of shares required for it to become

member and ii the resulting subscription by non-regional members of the number of shares necessary to

comply with the 60/40 ratio requirement between the shareholding of regional and non- regional members

Accordingly the Board of Governors decided to increase the authorized capital of the Bank by the creation of

111469 new shares out of which 66881 shall be available for subscription by the Republic of South Sudan

and 44588 shall be available for subscription by non-regional members The additional shares are subject to

the same terms and conditions as the shares authorized in the GCI-VI The membership of the Republic of

South Sudan shall become effective upon completion of the formalities specified in the Agreement

establishing the Bank and in the General Rules Governing Admission of Regional Countries to Membership

of the Bank As at March 31 2013 such formalities had not been completed

The Banks capital as at March 31 2013 and 2012 was as follows

UAthousands 2013 2012

Capital Authorized in shares of UA 10 000 each 66975050 67687460

Less Unsubscribed 1760080 17077014

Subscribed Capital 65214970 50610446

Less Callable Capital 60252358 46524098

Paid-up Capital 4962612 4086348

Shares to be issued upon payment of future installments 2035520 1476010

Add Amounts paid in advance 389 308

2927481 2610646

Less Amounts in arrears 639 1440

Capital at March 31 2926842 2609206

Included in the total unsubscribed shares of UA 1760.01 million at March 31 2013 was an amount of UA

38.83 million representing the balance of the shareholding of the former Socialist Federal Republic of

Yugoslavia former Yugoslavia
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Since the former Yugoslavia has ceased to exist as state under international law its shares composed of

UA 38.83 million call- able and UA 4.86 million paid-up shares have been held by the Bank in accordance

with Article of the Bank Agreement In 2002 the Board of Directors of the Bank approved the proposal

to invite each of the successor states of the former Yugoslavia to apply for membership in the Bank though

such membership would be subject to their fulfilling certain conditions including the assumption pro-rata of

the contingent liabilities of the former Yugoslavia to the Bank as of December 31 1992 In the event that

successor state declines or otherwise does not become member of the Bank the pro-rata portion of the

shares of former Yugoslavia which could have been reallocated to such successor state would be reallocated

to other interested non- regional members of the Bank in accordance with the terms of the Share Transfer

Rules The proceeds of such reallocation will however be transferable to such successor state Furthermore

pending the response from the successor states the Bank may under its Share Transfer Rules reallocate the

shares of former Yugoslavia to interested non-regional member states and credit the proceeds on pro-rata

basis to the successor states In 2003 one of the successor states declined the invitation to apply for

membership and instead offered to the Bank as part of the states Official Development Assistance its pro

rata interest in the proceeds of any reallocation of the shares of former Yugoslavia The Bank accepted the

offer
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Subscriptions by member countries and their voting power at March 31 2013 were as follows

Amounts in UA thousands

%of %of

Total Total Amount Callable Number Total Voting

MThIBFRSTATgS Shares Shares Paid Cajital of Votes Punvr

ALGERIA 268096 4.244 124458 2556520 26872I 4.246

ANODLA 73479 1.163 33924 703412 70119 1.108

BENIN 12330 0.195 5768 117533 12955 0.205

BGFSWANA 68927 1.091 56428 632845 69552 1.099

BURKINA FASO 26.919 0.426 12784 257345 26085 0.412

BURUNDI 15013 0.238 7505 142626 15638 0.247

CAMFROON 69113 1.094 30641 660281 69561 1.099

CAPE VERDE 4844 0.077 2341 46100 5469 0.086

CENTRALAFRICANREPUBUC 2823 0.045 1412 26822 3448 0.054

10 CHAD 4746 0.075 2216 45250 5114 0.081

II COMOROS 541 0.009 593 4826 1166 0.018

12 CONCX 28561 0.452 12579 273050 29186 0.461

13 COrEIYlQOIRE 235110 3.722 117482 2233620 235735 3.725

14 DEMOCRATIC REPUBLIC OF CONGE 64734 1.025 32218 615125 65359 1.033

IS DJTBOUTI 1213 0.019 1517 10618 1838 0.029

16 EGYPT 340853 5.3% 145049 3263400 341478 3%

17 FXUATORIALIJINEA 100% 0.160 4910 96057 10721 0.169

18 ERITREA 2003 0.032 2506 17522 2628 0.042

19 E1HIOPIA 100589 1.592 46433 952940 95759 1.513

20 GABON 75735 1.199 36611 720758 76360 1.207

21 GAMBIA 9664 0.153 4241 92413 10289 0.163

22 GHANA 143757 2.276 60154 1377321 136504 2.157

23 GUINEA 25650 0.406 11545 244961 24884 0.393

24 GUINEA BISSAU 1735 0.027 810 16540 2266 0.036

25 KENYA 91706 1.452 39164 877900 92331 1.459

26 LESOTHO 3666 0.058 3916 32760 4291 0.068

27 IJBFRIA 12238 0.194 6134 116637 12271 0.194

28 LIBYA 255883 4.051 107142 2451688 256508 4.053

29 MADAGASCAR 40955 0.649 17531 392120 415% 0.657

30 MALAWI 18718 0.2% 8738 178450 18271 0.289

31 MALI 27577 0.437 11892 263881 28202 0.446

32 MAURITANIA 3698 0.059 4067 32916 4323 0.068

33 MAURITIUS 41340 0.654 23173 390230 41965 0.663

34 MOROCCO 221444 3.506 105453 2108990 222069 3.509

35 MOZAMBIQUE 39815 0.630 17014 381158 38280 0.605

36 NAMIBIA 21542 0.341 10623 204800 22167 0.350

37 NICER 15982 0.253 7461 152363 16607 0.262

38 NIGERIA 588948 9.324 253405 5635853 589377 9.313

39 RWANDA 8394 0.133 3634 80303 8579 0.136

40 SAOTOMEPRINCIPE 4305 0.068 2013 41054 4930 0.078

41 SENEGAL 66609 1.054 27797 638241 63557 1.004

42 SEyCHEI.IES 1809 0.029 1640 16499 2361 0.037

43 SIERRA LEONE 15323 0.243 7685 146081 15116 0.239

44 SOMALIA 1941 0.031 2427 16986 2566 0.041

45 SOUTHAFRICA 306876 4.858 119498 2949270 307501 4.859

46 SUDAN 24161 0.382 11920 229687 24786 0.392

47 SWAZILAND 7251 0.115 8230 64280 7876 0.124

48 TANZANIA 51656 0.818 22474 494107 49480 0.782

49 TOCI 9983 0.158 4660 95171 10066 0.159

50 TUNISIA 88809 1.406 43837 844260 89434 1.413

51 UGANDA 31914 0.505 15103 304047 32539 0.514

52 ZAMBIA 79420 1.257 34266 760239 80004 1.264

53 ZIMBABWE 130386 2.064 63111 1243748 131011 2.070

Total Regionals 3798889 60.140 1738131 36261689 3798893 60.031

Slight differences may occur in totals due to rounding

53



Amounts in UA thousands

ME%IBIR STATES

Total Regionals 3798889 60.140 1738131 36261689 3798893 60.031

54 ARGENTINA 5847 0.093 6108 52364 6472 0.102

55 AUSTRIA 28330 0448 12645 270660 28955 0.458

56 BELJUM 40735 0.645 18185 389180 41361 0.654

57 BRAZIL 28084 0.445 11157 269696 26425 0.418

58 CANADA 241520 3.823 138650 2276560 242145 3.826

59 CHINA 70920 1.123 31653 677550 71545 1.131

60 DENMARK 75591 1.197 54179 701740 76216 1.204

61 FINLAND 31175 0.494 15444 296310 31800 0503

62 FRANCE 238291 3.772 106353 2276560 238916 3.775

63 ERMANY 261589 4.141 116750 2499140 262214 4.144

64 INDIA 14183 0.225 6335 135500 14808 0.234

65 ITALY 153642 2.432 68573 1467850 154267 2.438

66 JAPAN 348471 5.517 155530 3329180 349096 5.516

67 KOREA 28330 0.448 12645 270660 28955 0.458

68 KUWAIT 0.154 9720 87350 10332 0.163

69 NETHERLANDS 54482 0.863 23855 520970 55107 0.871

70 NORWAY 73831 1.169 36578 701740 74456 1.177

71 PORTUGAL 15185 0.240 6895 145750 14576 0.230

72 SAUDI ARABIA 12293 0.195 5490 117440 12918 0.204

73 SPAIN 69141 1.095 47980 643440 69766 1.102

74 SWEDEN 98039 1.552 43753 936640 98664 1.559

75 SWrFZERLAND 93528 1.481 46331 888950 94153 1.488

76 UNFED KINGDOM 106683 1.689 47615 1019220 107308 1.696

77 UNITEDSTATFSOFAMFRICA 418250 6.621 166290 4016219 418875 6.619

Total Non Regionals 2517846 39.860 1188711 23990669 2529330 39.969

GrandTotal 6316735 100.000 2926842 60252358 6328223 100.000

Slight differences nay occur in totals due to rounding

Cumulative Exchange Adjustment on Subscriptions CEAS
Prior to the fourth General Capital Increase GCI-IV payments on the share capital subscribed by the non-

regional member countries were fixed in terms of their national currencies Under GCI-IV payments by

regional and non-regional members in US dollars were fixed at an exchange rate of UA US$ 1.20635 This

rate represented the value of the US Dollar to the SDR immediately before the introduction of the basket

method of valuing the SDR on July 1974 1974 SDR As result of these practices losses or gains could

arise from converting these currencies to UA when received Such conversion differences are reported in the

Cumulative Exchange Adjustment on Subscriptions account

Reserves

Reserves consist of retained earnings fair value gains/losses on investments designated at fair value through

other comprehensive income and gains/losses on fair-valued borrowings arising from own credit

Retained Earnings

Retained earnings included the net income for the period after taking into account transfers approved by the

Board of Governors and net charges recognized directly in equity Retained earnings also included the

transition adjustments resulting from the adoption of IFRS on January 2011

of

Total Total

Shares Shares

Anmt
Paid

Callable

Caatal

of

Number Total voting

of Votes Power

The subscription position including the distribution of voting rights at March 31 20/3 reflects the differences in the timing ofsubscription payments by member countries

during the allowed subscription payment periodfor GCI-VL After the shares have been filly subscribed the regional and non-regional groups are expected to hold 60% and

40% voting rights respectively
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NOTE INCOME FROM LOANS AND INVESTMENTS AND RELATED DERIVATIVES

Income from Loans

Income from loans for the quarters ended March 31 2013 and 2012 was as follows

UAthousands 2013 2012

Interest income on loans not impaired 74292 75289

Interest income on impaired loans 5365 5404

Commitment charges 2634 3483

Statutory commission 69 74

Total 82360 84251

Income from Investments and Related Derivatives

Income from investments for the years ended March 31 2013 and 2012 was as follows

UA thousands 2013 2012

Interest income 42612 55 801

Realized and unrealized fair value gams/losses 1Oi07 164

Total j2505 62965

Total interest income on investments at amortized cost for the quarter ended March 31 2013 was UA 23.04

million 2012 UA 27.79 million During the three months ended march 31 2013 the Bank sold certain

financial assets measured at amortized cost This sale was made due to the significant deterioration in credit

risk of such assets Such sales were permissible within the business model of the Bank The Bank incurred

loss amounting to UA 2.60 million on derecognition of these financial assets which was fully covered by

provisions made in previous periods

NOTE 0- BORROWING EXPENSES

Interest and Amortized Issuance Costs

Interest and amortized issuance costs on borrowings for the quarters ended March 31 2013 and 2012 were

as follows

thousands 2013 2013

Charges to bond issuers 85030 85467

Amortization of issuance costs 1357 5750

Total 86387 79717

Total interest expense for financial liabilities not at fair value through profit or loss for the quarter ended

March 31 2013 was UA 24.96 million 2012 UA 27.79 million
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Net Interest on Borrowing-Related Derivatives

Net interest on borrowing-related derivatives for the quarters ended March 31 2013 and 2012 was as follows

2013 2012

Interest on derivatives payable 39615 50174

Interest on derivatives receivable 76257 78058

Total 36642 27884

Unrealized Losses on Borrowings Related Derivatives and Others

Unrealized losses on borrowings related derivatives and others for the quarters ended March 31 2013 and

2012 were as follows

2013 2012

Unrealized losses/gains on fair-valued borrowings and related derivatives 16666 21011

Unrealized gain on Derivatives on Non-Fair Valued Borrowings and Others 30870 8064

Total 47536 12947

Fair value gain attributable to changes in the Banks own credit for the three months ended March 31 2013

amounted to UA 52.15 million 2012 gain of UA 18.32 million and was included in the other comprehensive

income

NOTE ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Total administrative expenses relate to expenses incurred on behalf of the ADF the NTF and for the

operations of the Bank itself The ADF and NTF reimburse the Bank for their share of the total administrative

expenses based on an agreed-upon cost-sharing formula which is driven by certain selected indicators of

operational activity for operational expenses and relative balance sheet size for non-operational expenses

However the expenses allocated to the NTF shall not exceed 20 percent of the NTFs gross income

Administrative expenses comprised the following

2013 2012

Manpower expenses
48493 44376

Other general expenses
14939 13417

Total 63432 57793

Reimbursable by ADF 40735 38872

Reimbursable by NTF 105 133

Net
22592 18788
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NOTE EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Staff Retirement Plan

The Staff Retirement Plan SRP defined benefit plan established under Board of Governors Resolution

05-89 of May 30 1989 became effective on December 31 1989 following the termination of the Staff

Provident Fund Every person employed by the Bank on full-time basis as defined in the Banks

employment policies is eligible to participate in the SRP upon completion of months service without

interruption of more than 30 days

The SRP is administered as separate fund by committee of trustees appointed by the Bank on behalf of its

employees In November 2004 the Board of Directors of the Bank approved certain revisions to the SRP

including simplification of the calculation of the employee contribution rate more explicit reference to the

Banks residual responsibility and rights as the SRP sponsor changes in survivor child benefits and an

increase in the pension accumulation rate from percent to 2.5 percent for each year of service The past

service cost associated with these changes amounted to UA 1.64 million and were recorded in 2004 Also

new members from the local field offices of the Bank joined the Plan in 2007 and the associated past service

costs of UA 1.07 million were reported in the 2007 financial statements

In 2008 the early retirement provisions and the death benefits to spouses were modified resulting in net

negative prior service cost of UA 8.12 million which was immediately recognized Under the revised SRP

employees contribute at rate of percent of regular salary tax factor included in the basis for the

determination of contribution in the previous SRP has been eliminated The Bank typically contributes twice

the employee contribution but may vary such contribution based on the results of annual actuarial

valuations

In 2011 the Board of Directors approved the extension of the mandatory staff retirement age
in the Bank

from 60 to 62 years effective January 2012 Participants of the Plan as of May 11 2011 were given up to

December 31 2012 to make the election on either to retire at 60 years with no penalty for early retirement or

accept the extension and retire at age 62 The option to retire at age 60 is not available to staff joining the

Bank from January 2012 the date of effectiveness of the change Most of the existing participants opted

for the revised retirement age

All contributions to the SRP are irrevocable and are held by the Bank separately in retirement fund to be

used in accordance with the provisions of the SRP Neither the contributions nor any income thereon shall be

used for or diverted to purposes
other than the exclusive benefit of active and retired participants or their

beneficiaries or estates or for the satisfaction of the SRPs liabilities At march 31 2013 virtually all of the

SRPs investments were under external management and these were invested in indexed funds with the

following objectives Equity portfolio to track as closely as possible the returns of the Morgan Stanley

Capital International World Index as well as hedging the currency exposure
of the SRPs anticipated future

liabilities Bond portfolio to track as closely as possible the returns of the Citigroup World Government

Bond Index as well as hedge the currency exposure of the SRPs anticipated future liabilities
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Post-Employment Medical Benefit Plan

The Medical Benefit Plan MBP was created under the Board of Directors resolution B/BD/2002/1 and

F/BD/2002/l of July 17 2002 and became effective on January 2003 Under the MBP all plan members

including existing staff or retirees contribute percentage of their salary or pension while the Bank also

contributes twice the total staff contribution towards the financing of the MBP Contribution rates by staff

members and retirees which are based on marital status and number of eligible children range between 0.70

percent to maximum of 3.10 percent of salary or pension An MBP board composed of selected officers of

the Bank and representatives of retirees and the staff association oversees the management and activities of

the MBP The contributions from the Bank staff and retirees are deposited in trust account In accordance

with the directive establishing the Plan all Plan members including staff and retirees are eligible as

beneficiaries for making claims for medical services provided to them and their recognized dependents

NOTE RELATED PARTIES

The following related parties have been identified

The Bank makes or guarantees loans to some of its members who are also its shareholders and borrows

funds from the capital markets in the territories of some of its shareholders As multilateral development

institution with membership comprising 53 African states and 24 non-African states the regional members

and non-regional members respectively subscriptions to the capital of the Bank are made by all its

members All the powers of the Bank are vested in the Board of Governors which consists of the Governors

appointed by each member of the Bank who exercise the voting power of the appointing member country

Member country subscriptions and voting powers are disclosed in Note The Board of Directors which is

composed of twenty 20 Directors elected by the member countries is responsible for the conduct of the

general operations of the Bank and for this purpose exercises all the powers delegated to it by the Board of

Governors The Bank also makes or guarantees loans to certain of the agencies of its regional member

countries and to public and private enterprises operating within such countries Such loans are approved by

the Board of Directors

In addition to its ordinary resources the Bank administers the resources of other entities under special

arrangements In this regard the Bank administers the resources of the ADF Furthermore the Bank

administers various special funds and trust funds which have
purposes that are consistent with its objectives

of promoting the economic development and social progress of its regional member countries In this

connection the Bank administers the NTF as well as certain multilateral and bilateral donor funds created in

the form of grants

The ADF was established pursuant to an agreement between the Bank and certain countries The general

operation of the ADF is conducted by 14-member Board of Directors of which members are selected by

the Bank The Bank exercises 50 percent of the voting power in the ADF and the President of the Bank is the

ex-officio President of the Fund To carry out its functions the ADF utilizes the officers staff organization

services and facilities of the Bank for which it reimburses the Bank based on an agreed cost-sharing

formula driven in large part by the number of programs and projects executed during the year

The Banks investment in the ADF is included in Equity Participations and disclosed in Note In addition to

the amount reported as equity participation the Bank periodically makes allocations from its income to the

Fund to further its objectives Net income allocations by the Bank to ADF are reported as Other Resources

in the Funds financial statements

58



The NTF is special fund administered by the Bank with resources contributed by Nigeria The ADB Board

of Directors conducts the general operations of NTF on the basis of the terms of the NTF Agreement and in

this regard the Bank consults with the Government of Nigeria The NTF also utilizes the offices staff

organization services and facilities of the Bank for which it reimburses to the Bank its share of

administrative expenses for such utilization The share of administrative expenses reimbursed to the Bank by

both the ADF and NTF is disclosed in Note

Grant resources administered by the Bank on behalf of other donors including its member countries

agencies and other entities are generally restricted for specific uses which include the co-financing of

Banks lending projects debt reduction operations and technical assistance for borrowers including

feasibility studies

Management Personnel Compensation

Compensation paid to the Banks management personnel and executive directors during the quarters

ended March 31 2013 and 2012 was made up as follows

UA thousands
2013 2012

Salaries 4799 681

Termination and other benefits 318 1122

Contribution to retirement and medical plan
958 937

Total 7075 6740

The Bank may also provide personal loans and advances to its staff including those in management Such

loans and advances guaranteed by the terminal benefits payable at the time of departure from the Bank are

granted in accordance with the Banks rules and regulations At March 31 2013 outstanding balances on

loans and advances to management staff amounted to UA 4.96 million 2012 UA 4.35 million
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NOTE SUPPLEMENTARY DISCLOSURES

NOTE S-I EXCHANGE RATES

The rates used for translating currencies into Units of Account at March 31 2013 and 2012 were as

follows

2013 2012

Algerian Dinar 118.478000 114.758000

Angolan Kwanza 145.3661 16 148.287000

Australian Dollar 1.436810 1.489220

Botswana Pula 12.359900 11.249700

Brazilian Real 3.019080 2.840090

Canadian Dollar 1.521390 1.547690

Chinese Yuan 9.398320 9.750390

CFA Franc 767.384415 760.805000

Danish Kroner 8.733320 8.629170

Egyptian Pound 10.213824 9.358210

Ethiopian Birr 27.768045 26.978300

Euro 1.169870 1.159840

Gambian Dalasi 51.797360 47.231800

Ghanaian Cedi 2.912870 2.728180

Guinean Franc 10590.098500 10871.600000

Indian Rupee 81.476400 79.251200

Japanese Yen 140.999000 127.257000

Kenyan Shilling 130.633048 129.104000

Korean Won 1667.260000 1762.550000

Kuwaiti Dinar 0.426934 0.430259

Libyan Dinar 1.932400 1.932400

Mauritian Rupee 46.707400 44.741900

Moroccan Dirham 12.967930 12.962700

New Zambian Kwacha 8.100627

New Zealand Dollar 1.789960 1.895370

Nigerian Naira 235.177357 24 1.806000

Norwegian Krone 8.716120 8.819430

Pound Sterling 0.990619 0.967633

Sao Tome Dobra 28268.211590 28335.400000

Saudi Arabian Riyal 5.621990 5.809060

South African Rand 13778600 11.886600

Swedish Krona 9.761340 10.256300

Swiss Franc 1.427380 1.398980

Tunisian Dinar 2.388220 2.333230

Turkish Lira 2.736691 2.710 120

Ugandan Shilling 4004.718200 3691.690000

United States Dollar 1.499200 1.549090

Vietnamese Dong 31225.337600 32264.400000

Zambian Kwacha 8151.380000

No representat ion is made that any currency held by the Bank can be or could have been converted into any other

currency at the cross rates resulting from the rates indicated above
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REGIONAL AND NON-REGIONAL MEMBER COUNTRIES

ALGERIA ARGENTINA

ANGOLA AUSTRIA

BENIN BELGIUM

BOTSWANA BRAZIL
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BURUNDI CHINA

CAMEROON DENMARK

CAPE VERDE FINLAND

CENTRAL AFRICAN REPUBLIC FRANCE
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Fast Facts

African Development Bank Group

Constituent Institutions The African Development Bank ADB
The African Development Fund ADF
The Nigeria Trust Fund NTF

Shareholders 53 African countries regional member countries

24 non-African countries non-regional member countries

Mission To promote sustainable economic growth and reduce poverty in Africa

Authorized Capital UA 66.98 billion

as of December 31 2012 ADB
Subscribed Capital UA 65.22 billion

as of December 31 2012 ADB
Paid-up Capital UA 4.96 billion

as of December 31 2012 ADB
Callable capital UA 60.25 billion

as of December 31 2012 ADB
Total reserves UA 2.67 billion

as of December 31 2012 ADB
Approved Operations 2012 199 operations totalling UA 4.25 billion financed as follows

ADB UA 2.08 billion

ADF UA 1.89 billion

NTF UA 14.1 million

Special Funds UA 269.0 million

Of which

Loans UA 2.98 billion 55 operations

Grants UA 623.0 million 80 operations

HIPC UA 248.0 million operations

Equity Participation UA 133.9 million operations

Special Funds UA 269.0 million 50 operations

Sector Approvals 2012 Infrastructure UA 1.76 billion 48.9 percent of total loans and grants

Social UA 525.3 million 14.6 percent

Multisector UA 505.4 million 14.0 percent

Finance UA 402.8 million 11.2 percent

Agriculture and Rural Development UA 308.1 million 8.6 percent

Industry Mining and Quarrying UA 97.7 million 2.7 percent

Total Cumulative Loan and 3796 loans and grants totalling UA 63.66 billion

Grant Approvals 1967-2012

Special Funds These are the approvals for the operations of the African Water Facility the Rural WaterSupply and Sanitation Initiative the Global Environment Facility the Globa/Agriculture and Food Security

program the Climate Investment Fund the Congo Basin Forest Fund the Fund for African Private Sector Assistance the Microfinance Capacity Building Funch and the Governance Trust Fund
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African Development Bank Group

TEMPORARY RELOCATION AGENCY

15 Avenue du Ghana

Angle des rues Pierre de Coubertin et Hedi Nouira

BP 323 1002

Tunis Belvedere

TUNISIA

Telephone 216 71 333 511

Fax 216 71 351 933

April 16 2013

The Chairperson

Boards of Governors

African Development Bank

African Development Fund

Dear Mr Chairperson

In accordance with Article 32 of the Agreement Establishing the African Development Bank and Articles 811 and 12 of the General

Regulations made thereunder and pursuant to Article 26 of the Agreement Establishing the African Development Fund and

Articles 811 and 12 of the General Regulations made thereunder have the honor on behalf of the Boards of Directors of the Bank

and of the Fund to submit the audited financial statements of the two institutions for the financial year ended December 31 2012

This joint report includes the administrative budgets for the period commencing January 2013 and ending December 31 2013

as approved by the Boards of Directors as well as review of developments in the African economy and in the operational

activities of the Bank Group during 2012

Please accept Mr Chairperson the assurances of my highest consideration

4berukP
President

of the

African Development Bank Group

and

Chairperson of the

Boards of Directors
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Independent Auditors Report to the Board of Governors of the African Development Bank Group regarding the

effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting

Year ended 31 December 2012

Scope

We have examined the internal control over financial reporting of the African Development Bank ADB the African Development

Fund ADF and the Nigeria Trust Fund NTF together the Bank Group as of 31 December 2012 based on criteria established in

Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission COSO

Management responsibilities

The management of the Bank Group is responsible for implementing and maintaining effective internal control over financial report

ing and for its assessment of the effectiveness of such internal control Management has asserted the effectiveness of internal controls

over financial reporting as of3I December2012

IndependentAuditor responsibilities

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Bank Groups internal control over financial reporting based on our procedures

We conducted our engagement in accordance with International Standard on Assurance Engagements ISAE 3000 issued by the

International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board That standard requires that we plan and perform our procedures to obtain rea

sonable assurance about whether in all material respects effective internal control was maintained over financial reporting

An assurance engagement includes obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting assessing the risk that

material weakness exists and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed

risk It also includes performing such other procedures as considered necessary in the circumstances We believe that the evidence we

have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide reasonable basis for our opinion

Inherent/imitation

An entitys system of internal control over financial reporting is process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reli

ability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted

accounting principles An entitys system of internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that

pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the

assets of the entity provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial state-
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African Development Bank Group

Independent Auditork Report to the Board of Governors

of the African Development Bank Group regarding

the effectiveness of internal controls over externalfmnancial reporting

ments in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of the entity are being made

only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the entity and provide reasonable assurance regarding

prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or disposition of the entitys assets that could have material effect

on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations system of internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements Further

projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of

changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate

Opinion

In our opinion the Bank Group in all material respects maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of 31 December

2012 based on criteria established in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations

of the Treadway Commission

We have audited the financial statements of the African Development Bank the African Development Fund and the Nigeria Trust Fund

as of and for the year ended 31 December 2012 in accordance with the International Standards on Auditing and we have expressed

unqualified opinions on those financial statements

Paris La Defense 27th March 2013

KPMG Audit

division of KPMG S.A

Valery FoussØ

Partner
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THE AFRICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK

Financial Management

Benefits of Cauflous Investment Strategy

The Bank is not immune to the various events arising from the

global financial and economic crisis over the past few years and

the intensification of the Eurozone debt crisis over 2012 The

past year has been characterized by credit rating downgrades

in many parts of the world across both sovereign and banking

entities The year has also highlighted increased inter-linkages

between countries creditworthiness the banking sector and

economic performance all of which could amplify systemic risks

Despite these challenges the Banks investment strategy has

adapted to the changing global financial market environment

The Bank utilizes range of financial instruments to meet the

needs of its borrowers manages its balance sheet to minimize

the impact of fluctuations in market interest rates and exchange

rates and temporarily invests its liquid resources prior to dis

bursement Its primary objectives are to strengthen credit qual

ity and the liquidity profile of the investment portfolios while

limiting the volatility of their returns The Bank has progressively

revised and implemented more defensive asset mix by target

ing high credit quality counterparties and investing in low yield

but secure investments including holding significant cash

cushion often with Central Banks while concurrently reduc

ing the average maturity of the trading portfolios The Bank

has benefited from its conservative investment strategy It has

allowed its treasury portfolio to significantly outperform last

years performance both from an absolute total investment

income and relative performance measured versus bench

mark points of view This is borne out by the financial results

discussed in the rest of this section

Adaptation to the Risks of Changing Portfolio

The Banks operating environment continued to be significantly

challenged by the continuing socio-political developments in the

North Africa region where the Bank has significant concentra

tion of its portfolio The situation was further exacerbated by

the impact on important clients of the Eurozone crisis through

reduced trade FDI flows and tourism As result some of the

Banks clients experienced sharp declines in their credit risk

profiles triggering sequential rating downgrades from rating

agencies and the Banks own internal rating system The dis

tressed lending environment faced by some of the clients of

the Bank impacted the growth of the public sector portfolio

In addition the private sector portfolio that is riskier than the

public sector portfolio continued to grow at faster pace than

the public sector albeit at lower rate than in previous years

To mitigate potential risks the Bank has over the past few years

considerably enhanced its risk management framework and

end-to-end credit processes to ensure its risk management

functions are robust Specific measures taken included the

improvement of the Banks risk governance framework through

the establishment of Credit Risk Committee the enhancement

of the credit risk assessment skills through increased hiring of

experienced and competent credit officers the implementa

tion of robust and optimized credit risk assessment models the

strengthening of the credit risk infrastructure to improve quality

at entry and implementation of best of breed solutions in the

form of an integrated and workflow-driven software platform

that allows all stakeholders involved in the credit risk assessment

process to streamline their work in order to enhance efficiency

The Bank strengthened the monitoring of the current portfolio

and continued to proactively undertake portfolio restructuring

measures including cancelation of long standing signed but

undisbursed loans to free up capital for new lending

Moreover the Bank established capital buffers to provide it

some flexibility in continuing its countercyclicat financing role

while covering any potential unexpected losses Close collabo

ration with sister institutions the World Bank and International

Monetary Fund was enhanced to improve coordination of

future interventions in those countries The Bank continues to

explore measures to increase portfolio diversification in order

to mitigate the concentration risk of the portfolio mentioned

above Besides the Bank improved its collateral management

framework to ensure that adequate collateral value is maintained

Given the increasingly risky operating environment over the

course of the year there was increased stress testing and report

ing to senior management and the Board This approach was

greatly enhanced with the completion of the first phase of the

risk dashboard project which aims to provide basis for quick

and informed risk assessment The Bank continues to be well

capitalized and stress testing of its capital adequacy shows that

it is able to withstand number of shock scenarios

Capital Subscription

The capital stock of the Bank is composed of paid-up and callable

capital The paid-up capital is the amount of capital payable over

period determined by the specific Board of Governors resolu

tion approving the relevant General Capital Increase The Banks

callable capital is subject to payment only when required by the

Bank to meet its obligations on borrowing of funds for inclu

sion in its ordinary capital resources or guarantees chargeable

to such resources This acts as protection for the Banks bond

holders and holders of guarantees issued by the Bank in the

unlikely event that it is not able to meet its financial obligations

There has never been call on the callable capital of the Bank

Following the Board of Governors approval of 200 percent

increase of the Banks capital base in 2010 the authorized
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capital of the African Development Bank was increased to UA

67.69 billion following the creation of 4374000 new shares

with par value of UA 10000 each Six percent of the shares

created under this Sixth General Capital Increase GCI-VI UA
2.62 billion are paid-up while ninety-four percent UA 41.12 bil

lion are callable In accordance with the resolution governing

this capital increase the new GCI-VI shares were allocated to

regional and nonregionaI members in such proportions that

when fully subscribed the regional group holds 60 percent of

the total capital stock and the non-regional group 40 percent

As at December 31 2012 the subscriptions of 71 member coun

tries 49 regional countries and 22 non-regional countries have

become effective

In 2010 Canada and Korea had responded favorably to the

Banks need for expanded financial capacity pending decisions

on GCI-VI by offering temporary increase of their callable

capital with no attached voting rights Following the adoption

of the Board of Governors resolution to retire and cancel the

163296 non-voting callable shares subscribed by Canada under

this arrangement the number of authorized shares of the Bank

decreased from 6768746 shares to 6605450 shares in 2011

This cancelation reduced the total authorized capital of the Bank

to UA 66.05 billion The authorized capital was decreased further

to 6586036 shares after the cancelation of the 19414 shares

that was also temporarily allocated to the Republic of Korea

following the effectiveness of Koreas subscription to GCI-VI

In 2012 there was special capital increase of 111469 shares to

permit the membership of South Sudan following which the

total authorized capital of the Bank was raised to UA 66.98 bil

lion at December 31 2012

The paid-up portion of the GCI-VI subscription is payable in eight

equal annual installments for non-regional member as well as

regional member countries eligible to borrow from ADB and

twelve equal annual installments for Regional Member Countries

eligible to borrow only from ADF Some member countries have

elected to pay their subscription in fewer installments opting

for an advance payment scheme and will receive discount

on their GCI-VI subscription payment accordingly

member countrys payment of the first installment triggers

the issuance of the shares corresponding to the entire callable

capital portion and shares representing the paid-up portion of

subscriptions are issued only as and when the Bank receives the

actual payments for such shares Table 7.1 below summarizes the

evolution of the Banks authorized paid-up callable and sub

scribed capital as at the end of the three past financial periods

As at December 31 2012 the paid-up capital of the Bank amount

ed to UA 4.96 billion with paid-in capital i.e the portion of

paid-up capital that has been actually paid of UA 2.84 billion

compared with UA 3.29 billion and UA 2.51 billion of paid-up

and paid-in capital respectively at the end of 2011 The Banks

callable capital at December 31 2012 stood at UA 60.25 billion

including UA 21.18 billion from non-borrowing member coun

tries rated A- and higher compared with UA 3403 billion and

UA 18.63 billion respectively as at the end of the previous year

In accordance with the Banks Share Transfer Rules shares for

which payment have become due and remain unpaid are for

feited after prescribed period and offered for subscription

to member countries within the same membership group i.e

regional or non-regional

Details of the Banks capital subscriptions at December 31 2012

are shown in the Statement of Subscriptions to the Capital

Stock and Voting Powers which forms part of the Financial

Statements included elsewhere in this Report

In addition to the stringent monitoring and management of

the key metrics related to its financial strength the Bank is

rated by four major rating agencies For 2012 all the four rating

agencies Standard Poors Moodys Fitch Ratings and the

Japan Credit Rating Agency have reaffirmed their AAA rating

on the senior debt and AA rating on the subordinated debt

of the African Development Bank These ratings have stable

outlook and reflect the Banks strong financial position includ

ing strong capital adequacy and liquidity prudent financial

management and policies solid membership support and its

preferred creditor status

Authorized and Subscribed Capital 2010-2012

UA millions

2012 2011 2010

Authorized Capital 66975 66055 67687

Paid-up Capital 4963 3289 2376

callable Capital
60252 34033 21549

Total Subscribed Capital
65215 37322 23925
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In November 2012 Standard Poors published its updated

rating methodology for multilateral lending institutions which

assesses the impact of shareholder support as well as an insti

tutions stand-alone credit profile Based on the revised rating

methodology in January 2013 the Banks rating was reaffirmed

at AAA with stable outlook after considering support from

shareholders

The Bank strives to raise funds from the capital markets at the

lowest possible cost to support its lending activities The top

notch credit ratings enjoyed by the Bank enables it to issue

securities at competitive interest rates Its borrowing activi

ties are guided by client and cash flow requirements asset

and liability management goals and risk management policies

The 2012 funding program in capital markets was approved for

maximum amount of UA 3.5 billion including up to UA 70 mil

lion to be drawn under the Enhanced Private Sector Assistance

EPSA1 for Africa initiative During the year the Bank raised

total of UA 2.5 billion with weighted average maturity of 5.9

years No amount was drawn under the EPSA initiative The

actual amount raised was guided by the pace of the project

disbursement needs

In January 2012 the Bank successfully executed one global

benchmark bond with 5-year maturity and for an amount of

USD1 billion The bond was increased in November by an amount

of USD 500 million These transactions are in line with the strat

egy of maintaining presence in the dollar market by providing

investors with at least one new liquid reference bond every year

In addition the Bank was highly active in the Australian dollar

AUD market through kangaroo bonds raising total of AUD

1.2 billion This included 10-year kangaroo bond which was

issued in March with size of AUD 500 million that has since

grown to AUD billion through increases to the transaction

Building on the strength of these public transactions other

issuances in key markets as well as privately placed notes and

uridashis provided funding at very competitive levels The Bank

indeed enjoys good access to funding across all segments of

the capital markets The average cost of funds raised in 2012

remained below the respective 6-month USD LIBOR 6-month

EURIBOR and 3-month JIBAR benchmarks

In 2012 the Bank achieved major breakthrough in the capi

tal markets in Uganda The Ugandan Shilling UGX was des

ignated as one of the Banks lending currencies in September

2011 In this regard UGX 125 billion Medium Term Note MTN

program was established to issue bonds in the Ugandan capi

tal markets and in July 2012 the Bank issued UGX 12.5 bil

lion bond Proceeds of this transaction were on-lent to HFB

Uganda mortgage lender

In addition during the 2012 the Bank and the International

Finance Corporation IFC signed an International Swaps and

Derivatives Association ISDA Master Agreement to enter into

cross-currency transactions to facilitate local currency lending

and bond issuance in Africa It is the first ISDA Master Agreement

either institution has signed with another multilateral financial

institution The agreement will enable the Bank and the IFC to

collaborate and benefit from each others local currency bond

issues enhancing each others local currency funding capacity

to support development projects

The Bank also conducts regular buyback operations of its

bonds to provide liquidity to investors In 2012 the total amount

of these repurchases amounted to UA 120.9 million as against

UA 75.50 million in the previous year As at December 31

2012 the Banks outstanding borrowing portfolio stood at

UA 13.28 billion compared with UA 12.9 billion at the end of

the previous year

The borrowing program for 2013 has been approved by the

Board of Directors for maximum amount of UA 3.76 billion

with up to UA 3.63 billion to be raised from the capital mar

kets and an envelope of UA 130 million under the EPSA facility

In 2012 the Bank saw marked increase in demand out of Japan

for socially responsible bonds Japanese retail investors were

predominantly focused on notes linked to the theme of edu

cation and indeed during the year the Bank issued eight such

education-linked uridashi bonds for total amount of UA 64

million across diverse range of currencies including BRL TRY

and ZAR The Bank was also able to attract socially responsible

institutional investors in Japan through the issuance of USD

20 million clean energy bond

The proceeds of these and previous socially responsible un

dashi bonds were included in the ordinary capital resources of

the Bank Under the terms of these bond issues the Bank is

expected to and does use its best efforts to direct an amount

equal to the net proceeds to lending to projects related to the

relevant theme subject to and in accordance with the Banks

lending standards and guidelines

EPSA is joint initiative with the Government of Japan GOJ under which

the GOJ has made funds available to the Bank through Japan International

cooperation Agency to be drawn down in order to support Private Sector

prolects in the continent
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snapshot of the Banks activity in these sectors is presented

in Table 7.2 below

The Bank utilizes range of financial instruments to meet the

needs of ts borrowers manage its balance sheet to minimize

the impact of fluctuations in market interest rates and exchange

rates and to temporarily invest its liquid resources prior to dis

bursement The Bank is therefore not immune to the various

events arising from the global financial and economic crisis

over the past few years and the intensification of the so-called

Eurozone debt crisis in 2012

The past year has been characterized by credit rating down

grades across both sovereign and banking enbties and has also

highlighted the increased inter-linkages between countries

creditworthiness banking sector and economic performance

which could amplify systemic risks

Despite these challenges the Banks investment strategy has

regularly been adapted to the rapidly changing global financial

market environment with the primary objectives of strengthen

ing the credit quality and liquidity profile of the investment port

folios while limiting the volatility of their returns Indeed pres

ervation of available capital is more important than attempting

to generate higher income by taking additional risks The Bank

has progressively revised and implemented more defensive

asset mix by target ng high credit quality counterparties and

investing in low yield but secured investments including holding

significant cash cushion often with Central Banks while concur

rently reducing the average maturity of the trading portfolios

Despite continuing stressed and sometimes volatile financial

market environment the Bank benefited from its conservative

investment strategy that allowed its treasury portfolio to sig

nificantly outperform last years performance both from an

absolute total investment income and relative performance

measured versus benchmark point of view The Banks cash

and treasury investments net of repurchase agreements as

of December 31 2012 totaled UA 7.37 billion compared to

UA 7.94 billion at the end of 2011 Investment income for 2012

amounted to UA 197.65 million or return of 2.31 percent on

an average liquidity of UA 8.57 billion compared to an income

of UA 168.85 million in 2011 or return of 2.14 percent on an

average liquidity of UA 7.89 billion The higher return in 2012

is primarily due to capital gains in portfolios held for trading

driven by tighter credit spreads over the period Such positive

contribution compensated for the negative effect of the con

tinuing low level of interest rates

The ADBs liquid assets are trenched into portfolios namely

operational portfolio prudential portfolio and equity-backed

portfolio each with different benchmark that reflects the cash

flow and risk profile of its assets and funding sources These

benchmarks are 1-month LIBID for the operational portfolio

and 6-month marked-to-market LIBOR resetting on February

and August for the prudential portfolio The operational and

prudential portfolios are held for trading The equity-backed

portfolio is managed against repricing profile benchmark with

10 percent of the Banks net assets repricing uniformly over

period of 10 years and is held at amortized cost

The Bank makes loans to its regional member countries and

public sector enterprises guaranteed by the government Loans

are also extended to private sector enterprises without gov

ernment guarantee

The Banks development operations are undertaken within risk

management framework which includes clearly defined risk

appetite statement for lending credit risk ii capital adequacy

and exposure management policy iii credit policy iv risk

management governance framework iii credit risk manage

ment guidelines and iv an end-to-end credit process During

the year the Bank established Credit Risk Committee to take

over the risk management oversight of development financing

activities that was in the past carried out by ALCO The Credit

Risk Committees responsibility is to ensure effective imple

mentation of the Banks credit policies and oversee all credit

risk issues related to sovereign and non-sovereign operations

Clean Energy/Green Bonds

Education

Water

Total

2010-2012

274.0

56.1

76.0

406.1

bBonds Nnge
Issued of Bonds

274.5 to 10 years

162.1 to
years

39.5 4years

476.1

it

Socially Responsible Uridashi Bonds

Amounts in UA millions

PIpe

517.6

238.8

1017.6

1774.0
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financial institutions that are engaged in trade finance opera

tions Given the short-term nature of trade finance the recipient

financial institutions are permitted to re-use or revolve the

proceeds until the contractual repayment dates of the facility

The Bank makes capital resources available for SMEs under

agency arrangements with local financial intermediaries The

selection of individual projects for Bank support is largely del

egated to the intermediaries which draw on Bank resources

to make loan or equity investments for the Banks account in

projects meeting pre-agreed criteria As part of an agency

agreement financial intermediaries are required to commit their

own funds in each investment in parallel with the Bank and to

supervise the investee companies The financial intermediary

acts only in an agency capacity for the Bank when investing

the latters funds and assumes no risk in this regards The credit

risk of the borrower is borne by the Bank

Through the guarantee product the Bank seeks to leverage its

preferred creditor status to assist eligible borrowers to obtain

financing from third party lenders including capital markets

Guarantees also enable borrowers to obtain financing in their

own local currency where the Bank is not able to provide such

financing directly from its own resources The Banks guarantees

can generally be classified into two categories Partial Credit

Guarantees PCG5 and Partial Risk Guarantees PRGs PCGs

cover portion of scheduled repayments of private loans or

bonds against all risks PRGs cover private lenders against the

risk of government or government owned agency failing

to perform its obligations vis-à-vis private project

isk Minaqemenr Products

The Bank offers Risk Management Products RMP5 to its bor

rowers only in respect of obligations outstanding to the Bank

or new Bank loans to enable them to hedge their exposure to

market risks including interest rate currency exchange and

commodity price risks thus allowing them to optimize their

debt management strategies RMPs offered by the Bank include

interest rate swaps currency swaps commodity swaps and

interest rate caps and collars These products are available to

borrowers at any time during the life of the loan

iF/ bjtqui itcttuu
In addition to its participation in ADF the Bank takes equity

positions in qualifying business enterprises in its RMCs as part

of its strategic development financing mandate The Banks

ability to provide risk capital through equity and quasi-equity

investments is key element of its resource mobilization role

The use by the Bank of equity and quasi-equity participation

as instruments of investment have the objectives of promot

ing the efficient use of resources promoting African participa

tion playing catalytic role in attracting other investors and

lenders to financially viable projects as well as promoting new

activities and investment ideas The Bank may invest in equi

ties either directly or indirectly through appropriate funds

and other investment vehicles Additionally it may choose to

invest via quasi-equity instruments through redeemable pref

erence shares preferred stock subordinated loans or convert

ible loans During 2012 total of six equity participations

were approved amounting to UA 73.36 million compared to UA

102 million in the previous year Disbursements towards equity

participations during the year reached UA 83.84 million The

details of the Banks equity interest in various enterprises are

included in Note ito the Financial Statements

Otu Fiiincai vce
In addition to the products described above the Bank may

offer technical assistance through grant funds to supplement

its financial products for both the public and private sector

windows The Banks technical assistance is primarily focused

on raising the effectiveness of project preparation which is vital

in ensuring the best developmental and poverty-reducing out

comes for projects that receive Bank financing In addition the

technical assistance also aims to foster and sustain efforts in

creating enabling business environment in order to promote

private sector investment and growth

tsk Mnaçjement Pohcies nd Processes

The Bank seeks to minimize its exposure to risks that are not

essential to its core business of providing development finance

and related assistance Accordingly the Banks risk manage

ment policies guidelines and practices are designed to reduce

exposure to interest rate currency liquidity counterparty legal

and other operational risks while maximizing the Banks capac

ity to assume credit risks to public and private sector clients

within approved risk limits

The policies and practices employed by the Bank to manage

these risks are described in detail in Note to the Financial

Statements

Frianca Reportrng

Corporate governance within the Bank is supported by appropri

ate financial and management reporting The Executive Board

of Directors makes strategic decisions and monitors the Banks

progress toward achievement of set goals While senior manage

ment manages the Banks day-to-day operations and activities

the Board provides oversight advice and counsel on issues as

wide-ranging as long-term strategy budgets human resources

benefits management and new product development Based

on the COSO internal control framework senior management

has put in place robust and functioning mechanism to be

able to certify the effectiveness of the Banks internal controls

over external financial reporting This annual certification state-
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ment is signed by the President and Vice President Finance

as well as the Financial Controller separate attestation is also

provided by the Banks external auditors In 2012 the Board of

Directors approved the Operational Risk Management ORM
framework with the overall objective of strengthening the overall

risk management capability of the Bank whilst ensuring that

well-structured and disciplined approach is adopted in the man

agement of operational risks inherent in the business processes

of the Bank In addition the Bank has comprehensive system

of reporting to the Board of Directors and its committees This

includes reporting by the Office of the Auditor General to the

Audit and Finance AUFI Committee of the Board of Directors

The Banks external auditors are appointed by the Board of

Governors on the recommendation of the Board of Directors

for five-year term Under Bank rules no firm of auditors

can serve for more than two consecutive five-year terms

The external audit function is statutory and is regulated by

the International Standards on Auditing ISA issued by the

International Federation of Accountants IFAC through the

International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board The

external auditors perform an annual audit to enable them to

express an opinion on whether the financial statements of the

Bank present fairly the financial position and the results of the

operations of the Bank They also examine whether the state

ments have been presented in accordance with International

Financial Reporting Standards In addition as described above

the external auditors also carry out comprehensive review

Key Performance Indicators Finandal 2011 and 2012

and provide opinion on the effectiveness of the Banks inter

nal controls over financial reporting This attestation is given

as report separate from the audit opinion At the conclusion

of their annual audit the external auditors prepare manage

ment letter for Senior Management which is reviewed in detail

and discussed with the Audit and Finance Committee of the

Board The management letter sets out the external auditors

observations and recommendations for improvement on inter

nal controls and other matters and it includes managements

responses and actions for implementation of the auditors rec

ommendations The performance and independence of the

external auditors is subject to review on an annual basis by the

Audit and Finance AUFI Committee of the Board

There are key provisions in the Banks policy regarding the inde

pendence of the external auditors including requirement for

the mandatory rotation of the Engagement Partner in cases

where the term of the audit firm is renewed for second and

final five-year period The external auditors are prohibited from

providing non-audit related services subject to certain excep

tions if it is judged to be in the interest of the Bank and if it is

approved by the Audit and Finance Committee

In managing its operations the Bank uses quantified perfor

mance measures and indicators that reflect the critical success

factors in its business These are monitored on continuous

basis and results achieved are used to assess progress attained

against stated objectives and to inform required action in order

Definition Importance to the business and management 2012 2011

This is measure of the average
return generated or lost due to the investment of liquid funds

Average Return on Investments In other words it is measure of how profitable the investments are in generating revenue to

the Bank pending disbursement for project financing

This is measure of the Banks financial leverage calculated by dividing its total debt by usable

Total Debt to Usable Capital

capital It
indicates what proportion of equity and debt the Bank is using to finance its operations

This measures the efficiency of the funds transfer
process Timely settlement of financial obligations

Settlement Failure Rate

is important as measure of the efficiency of the Banks processes

Timeliness of Preparation of Reporting of key financial performance metrics in timely manner aids decision making by

Financial Highlights management and facilitates the required corrective action to improve performance

This KPI represents the impairment on loans as proportion of the period-end balances The

Impairment Loss Ratio

granting of credit is the main
purpose

of the Bank and it is also one of the Banks principal sources

Non-Sovereign Portfolio only
of income and risk The loan loss ratio is an indicator of the quality and recoverability of loans

granted to non-sovereign borrowers

Administrative Budget Utilization Rate This KPI helps monitor the effective utilization of the Banks administrative budget resources by

excluding depreciation Organizational Units and its adequacy for effective delivery of the approved Work Programme

2.31% 2.14%

49.88% 54.67%

0.30% 0.49%

Within one month Within one month

of period end of period end

1.04% 1.36%

99% 83%
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Chapter African Development Bank

Outlook for 2013

Despite the positive signs of economic recovery in the Banks

external environment particularly in the US and emerging mar

kets and including in particular Africas own performance the

global macro-economic political and reporting environment

remains uncertain and challenging The Bank will continue to

put the needs of its Regional Member Countries IRMCs at the

centre of its business operations It will continue to support eco

nomic growth in RMCs more broadly and generate the required

target financial returns over time

Significant Volatility Expected in 2013

The Banks financial results are sensitive to changes in the

economic environment within the continent and in the global

financial markets Changes within the continent have direct

impact on the volume of lending and timing of repayments on

______
the Banks loans On the other hand changes in global finan

cial markets will create volatility in interest rates on the Banks

treasury investments thereby affecting the Banks income It

is anticipated that the financial markets will continue to show

significant volatility throughout 2013 Moreover any downgrade

in the credit rating of its member countries could impact the

Banks future performance and results All these are expected

to cause variability in the Banks income statement and reserves

both in terms of actual results and movements in the fair value

of the Banks investments and treasury portfolio

Bank has the required Balance and Flexibility

The Bank continues to take steps to reduce costs and improve

operational efficiency The Banks recent upgrade of its SAP

ERP system is expected to provide useful tool for cost moni

toring and reduction while delivering faster and more efficient

service both internally and to clients And finally the one Bank

business model as well as the Banks solid capital liquidity and

funding positions provide the Bank Groupincluding the African

Development Fund and the Nigeria Trust Funda strong basis

balance and flexibility to meet the challenges ahead

68
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BORROWINGS Note

Borrowings at fair value

Borrowings at amortiied cost

FQUITY Note
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Subscriptions paid
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AOUNIS PAYABLE
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE iNCOME

FOR TIlE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 2012

housards Note
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECENER 31 2012
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Functional and Presentation Currencies

The Bank conducts its operations in the currencies of its member countries As result of the application of lAS 21 revised The

Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates the Bank prospectively changed its functional currency from the currencies of

all its member countries to the Unit of Account UA effective January 2005 as it was concluded that the UA most faithfully

represented the aggregation of economic effects of the underlying transactions events and conditions of the Bank conducted in

different currencies The UA is also the currency in which the financial statements are presented The value of the Unit of Account

is defined in Article 5.1 of the Agreement establishing the Bank the Agreement as equivalent to one Special Drawing Right

SDR of the International Monetary Fund IMF or any unit adopted for the same purpose by the IMF

Currency Translation

Income and expenses are translated to UA at the rates prevailing on the date of the transaction Monetary assets and liabilities are

translated into UA at rates prevailing at the balance sheet date The rates used for translating currencies into UA at December 31

2012 and 2011 are reported in Note V-i Non-monetary assets and liabilities are translated into UA at historical rates Translation

differences are included in the determination of net income Capital subscriptions are recorded in UA at the rates prevailing at

the time of receipt The translation difference relating to payments of capital subscriptions is reported in the financial statements

as the Cumulative Exchange Adjustment on Subscriptions CEAS This is composed of the difference between the UA amount

at the predetermined rate and the UA amount using the rate at the time of receipt When currencies are converted into other

currencies the resulting gains or losses are included in the determination of net income

Member Countries Subscriptions

Although the Agreement establishing the ADB allows for member country to withdraw from the Bank no member has ever

withdrawn its membership voluntarily nor has any indicated to the Bank that it intends to do so The stability in the membership

reflects the fact that the members are African and non-African countries committed to the purpose of the Bank to contribute to

the sustainable economic development and social progress of its regional member countries individually and jointly Accordingly

as of December 31 2012 the Bank did not expect to distribute any portion of its net assets due to member country withdrawals

In the unlikely event of withdrawal by member the Bank shall arrange for the repurchase of the former members shares

The repurchase price of the shares is the value shown by the books of the Bank on the date the country ceases to be member

hereafter referred to as the termination date The Bank may partially or fully offset amounts due for shares purchased against

the members liabilities on loans and guarantees due to the Bank The former member would remain liable for direct obligations

and contingent liabilities to the Bank for so long as any parts of the loans or guarantees contracted before the termination date

are outstanding If at date subsequent to the termination date it becomes evident that losses may not have been sufficiently

taken into account when the repurchase price was determined the former member may be required to pay on demand the

amount by which the repurchase price of the shares would have been reduced had the losses been taken into account when the

repurchase price was determined In addition the former member remains liable on any call subsequent to the termination date

for unpaid subscriptions to the extent that it would have been required to respond if the impairment of capital had occurred

and the call had been made at the time the repurchase price of its shares was determined

Were member to withdraw the Bank may set the dates in respect of payments for shares repurchased If for example paying

former member would have adverse consequences for the Banks financial position the Bank could defer payment until the

risk had passed and indefinitely if appropriate Furthermore shares that become unsubscribed for any reason may be offered

by the Bank for purchase by eligible member countries based on the share transfer rules approved by the Board of Governors

In any event no payments shall be made until six months after the termination date

If the Bank were to terminate its operations all liabilities of the Bank would first be settled out of the assets of the Bank and

then if necessary out of members callable capital before any distribution could be made to any member country Such distri

bution is subject to the prior decision of the Board of Governors of the Bank and would be based on the pro-rata share of each

member country
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Employee Benefits

Pension Obligations

The Bank operates contributory defined benefit pension plan for its employees The Staff Retirement Plan SRP provides benefit

payments to participants upon retirement defined benefit plan is pension plan that defines an amount of pension benefit that

an employee will receive on retirement usually dependent on one or more factors such as age years of service and compensa

tion An actuarial valuation of the cost of providing benefits for the SRP is determined using the Projected Unit Credit Method

Upon reaching retirement age pension is calculated based on the average remuneration for the final three years of pensionable

service and the pension is subject to annual inflationary adjustments Actuarial gains and losses are recognized immediately

in other comprehensive income in the year they occur Past service cost is recognized immediately to the extent that benefits

are already vested otherwise amortized on straight-line basis over the average period until the benefits become vested The

pension liability is recognized as part of other accounts payable in the balance sheet The liability represents the present value

of the Banks defined benefit obligations net of the fair value of plan assets

Post-Employmerit Medical Benefits

The Bank operates contributory defined Medical Benefit Plan MBP which provides post-employment healthcare benefits to

eligible former staff including retirees Membership of the MBP includes both staff and retirees of the Bank The entitlement to

the post-retirement healthcare benefit is usually conditional on the employee contributing to the Plan up to retirement age and

the completion of minimum service period The expected costs of these benefits derive from contributions from plan mem

bers as well as the Bank and are accrued over the period of employment and during retirement Contributions by the Bank to

the MBP are charged to expenses and included in the income statement The MBP Board an independent body created by the

Bank determines the adequacy of the contributions and is authorized to recommend changes to the contribution rates of both

the Bank and plan members Actuarial gains and losses are recognized immediately in other comprehensive income in the year

they occur The medical plan liability is recognized as part of other accounts payable in the balance sheet The liability represents

the present value of the Banks post-employment medical benefit obligations net of the fair value of plan assets

Financial Instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized on the Banks balance sheet when the Bank assumes related contractual

rights or obligations

Financial Assets

In accordance with IFRS the Bank manages its financial assets in line with the applicable business model and accordingly

classifies its financial assets into the following categories financial assets at amortized cost financial assets at fair value through

profit or loss FVTPL and financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income FVTOCD In accordance with the

Banks business model financial assets are held either for the stabilization of income through the management of net interest

margin or for liquidity management The Banks investments in the equity of enterprises whether in the private or public is for

the promotion of economic development of its member countries and not for trading to realize fair value changes Management

determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition

Financial Assets at Amortized Cost

financial asset is classified as at amortized cost only if the asset meets the objective of the Banks business model to hold

the asset to collect the contractual cash flows and the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are

solely payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding The nature of any derivatives embedded in debt invest

ment are considered in determining whether the cash flows of the investment are solely payment of principal and interest

on the principal outstanding and are not accounted for separately

If either of the two criteria above is not met the financial asset is classified as at fair value through profit or loss
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Financial assets at amortized cost include some loans and receivables on amounts advanced to borrowers and certain debt

investments that meet the criteria of financial assets at amortized cost Receivables comprise demand obligations accrued

income and receivables from loans and investments and other amounts receivable Loans and receivables meeting the two

criteria above are carried at amortized cost using the effective interest method

Loan origination fees are deferred and recognized over the life of the related loan as an adjustment of yield However incre

mental direct costs associated with originating loans are expensed as incurred as such amounts are considered insignificant

The amortization of loan origination fee is included in income from loans

Investments classified as financial assets at amortized cost include investments that are non-derivative financial assets with

fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities These investments are carried and subsequently measured at amor

tized cost using the effective interest method

ii Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss FVTPL

Debt instruments that do not meet the amortized cost criteria as described above are measured at FVTPL This category

includes all treasury assets held for resale to realize short-term fair value changes as well as certain loans for which either of

the criteria for recognition at amortized cost is not met Gains and losses on these financial assets are reported in the income

statement in the period in which they arise Derivatives are also categorized as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

In addition debt instruments that meet amortized cost criteria can be designated and measured at FVTPL debt instrument

may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if such designation eliminates or significantly reduces measure

ment or recognition inconsistency that would arise from measuring assets or liabilities or recognizing the gains and losses

on them on different bases

iii Financial Assets at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income FVTOCI
On initial recognition the Bank can make an irrevocable election on an instrument-by-instrument basis to designate invest

ments in equity instruments not held for trading as financial assets measured at FVTOCI

Equity investments are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs Subsequently they are measured at fair value

with gains and losses arising from changes in fair value recognized in other comprehensive income The cumulative gains or

losses are not reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the investments and no impairments are recognized in profit or loss

Dividends earned from such investments are recognized in profit and loss unless the dividends clearly represent repayment

of part of the cost of the investment

Recognition and Derecognition of Financial Assets

Purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized or derecognized on trade-date basis which is the date on which the Bank

commits to purchase or sell the asset Loans are recognized when cash is advanced to the borrowers Financial assets not carried

at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognized at fair value plus transaction costs Financial assets are derecognized

when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or where the Bank has transferred substantially all

risks and rewards of ownership

Securities Purchased under Resale Agreements and Securities Sold under Repurchase Agreements

Securities purchased under resale agreements and securities sold under repurchase agreements are reported at market rates

The Bank receives securities purchased under resale agreements monitors their fair value and if necessary may require addi

tional collateral

Cash and Cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand demand deposits and other short-term highly liquid investments that are

readily convertible to known amount of cash are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value and have time to maturity

upon acquisition of three months or less
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Financial Liabilities

Borrowings

In the ordinary course of its business the Bank borrows funds in the major capital markets for lending and liquidity man

agement purposes The Bank issues debt instruments denominated in various currencies with differing maturities at fixed

or variable interest rates The Banks borrowing strategy is driven by three major factors namely timeliness in meeting cash

flow requirements optimizing asset and liability management with the objective of mitigating exposure to financial risks

and providing cost-effective funding

In addition to long and medium-term borrowings the Bank also undertakes short-term borrowing for cash and liquidity man

agement purposes only Borrowings not designated at fair value through profit or loss are carried on the balance sheet at

amortized cost with interest expense determined using the effective interest method Borrowing expenses are recognized in

profit or loss and include the amortization of issuance costs discounts and premiums which is determined using the effec

tive interest method Borrowing activities may create exposure to market risk most notably interest rate and currency risks

The Bank uses derivatives and other risk management approaches to mitigate such risks Details of the Banks risk manage

ment policies and practices are contained in Note to these financial statements Certain of the Banks borrowings obtained

prior to 1990 from the governments of certain member countries of the Bank are interest-free loans In accordance with the

provisions of the amendments resulting from the improvements to IFRS issued in May 2008 relating to the revised lAS 20

Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of Government Assistance such borrowings are carried at the amounts

at which they are repayable on their due dates

ii Financial Liabilities at Fair Value through Profit or Loss

This category has two sub-categories financial liabilities held for trading and those designated at fair value through profit

or loss at inception Derivatives are categorized as held-for-trading The Bank applies fair value designation primarily to bor

rowings that have been swapped into floating-rate debt using derivative contracts In these cases the designation of the

borrowing at fair value through profit or loss is made in order to significantly reduce accounting mismatches that otherwise

would have arisen if the borrowings were carried on the balance sheet at amortized cost while the related swaps are carried

on the balance sheet at fair value

In accordance with IFRS fair value changes for financial liabilities that are designated as at fair value through profit or loss

that is attributable to changes in the Banks own credit risk is recognized in other comprehensive income Changes in fair

value attributable to the Banks credit risk are not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss

iii Other Liabilities

All financial liabilities that are not derivatives or designated at fair value through profit or loss are recorded at amortized cost

The amounts include certain borrowings accrued finance charges on borrowings and other accounts payable

Financial liabilities are derecognized when they are discharged or canceled or when they expire

Derivatives

The Bank uses derivative instruments in its portfolios for asset/liability management cost reduction risk management and hedg

ing purposes These instruments are mainly cross-currency swaps and interest rate swaps The derivatives on borrowings are

used to modify the interest rate or currency characteristics of the debt the Bank issues This economic relationship is established

on the date the debt is issued and maintained throughout the terms of the contracts The interest component of these deriva

tives is reported as part of borrowing expenses

The Bank classifies all derivatives at fair value with all changes in fair value recognized in the income statement When the crite

ria for the application of the fair value option are met then the related debt is also carried at fair value with changes in fair value

recognized in the income statement
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The Bank assesses its hybrid financial assets i.e the combined financial asset host and embedded derivative in its entirety to

determine their classification hybrid financial asset is measured at amortized cost if the combined cash flows represent sole

ly principal and interest on the outstanding principal otherwise it is measured at fair value The Bank did not hold any hybrid

financial assets as at December 31 2012

Derivatives embedded in financial liabilities or other non-financial host contracts are treated as separate derivatives when their

risks and characteristics were not closely related to those of the host contract and the host contract was not carried at fair value

with unrealized gains or losses reported in profit or loss Such derivatives were stripped from the host contract and measured at

fair value with unrealized gains and losses reported in profit or loss

Hedge Accounting

The Bank applies fair value hedge accounting to interest rate swaps contracted to hedge the interest rate risk exposure associ

ated with its fixed rate loans Under fair value hedge accounting the change in the fair value of the hedging instrument and the

change in the fair value of the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk are recognized in the income statement

At inception of the hedge the Bank documents the relationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged item along

with its risk management objectives and its strategy for undertaking the hedge transactions Furthermore at the inception of the

hedge and on an ongoing basis the Bank documents whether the hedging instrument is highly effective in offsetting changes

in fair values of the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk Hedge accounting is discontinued when the Bank revokes the

hedging relationship when the hedging instrument expires or is sold terminated or exercised or when it no longer qualifies for

hedge accounting The cumulative fair value adjustment to the carrying amount of the hedged item arising from the hedged

risk is amortized to profit or loss from that date

Impairment of Financial Assets

Assets Carried at Amortized Cost

The Bank first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets If the Bank determines

that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset that asset is included in group of

financial assets with similar credit characteristics and collectively assessed for impairment Assets that are individually assessed

for impairment and for which an impairment loss is or continues to be recognized are not included in collective assessment of

impairment financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred if and only if there

is objective evidence of impairment as result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset

loss event and that loss event or events has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of

financial assets that can be reliably estimated

If the Bank determines that there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables or investments carried

at amortized cost has been incurred the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the assets car

rying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred

discounted at the financial assets original effective interest rate For sovereign-guaranteed loans the estimated impairment

representing present value losses arises from delays that may be experienced in receiving amounts due For non-sovereign-

guaranteed loans the impairment reflects managements best estimate of the non-collectability in whole or in part of amounts

due as well as delays in the receipt of such amounts

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognized in

the income statement If loan or investment carried at amortized cost has variable interest rate the discount rate for measur

ing any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate determined under the contract Interest and charges are accrued on

all loans including those in arrears When subsequent event causes the amount of impairment loss to decrease the decrease

in impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss
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Offsetting Financia instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and reported on net basis when there is legally enforceable right to offset the rec

ognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on net basis or realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously

Fair Vaue Disdosure

In liquid or active markets the most reliable indicators of fair value are quoted market prices financial instrument is regarded

as quoted in an active market if quoted prices are regularly available from an exchange dealer broker industry group pricing

service or regulatory agency and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arms length

basis If the above criteria are not met the market is regarded as being inactive Indications that market might be inactive include

when there is wide bid-offer spread or significant increase in the bid-offer spread or there are few or no recent transactions

observed in the market When markets become illiquid or less active market quotations may not represent the prices at which

orderly transactions would take place between willing buyers and sellers and therefore may require adjustment in the valua

tion process Consequently in an inactive market price quotations are not necessarily determinative of fair values Considerable

judgment is required to distinguish between active and inactive markets

The fair values of quoted assets in active markets are based on current bid prices while those of liabilities are based on cur

_______
rent asking prices For financial instruments with inactive markets or unlisted securities the Bank establishes fair value by using

valuation techniques that incorporate the maximum use of market data inputs These include the use of recent arms length

transactions discounted cash flow analysis option pricing models and other valuation techniques commonly used by market

participants Financial instruments for which market quotations are not readily available have been valued using methodologies

and assumptions that necessarily require the use of subjective judgments Accordingly the actual value at which such financial

instruments could he exchanged in current transaction or whether they are actually exchangeable is not readily determinable

Management believes that these methodologies and assumptions are reasonable however the values actually realizable in

sale might be different from the fair values disclosed

The following three hierarchical levels are used for the determination of fair value

Level Quoted prices in active markets for the same instrument i.e without modification or repackaging

Level Quoted prices in active markets for similar assets or liabilities or other valuation techniques for which all significant inputs

are based on observable market data

Level Valuation techniques for which any significant input is not based on observable market data

The methods and assumptions used by the Bank in estimating the fair values of financial instruments are as follows

Cash The carrying amount is the fair value

Investments Fair values for investment securities are based on quoted market prices where available If quoted market prices

are not available fair values are based on quoted market prices of comparable instruments

Borrowings The fair values of the Banks borrowings are based on market quotations when possible or valuation techniques

based on discounted cash flow models using LIBOR market-determined discount curves adjusted by the Banks credit spread

Credit spreads are obtained from market data as well as indicative quotations received from certain counterparties for the Banks

new public bond issues The Bank also uses systems based on industry standard pricing models and valuation techniques to

value borrowings and their associated derivatives The models use market-sourced inputs such as interest rates yield curves

exchange rates and option volatilities Valuation models are subject to internal and periodic external reviews When determi

nation is made that the market for an existing borrowing is inactive or illiquid appropriate adjustments are made to the relevant

observable market data to arrive at the Banks best estimate of the price at which the Bank could have bought back the bor

rowing at the balance sheet date
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For borrowings on which the Bank has elected fair value option the portion of fair value changes on the valuation of borrowings

relating to the credit risk of the Bank is reported in Other Comprehensive Income in accordance with IFRS

Equity Investments The underlying assets of entities in which the Bank has equity investments are periodically fair valued both

by fund managers and independent valuation experts using market practices The fair value of investments in listed enterprises

is based on the latest available quoted bid prices The fair value of investments in unlisted entities is assessed using appropriate

methods for example discounted cash flows The fair value of the Banks equity participations is estimated as the Banks per

centage ownership of the net asset value of the funds

Derivative Financial Instruments The fair values of derivative financial instruments are based on market quotations when pos

sible or valuation techniques that use market estimates of cash flows and discount rates The Bank also uses valuation tools

based on industry standard pricing models and valuation techniques to value derivative financial instruments The models use

market-sourced inputs such as interest rates yield curves exchange rates and option volatilities All financial models used for

valuing the Banks financial instruments are subject to both internal and periodic external reviews

Loans The Bank does not sell its sovereign loans nor does it believe there is comparable market for these loans The fair value

of loans reported in these financial statements represents Managements best estimates of the expected cash flows of its loans

The fair valuation of loans has been determined using discounted cash flow model based on year-end market lending rates

in currencies including impairment percentages when applicable and credit spreads for non-sovereign loans The changes in

fair value of loans carried at fair value through profit and loss are reported in the income statement However the estimated fair

value of loans carried at amortized cost is provided in the notes to the financial statements for disclosure purposes only The

estimated fair value of loans is disclosed in Note

Day One Profit and Loss

The best evidence of the fair value of financial instrument at initial recognition is the transaction price i.e the fair value of the

consideration given or received gain or loss may only be recognized on initial recognition of financial instrument if the fair

value of that instrument is evidenced by comparison with other observable current market transactions in the same instrument

i.e without modification or repackaging or based on valuation technique whose variables include only data from observable

markets On initial recognition gain or loss may not be recognized when using valuation technique that does not incorporate

data solely from observable markets The Bank only recognizes gains or losses after initial recognition to the extent that they

arise from change in factor including time that market participants would consider in setting price

The Bank holds financial instruments some maturing after more than ten years where fair value is determined based on valua

tion models that use inputs that may not be market-observable as of the calculation date Such financial instruments are initially

recognized at the transaction price although the value obtained from the relevant valuation model may differ The difference

between the transaction price and the model value commonly referred to as day one profit and loss is either amortized

over the life of the transaction or deferred until the instruments fair value can be determined using market observable inputs

or is realized through settlement The financial instrument is subsequently measured at fair value adjusted for the deferred day

one profit and loss Subsequent changes in fair value are recognized immediately in the income statement without immediate

reversal of deferred day one profits and losses

Investment in Associate

Under lAS 28 Investments in Associates the ADF and any other entity in which the Bank has significant influence are considered

associates of the Bank An associate is an entity over which the Bank has significant influence but not control over the entitys

financial and operating policy decisions The relationship between the Bank and the ADF is described in more detail in Note

lAS 28 requires that the equity method be used to account for investments in associates Under the equity method an invest

ment in an associate is initially recognized at cost and the carrying amount is increased or decreased to recognize the investors

share of the profit or loss of the investee after the date of acquisition The investors share of the profit or loss of the investee is

recognized in the investors income statement The subscriptions by the Bank to the capital of the ADF occurred between 1974

and 1990 At December 31 2012 such subscriptions cumulatively represented approximately percent of the economic interest

in the capital of the ADF
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Although ADF is not-for-profit entity and has never distributed any dividend to its subscribers since its creation in 1972 the

revisions to lAS 28 require that the equity method be used to account for the Banks investment in the ADF Furthermore in

accordance with lAS 36 the net investment in the ADF is assessed for impairment Cumulative losses as measured under the

equity method are limited to the investments original cost as the ADB has not guaranteed any potential losses of the ADF

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment is measured at historical cost less depreciation Historical cost includes expenditure directly attributable

to the acquisition of the items Subsequent costs are included in the assets carrying amount or are recognized as separate asset

as appropriate only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Bank and the cost

of the item can be measured reliably Repairs and maintenance are charged to the income statement when they are incurred

Land is not depreciated Depreciation on other assets is calculated using the straight-line method to amortize the difference

between cost and estimated residual values over estimated useful lives The estimated useful lives are as follows

Buildings 15-20 years

Fixtures and fittings 6-10 years

Furniture and equipment 3-7 years

Motor vehicles years

The residual values and useful lives of assets are reviewed periodically and adjusted if appropriate Assets that are subject to

amortization are reviewed annually for impairment An assets carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable

amount if the assets carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount The recoverable amount is the higher of

the assets fair value less costs to sell and its value in use Gains and losses on disposal are determined as the difference between

proceeds and the assets carrying amount and are included in the income statement in the period of disposal

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets include computer systems software and are stated at historical cost less amortization An intangible asset is

recognized only when its cost can be measured reliably and it is probable that the expected future economic benefits attribut

able to it will flow to the Bank Amortization of intangible assets is calculated using the straight-line method to write down the

cost of intangible assets to their residual values over their estimated useful lives of 3-5 years

Leases

The Bank has entered into several operating lease agreements including those for its offices in Tunisia and in certain other

regional member countries Under such agreements all the risks and benefits of ownership are effectively retained by the lessor

Payments made under operating leases are charged to the income statement on straight-line basis over the period of the lease

Benefits received and receivable as an incentive to enter into an operating lease are also recognized on straight-line basis over

the lease term When an operating lease is terminated before the lease period has expired any payment required to be made to

the lessor by way of penalty is recognized as an expense in the period in which the termination takes place

Allocations and Distributions of Income Approved by the Board of Governors

In accordance with the Agreement establishing the Bank the Board of Governors is the sole authority for approving allocations

from income to surplus account or distributions to other entities for development purposes Surplus consists of earnings from

prior years which are retained by the Bank until further decision is made on their disposition or the conditions of distribution

for specified uses have been met Distributions of income for development purposes are reported as expenses on the Income

Statement in the year of approval Distributions of income for development purposes may be funded from amounts previously

transferred to surplus account or from the current years income

Retained Earnings

Retained earnings of the Bank consist of amounts allocated to reserves from prior years income balance of amounts allocated to

surplus after deducting distributions approved by the Board of Governors unallocated current years net income and expenses

recognized directly in equity as required by IFRS

84
Annual Report 2012



African Development Bank Chapter

Critical Accounting Judgments and Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

In the preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS Management makes certain estimates assumptions and judg

ments that affect the reported amounts of assets liabilities revenue and expenses as well as the disclosure of contingent liabilities

Actual results could differ from such estimates Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical

experience and other factors including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances

The most significant judgments and estimates are summarized below

Significant Judgments

The Banks accounting policies require that assets and liabilities be designated at inception into different accounting categories

Such decisions require significant judgment and relate to the following circumstances

Fair Value through Profit and Loss In designating financial assets or liabilities at fair value through profit or loss the Bank has

determined that such assets or liabilities meet the criteria for this classification

Amortized Cost for EmbeddedDeri vatives The Bank follows the guidance of IFRS on classifying financial assets with embed

ded derivatives in their entirety as at amortized cost or fair value through profit or loss In making this judgment the Bank con

siders whether the cash flows of the financial asset are solely payment of principal and interest on the principal outstanding and

classifies the qualifying asset accordingly without separating the derivative

Significant Estimates

The Bank also uses estimates for its financial statements in the following circumstances

Impairment Losses on Financial Assets Measured at Amortized Cost At each financial statements reporting date the Bank

reviews its financial assets measured at amortized cost for impairment The Bank first assesses whether objective evidence of

impairment exists for individual assets If such objective evidence exists impairment is determined by discounting expected

future cash flows using the assets original effective interest rate and comparing this amount to the assets net carrying amount

Determining the amount and timing of future cash flows on impaired assets requires significant judgment If the Bank determines

that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed asset that asset is included in group of assets with

similar credit characteristics and collectively assessed for impairment Objective evidence of impairment for group of assets

may include observable data indicating that there has been an adverse change in the payment status of borrowers in group or

national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on assets in the group Management uses estimates based on

historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics and objective evidence of impairment similar to those in the

portfolio when scheduling its future cash flows The methodology and assumptions used for estimating both the amount and

timing of future cash flows are reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience

Fair Value of Financial Instruments The fair value of financial instruments that are not quoted in active markets is determined

by using valuation techniques Where valuation techniques for example models are used to determine fair values they are

validated and periodically reviewed by qualified personnel independent of the area that created them All valuation models are

calibrated to ensure that outputs reflect actual data and comparative market prices To the extent practical valuation models use

only observable data however areas such as credit risk both own and counterparty volatilities and correlations require manage

ment to make estimates Changes in assumptions about these factors could affect the reported fair value of financial instruments

Retirement Benefits The present value of retirement benefit obligations is sensitive to the actuarial and financial assumptions

used including the discount rate At the end of each year the Bank determines the appropriate discount rate to be used to

determine the present value of estimated future pension obligations based on interest rates of suitably long-term high-quality

corporate bonds in the currencies comprising the Banks UA

Events after the Balance Sheet Date

The financial statements are adjusted to reflect events that occurred between the balance sheet date and the date when the

financial statements are authorized for issue provided they give evidence of conditions that existed at the balance sheet date
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Events that are indicative of conditions that arose after the balance sheet date are disclosed but do not result in an adjustment

of the financial statements themselves

Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications of prior years amounts have been made to conform to the presentation in the current year These reclas

sifications did not affect prior years reported result

NOTE THE EFFECT OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL

REPORTING STANDARDS

Standards Amendments and Interpretations issued but not yet effective

At the date of issue of these financial statements certain new and amended International Financial Reporting Standards and

Interpretations are not yet effective for application and have not been applied in preparing these financial statements The fol

lowing new standards and amendments are expected to be relevant to the Bank

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements

IFRS 10 was issued in May 2011 and is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 2013 IFRS 10 introduces new

control model to determine whether an investee should be consolidated This IFRS defines the principle of control and estab

lishes control as the sole basis for determining which entities should be consolidated by the reporting entity It also establishes

principles for the presentation and preparation of consolidated financial statements when an entity has determined that it con

trols one or more other entities

The adoption of IFRS 10 is not expected to have any significant impact on the Banks financial position or performance

IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interest in Other Entities

IFRS 12 was issued in May 2011 and is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 2013 with early adoption per

mitted IFRS 12 requires an entity to disclose information that enables users of financial statements to evaluate the nature of and

risks associated with its interests in other entities and the effects of those interests on its financial position financial performance

and cash flows IFRS 12 is required to be applied by an entity that has an interest in any of the following entities subsidiaries joint

arrangements associates and unconsolidated structured entities This standard requires disclosures of interests in subsidiaries

and associates and also expands the disclosure requirements for unconsolidated structured entities

The adoption of IFRS 12 is not expected to have any significant impact on the Banks financial position or performance as it only

relates to disclosures However the Bank will be required to make appropriate additional disclosures in its financial statements

upon adoption

IFRS 13 Fair Value

IFRS 13 was issued in May 2011 and is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 2013 with early adoption per

mitted IFRS 13 defines fair value sets out in single IFRS framework for measuring fair value and requires disclosures about

fair value measurements

IFRS 13 explains how to measure fair value for financial reporting which is market-based measurement not an entity-specific

measurement It does not require fair value measurements in addition to those already required or permitted by other standards

and is not intended to establish valuation standards or affect valuation practices outside financial reporting However this stand

ard expands the concepts and principles behind fair valuation In addition extensive disclosures about fair value are required

under IFRS 13 and in particular when an entity relies on unobservable valuation inputs under the level fair valuation hierarchy

The adoption of IFRS 13 is not expected to have any significant impact on the Banks financial position or performance However

the Bank will be required to make appropriate additional disclosures in its financial statements upon adoption
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lAS 19 Revised Employee Benefits

The amendments to lAS 19 was issued in June 2011 and is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 2013 with

early adoption permitted The key changes in the amended standard correspond to the elimination of the option to defer the

recognition of actuarial gains and losses known as the corridor method Accordingly under the amended standard all actu

arial gains and losses have to be recognized immediately in OCI In addition an entity is no longer able to recognize in profit or

loss the long-term expected return on assets held Finally the amended standard requires enhanced disclosures about defined

benefit plans

The adoption of the amended lAS 19 is not expected to have any significant effect on the net income of the Bank in terms of

recognition of actuarial gains and losses because the Bank already recognizes such gains and losses in OCI under the option

provided in the current version of lAS 19 The main impact will arise from the expected change in the measurement principles of

the expected returns on plans assets upon adoption of the amended standard

IFRS Financial Instruments Disclosures and lAS 32 Financial Instruments Presentation

In December 2011 IASB issued new disclosure requirements in respect of the effect of offsetting arrangements on an entitys

financial position as part of common project with the US Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB The new require

ments are set out in Disclosures-Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities amendment to IFRS and are related to

financial assets and liabilities that are offset in the statement of financial position or that are subject to master netting arrange

ments or similar agreements As part of the same project the IASB also published Disclosures-Offsetting Financial Assets and

Financial Liabilities amendment to lAS 32 clarifying the offsetting criteria in lAS 32 to address inconsistency in their application

These amendments to IFRS and lAS 32 are to be applied in the financial statements for the annual periods beginning on or

after January 2013 and annual periods beginning on or after January 2014 respectively

The adoption of such amendments is not expected to have any significant impact on the Banks financial position or performance

NOTE RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND PROCEDURES

In carrying out its development mandate the Bank seeks to maximize its capacity to assume core business risks resulting from

its lending and investing operations while at the same time minimizing its non-core business risks market risk counterparty risk

and operational risk that are incidental but nevertheless critical to the execution of its mandate

The degree of risk the Bank is willing to assume to achieve its development mandate is limited by its risk-bearing capacity This

institutional risk appetite is embodied in the Banks capital adequacy policy and its commitment to maintain prudent risk pro

file consistent with the highest credit rating In 2011 the Bank through comprehensive exercise re-defined its risk appetite

and revised the capital adequacy policy As result of this exercise the Bank allocates its risk capital between non-core risks

10 percent with sovereign and non-sovereign operations sharing equally the remaining balance 45 percent each As part of

the revision the Banks rating scale was also revised as explained under systematic credit risk assessment below

The policies processes and procedures by which the Bank manages its risk profile continually evolve in response to market credit

product and other developments The highest level of risk management oversight is assured by the Banks Board of Executive

Directors which is chaired by the President The Board of Directors is committed to the highest standards of corporate govern

ance In addition to approving all risk management policies the Board of Directors regularly reviews trends in the Banks risk

profiles and performance to ensure compliance with the underlying policies

The guiding principles by which the Bank manages its risks are governed by the General Authority on the Banks Financial

Products and Services the FPS Authority the General Authority on Asset Liability Management the ALM Authority and the

Banks Credit Risk Management Guidelines

Annual Report 2012 87



Chapter African Development Bank

The FPS Authority provides the framework under which the Bank develops and implements financial products and services for

its borrowers and separate guidelines prescribe the rules governing the management of credit and operational risk for the Banks

sovereign and non-sovereign loan guarantee and equity investment portfolios

The ALM Authority is the overarching framework through which Management has been vested with the authority to manage the

Banks financial assets and liabilities within defined parameters The ALM Authority sets out the guiding principles for manag

ing the Banks interest rate risk currency exchange rate risk liquidity risk counterparty credit risk and operational risk The ALM

Authority covers the Banks entire array of ALM activities such as debt-funding operations and investment of liquid resources

including the interest rate and currency risk management aspects of the Banks lending and equity investment operations

Under the umbrella of the FPS Authority and the ALM Authority the President is authorized to approve and amend more detailed

operational guidelines as necessary upon the recommendations of the Asset and Liability Management Committee ALCO

and the Operations Committee OPSCOM The ALCO is the oversight and control organ of the Banks finance and treasury risk

management activities It is the Banks most senior management forum on finance and treasury risk management issues and is

chaired by the Vice President for Finance OPSCOM is chaired by the Chief Operating Officer and reviews all operational activities

before they are submitted to the Board of Directors for approval In June 2012 the Bank also created the Credit Risk Committee

CRC to ensure effective implementation of the Banks credit policies and oversee all credit risk issues related to sovereign and

non-sovereign operations prior to their submission to OPSCOM

The ALCO CRC and OPSCM meet on regular basis to perform their oversight roles Among its functions the ALCO reviews regu

lar and ad-hoc finance and treasury risk management reports and financial projections and approves strategies to manage the

balance sheet The Credit Risk Committee took over the Credit Risk responsibilities previously handled by ALCO including the

coverage of the endto-end credit risk governance credit assessments portfolio monitoring and rating change approval amongst

others ALCO and CRC are supported by several standing working groups that report on specific issues including country risk

non-sovereign credit risk interest rate risk currency risk operational risk financial projections and financial products and services

Day-to-day operational responsibility for implementing the Banks financial and risk management policies and guidelines is del

egated to the appropriate business units The Financial Management Department is responsible for monitoring the day-to-day

compliance with those policies and guidelines

The following sections describe in detail the manner in which the individual sources of risk are managed by the Bank

Credit Risk

Credit risk arises from the inability or unwillingness of counterparties to discharge their financial obligations It is the potential for

financial loss due to default of one or more debtors/obligors Credit risk is the largest source of risk for the Bank arising essen

tially from its lending and treasury operations

The Bank manages three principal sources of credit risk sovereign credit risk in its public sector portfolio ii non-sovereign

credit risk in its portfolio of non-sovereign and enclave projects and iii counterparty credit risk in its portfolio of treasury invest

ments and derivative transactions used for asset and liability management purposes These risks are managed within an inte

grated framework of credit policies guidelines and processes which are described in more detail in the sections below
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African Deveopment Bank Chapter

vided by the Bank and the original State Participants to the ADF Agreement and State Participants acceding to the Agreement

since the original signing date Thereafter further subscriptions were received from participants in the form of Special General

Increases and General Replenishments

The ADF has 14-member Board of Directors made up of members selected by the African Development Bank and members

selected by State Participants The Funds Board of Directors reports to the Board of Governors made up of representatives of

the State Participants and the ADB The President of the Bank is the ex-officio President of the Fund

To carry out its functions the Fund utilizes the offices staff organization services and facilities of the Bank for which it pays

share of the administrative expenses The share of administrative expenses paid by the Fund to the Bank is calculated annually

on the basis of cost-sharing formula approved by the Board of Directors which is driven in large part by the number of pro

grams and projects executed during the year Based on the cost-sharing formula the share of administrative expenses incurred

by ADF for the year ended December 31 2012 amounted to UA 185.27 million 2011 UA 15933 million representing 65.91 percent

2011 68.76 percent of the shareable administrative expenses incurred by the Bank The accounts of the ADE are kept separate

and distinct from those of the Bank

Although the ADB by agreement exercises 50 percent of the voting powers in the ADF the Agreement establishing the ADF

also provides that in the event of termination of the ADFs operations the assets of the Fund shall be distributed pro-rata to its

participants in proportion to the amounts paid-in by them on account of their subscriptions after settlement of any outstand

ing claims against the participants At December 31 2012 the Banks pro-rata or economic share in ADF was 0.58 percent 2011

0.63 percent

As result of the implementation in 2006 of the Multilateral Debt Relief Initiative described in Note V-2 the net asset value of

ADF which is the basis for determining the value of the Banks investment in the Fund declined resulting in impairment loss on

the Banks investment The net assets of ADF is made up of its net development resources less outstanding demand obligations

plus disbursed and outstanding loans excluding balances due from countries that have reached their HIPC completion points

and are therefore due for MDRI loan cancelation at the balance sheet date

Other Equity Participations

The Bank may take equity positions in privately owned productive enterprises and financial intermediaries public sector com

panies that are in the process of being privatized or regional and sub-regional institutions The Banks objective in such equity

investments is to promote the economic development of its regional member countries and in particular the development of

their private sectors The Banks equity participation is also intended to promote efficient use of resources promoting African

participation playing catalytic role in attracting other investors and lenders and mobilizing the flow of domestic and external

resources to financially viable projects which also have significant economic merit

Unless otherwise approved by the Board of Directors the Banks equity participation shall not exceed 25 percent of the equity

capital of the entity in which it invests The Bank currently holds less than 20 percent of the total equity capital of most of the

institutions in which it participates The Bank therefore does not seek controlling interest in the companies in which it invests

but closely monitors its equity investments through Board representation In accordance with the Board of Governors Resolution

B/BG/2009/10 of May 13 2009 total equity investment by the Bank shall not at any time exceed 15 percent of the aggregate

amount of the Banks paid-in capital and reserves and surplus risk capital included in its ordinary capital resources

Under IFRS equity investments must be measured at fair value through profit or loss However where the equity investment is

not held for trading an entity has the option to take fair value changes into other comprehensive income CCI with no recycling

of the change in fair value to profit or loss if the investment is subsequently derecognized As the Banks equity investments are

currently held for strategic purposes rather than for trading the Bank has opted to designate all its equity investments as at fair

value through other comprehensive income

Annuai Report 2012
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NOTE V-2 OTHER DEVELOPMENT ASSISTANCE ACTIVITIES

Democratic Republic of Congo DRC
In connection with an internationally coordinated effort between the Bank the International Monetary Fund the IMF the

World Bank and other bilateral and multilateral donors to assist the Democratic Republic of Congo DRC in its reconstruc

tion efforts the Board of Directors on June 26 2002 approved an arrears clearance plan for the DRC Under the arrears

clearance plan contributions received from the donor community were used immediately for partial clearance of the arrears

owed by the DRC The residual amount of DRCs arrears to the Bank and loan amounts not yet due were consolidated into

new contractual receivables such that the present value of the new loans was equal to the present value of the amounts that

were owed under the previous contractual terms The new loans carry the weighted average interest rate of the old loans In

approving the arrears clearance plan the Board of Directors considered the following factors the arrears clearance plan

is part of an internationally coordinated arrangement for the DRC the magnitude of DRCs arrears to the Bank ruled out

conventional solutions the prolonged armed conflict in the DRC created extensive destruction of physical assets such that

the DRC had almost no capacity for servicing its debt and the proposed package would result in significant improve

ment in its repayment capacity if appropriate supporting measures are taken Furthermore there was no automatic linkage

between the arrears clearance mechanism and the debt relief that may be subsequently provided on the consolidated facility

In June 2004 the DRC reached its decision point under the Heavily Indebted Poor Countries HIPC initiative Consequently

the consolidated facility has since that date benefited from partial debt service relief under HIPC

special account separate from the assets of the Bank was established for all contributions towards the DRC arrears clear

ance plan Such contributions may include allocations of the net income of the Bank that the Board of Governors may from

time to time make to the special account representing the Banks contribution to the arrears clearance plan The amount of

such net income allocation is subject to the approval of the Boards of Governors of the Bank typically occurring during the

annual general meeting of the Bank Consequently income recognized on the consolidated DRC loans in current earnings is

transferred out of reserves to the special account only after the formal approval of such transfer in whole or in part by the

Board of Governors of the Bank

ii Post-Conflict Countries Assistance/Fragile States Facility

The Post Conflict Countries Fund was established as framework to assist countries emerging from conflict in their efforts

towards re-engagement with the donor community in order to reactivate development assistance and help these countries

reach the Heavily Indebted Poor Countries HIPC decision point to qualify for debt relief after clearing their loan arrears to

the Bank Group The framework entails the setting aside of pool of resources through separate facility with allocations

from the ADBs net income and contributions from the ADF and other private donors

Resources from the facility are provided on case-by-case basis to genuine post-conflict countries not yet receiving debt

relief to fill financing gaps after maximum effort by the post-conflict country to clear its arrears to the Bank Group In this

connection the Board of Governors by its Resolution B/BG/2004/07 of May 25 2004 established the Post-Conflict Countries

Facility PCCF under the administration of the ADF and approved an allocation of UA 45 million from the 2003 net income

of the Bank The Board of Governors also by its resolution B/BG/2005/05 of May 18 2005 approved an additional alloca

tion of UA 30 million from the 2004 net income as the second installment of the Banks contribution to the facility and by its

resolution B/BG/2007/04 of May 17 2006 the Board of Governors also approved the third and final installment of the Banks

allocation of UA 25 million from the 2005 net income In March 2008 the Board of Directors approved the establishment

of the Fragile States Facility FSF to take over the activities of the PCCF and in addition provide broader and integrated

framework for assistance to eligible states The purposes of the FSF are to consolidate peace stabilize economies and lay the

foundation for sustainable poverty-reduction and long-term economic growth of the eligible countries By policy contribu

tions made by ADB to the PCCF/FSF are not used to clear the debt owed to the Bank by beneficiary countries

iii Heavily Indebted Poor Countries HIPC Initiative

The Bank participates in multilateral initiative for addressing the debt problems of countries identified as HIPCs Under this

initiative creditors provide debt relief for eligible countries that demonstrate good policy performance over an extended

period to bring their debt burdens to sustainable levels Under the original HIPC framework selected loans to eligible benefi

ciary countries were paid off by the HIPC Trust Fund at price equivalent to the lower of the net present value of the loans or
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their nominal values as calculated using the methodology agreed under the initiatives Following the signature of HIPC debt

relief agreement the relevant loans were paid off at the lower of their net present value or their carrying value On average

loans in the ADBs portfolio carry higher interest rates than the present value discount rates applied and therefore the net

present value of the loans exceeds the book value Consequently affected ADB loans were paid off by the HIPC Trust Fund

at book values The HIPC initiative was enhanced in 1999 to provide greatec faster and more poverty-focused debt relief This

was achieved by reducing the eligibility criteria for qualification under the initiative and by commencing debt relief much

earlier than under the original framework Under the enhanced framework where 33 African countries are eligible the debt

relief is delivered through annual debt service reductions as well as the release of up to 80 percent of annual debt service

obligations as they come due until the total debt relief is provided In addition interim financing between the decision and

completion points of up to 40 percent of total debt relief is provided whenever possible within 15-year horizon

At December 31 2012 the Board of Directors had approved relief for 30 ADB borrowing countries of which 29 had reached

the completion point

iv Multilateral Debt Relief Initiative MDRI
At the Gleneagles Summit on July 2005 the Group of major industrial countries agreed on proposal for the ADF the

International Development Association IDA and the International Monetary Fund IMF to cancel 100 percent of their claims

on countries that have reached or will reach the completion point under the enhanced HIPC Initiative

The main objective of the MDRI is to complete the process of debt relief for HIPCs by providing additional resources to help

38 countries worldwide 33 of which are in Africa to make progress towards achieving the Millennium Development Goals

MDG5 while simultaneously safeguarding the long-term financing capacity of the ADF and the IDA The debt cancelation

would be delivered by relieving post-completion-point HIPCs repayment obligations and adjusting their gross assistance

flows downward by the same amount To maintain the financial integrity of the ADF donors have committed to make addi

tional contributions to the ADF to match dollar-for-dollar the foregone principal and service charge payments

The MDRI became effective for the ADF on September 2006 As of that date the ADF wrote down its balance of disbursed

and outstanding loans net of HIPC relief by an amount of UA 3.84 billion with corresponding decrease as of that date in

the ADFs net assets Reduction in ADF net assets results in decrease in the value of the Banks investment in the Fund

Subsequent write-down of loan balances is effected as and when other countries reach their HIPC completion point and are

declared beneficiaries of MDRI loan cancelation The reduction in the net asset value of the ADF does not include loans out

standing to MDRI countries that have not reached their HIPC completion points at the end of the year

NOTE V3 SPECIAL FUNDS

Under Article of the Agreement establishing the Bank the Bank may establish or be entrusted with the administration of spe

cial funds

At December 31 2012 and 2011 the following funds were held separately from those of the ordinary capital resources of the Bank

The NTF was established under an agreement signed on February 26 1976 the Agreement between the African Development

Bank and the Federal Republic of Nigeria The Agreement stipulates that the NTF shall be in effect for period of 30 years from

the date the Agreement became effective and that the resources of the NTF shall be transferred to the Government of Nigeria

upon termination However the 30-year sunset period may be extended by mutual agreement between the Bank and the Federal

Republic of Nigeria At the expiry of the initial 30-year period on April 25 2006 the Bank and the Federal Republic of Nigeria

agreed to interim extensions each for 12 months to allow for further consultations and an independent evaluation of the NTF

Following the positive result of the independent evaluation the NTF Agreement was renewed for period of ten years starting

from April 26 2008 The initial capital of the NTF was Naira 50 million payable in two equal installments of Naira 25 million each

in freely convertible currencies The first installment equivalent to US$ 39.90 million was received by the Bank on July 14 1976

and payment of the second installment equivalent to US$ 39.61 million was made on February 1977
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KPMG Audit TØlØphone 3301 55686868

cours Valmy TØlØcopie 3301 55687300

92923 Paris La Defense Cedex Site internet www.kpmg.fr

France

African Development Bank

Temporary Relocation Agency

15 Avenue du Ghana

1002 Tunis BelvØdŁre

Tunisia

Independent Auditors Report to the Board of Governors of the African Development Bank

Year ended 31 December 2012

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the African Development Bank the Bank which comprise the balance

sheet as at 31 December 2012 and the income statement the statement of comprehensive income the statement of changes in equity

and the statement of cash flows for the year then ended and summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes

as set out in notes to

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards for the purpose of sub

mitting approved and audited financial statements to the Board of Governors as required by Article 32d of the Agreement estab

lishing the Bank This report is made solely to the Banks Board of Governors as body in accordance with Article 32d of the

Agreement establishing the Bank Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Banks members those matters we

are required to state to them in an auditors report and for no other purpose To the fullest extent permitted by law we do not accept

or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Bank and the Banks members as body for our audit work for this report or for

the opinions we have formed

Managementc Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with International

Financial Reporting Standards This responsibility includes designing implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to

the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatements whether due to fraud or error

selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances

Auditor Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit We conducted our audit in accordance with

International Standards on Auditing Those standards require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements and plan and perform

the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement

Siege social

SocidtØ arronyme dexpertise KPMG S.A

comptable et de commissariat Immeuble Le Palatin

aux comptes directoire et cours du Triangle

conseil de surveillance 92939 Paris La Defense Cedex
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KPMG S.A Paris sous le 14-30080101 Code APE 69207

sociØtØ française
membre du rØseau KPMG eta Ia Compagnie Regionale

775 726 417 R.C.S Nanterre

constituØ de cabinets independants adherents de des Commissaires aux Comptes fl/A Union EuropØenne

KPMG International Cooperative une entitØ de droit suisse de Versailles FR 77 775 726 417
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African Development Bank

Independent Auditork Report to the Board of Governors

of the African Development Bank

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements The

procedures selected depend on our judgment including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements

whether due to fraud or error In making those risk assessments we consider internal control relevant to the entitys preparation and

fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances but not for

the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entitys internal control An audit also includes evaluating the appro

priateness of accounting principles used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management as well as evaluating

the overall presentation of the financial statements

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide basis for our opinion

Opinion

In our opinion the financial statements present fairly in all material respects the financial position of the Bank as at 31 December 2012

and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
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Paris La Defense 27th March 2013

KPMG Audit

division of KPMG S.A

Valery FoussØ

Partner
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AFRICAN DEVELOPMENT FUND

FnanciaI Management

Subscriptons

ADF Replenishments

The resources of the African Development Fund the ADF or the

Fund primarily consist of subscriptions by the Bank and State

Participants as well as other resources received by the Fund The

cumulative subscriptions to ADF amounted to UA 22.50 billion at

December 31 2012 These together with other resources received

by the Fund constitute the Funds primary development resources

Subsequent to the initial subscriptions additional resources have

been provided to the ADF through periodic replenishments

typically done every three years The twelfth which is the latest

replenishment of the Fund ADF-12 was adopted by the Board

of Governors on January 20 2011 and became effective on May

2011 The replenishment covers the three-year operational period

starting in 2011 and ending in 2013 The total resource envelope

for ADF 12 amounts to UA 6.1 billion and includes an Advanced

Commitment Capacity or internally generated resources of UA

2.01 billion As of December 31 2012 State participants had sub

scribed total amount of UA 3.57 billion representing 95 percent

of the ADF-12 pledged amounts

Commitments under the Multilateral Debt Relief Initiative

The Multilateral Debt Relief Initiative MDRI became effective

on September 2006 and covers the period 2006-2054 Under

the Multilateral Debt Relief Initiative donor countries agree to

compensate the ADF for the cancelation of its loans to Heavily

Indebted Poor Countries HIPCs that have reached or will reach

the completion point under the enhanced HIPC initiative To pre

serve the financial integrity and the financing capacity of the

Fund the terms of the MDRI require donors to fully compensate

the Fund dollar for dollar for debts canceled under the MDRI

Such compensations are made in the form of new funds provided

by donors and credited to them as additional subscriptions to

the resources of the Fund Donors have also agreed that peri

odic adjustments would be made under the initiative to reflect

changes in the actual and estimated costs to the Fund resulting

from debt forgiveness

The aggregate commitments received by the Fund from donors

as of December 31 2012 amounted to UA 4.78 billion represent

ing 81 percent of the MDRI cost for the period 2006-2054 of

UA 5.94 billion

Finanuul Products

The ADF is the concessional financing window of the Bank Group

that provides low income regional membercountries with conces

sional loans as well as grants for projects and programs and sup

port through technical assistance for studies and capacity building

Loans

Prior to the ADF-12 replenishment no interest was charged on

ADF loans Instead they carried service charge of 0.75 percent

per annum on outstanding balances and commitment fee of

0.50 percent per annum on undisbursed commitments These

ADF loans have maturity period of 50 years including 10-year

grace period

However for ADF-12 the Board of Directors approved differenti

ated ADF loan lending terms to ADF-eligible countries classified as

blend gap and graduating under the African Development Bank

Group country classification Accordingly new loans extended

under ADF-12 and beyond to blend gap and graduating countries

will have maturity period of 30 years including an 8-year grace

period with an interest rate of percent per annum In addition

the standard commitment and service fees that apply to all ADF

loans will be charged

Guarantees

As means of stimulating additional private sector investments in

low income countries the ADF Partial Risk Guarantee ADF-PRG

instrument was introduced as part of ADF-12 on pilot basis to

leverage resources from the private sector and other co-financiers

for ADF countries including fragile states This pilot phase of the

ADF-PRG program will be reviewed as soon as the aggregate

amount of committed and outstanding guarantees reaches UA

200 million The ADF-PRG will insulate private lenders against

well-defined political risks related to the failure of government

or government-related entity to honor certain specified com

mitments and will incentivize governments to undertake policy

and fiscal reforms necessary to mitigate performance-related risks

nvestments

ADF cash and treasury investments amounted to UA 3.42 billion

at December 31 2012 compared to UA 3.09 billion at the end of

2011 Investment income for the year amounted to UA 87.96 mil

lion representing return of 2.70 percent on an average liquidity

level of UA 3.25 billion compared with an income of UA 68.45 mil

lion representing return of 2.17 percent on an average liquidity

of UA 3.15 billion in 2011 The higher return in 2012 is primarily the

result of the stabilization of interest rates although at lower levels

as well as the slightly reduced volatility that led to the narrowing

of credit spreads

Loan Portfoio

Cumulative loans and grants signed net of cancelations at

December 31 2012 amounted to UA 24.12 billion compared to UA

21.48 billion at the end of 2011 Table 7.6 presents loans approved

disbursed and undisbursed balances from 2008 to 2012 As the

table shows the level of loan disbursements and approvals peaked

during 2009 at the height of the global financial crisis However

they have subsequently returned to and stabilized at levels com

parable to pre-2009
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Chapter African Development Fund

The subscriptions receivable are settled through payment of cash or deposit of non-negotiable non-interest bearing demand

notes The notes are encashed by the Fund as provided in an encashment program agreed to at the time of the replenishment

Starting with the ADF-9 replenishment participants were given the option of an early payment of cash in an amount equivalent

to the net present value of their entire subscriptions and contributions Upon receipt of such cash payments participants are

credited with the full face value of their entire subscriptions and in agreement with the Fund such cash amounts received are

invested and the income generated thereon is retained by the Fund discount calculated as the difference between the face

value of the subscriptions and the cash amount received is initially recorded to represent the interest expected to be earned on

the cash received from State Participants who opted for the accelerated encashment program Such discount is amortized over

the projected encashment period to recognize the effective contributions to equity by the relevant participant over and above

the initial cash advanced

By its resolutions F/BG/2006/12 and F/BG/2006/13 of May 18 2006 and August 31 2006 respectively the Board of Governors

of the Fund authorized the Board of Directors to approve the participation of the ADF in the Multilateral Debt Relief Initiative

MDRI and in that regard the Board of Governors also authorized an increase in the resources of the ADF to provide full and

timely compensation for the debt cancelation under the MDRI subject to the attainment of the following effectiveness thresholds

Receipt of Instruments of Commitment from donors covering an aggregate amount equivalent to at least seventy percent

70% of the total cost of debt relief for the first group of 14 post-completion point Heavily Indebted Poor Countries HIPC5

and

Receipt of unqualified Instruments of Commitments from donors for an amount not less than the equivalent of at least sev

enty five percent 75% of the total cost of debt relief incurred during the remainder of ADF-10 period

Upon satisfaction of the above two thresholds the Board of Directors of the Fund approved the effectiveness of the MDRI with

effect from September 2006 To ensure full compensation for foregone reflows as result of the upfront debt cancelation the

ADF governing bodies endorsed Managements proposal for compensation scheme over the 50-year period of the Initiative

Donors will contribute additional resources to ADF equivalent to the foregone debt service service charges and principal for

each replenishment period by submitting pledges over the life of the initiative The compensatory financing arrangements will

take the form of general increase in the contribution of State Participants pursuant to Article of the Agreement Establishing

ADF The contributions received from State Participants under the compensatory financing arrangements shall not be counted

as part of the burden share for the replenishment period in which such resources are received but shall carry voting rights in the

same manner as normal subscriptions Such contributions are separately disclosed within the total of subscriptions and contri

butions in the Statement of Net Development Resources

Maintenance of Value of Currency Holdings

Prior to the second general replenishment subscriptions were denominated in UA and were subject to Article 13 of the Agreement

which provided that whenever the par value in the IMF of the currency of State Participant is reduced in terms of the UA or its

foreign exchange value has in the opinion of the Fund depreciated to significant extent within that participants territory that

participant shall pay to the Fund within reasonable time an amount of its currency required to maintain the value as of the

time of subscription of the amount of such currency paid into the Fund by that participant and which has not been disbursed

or exchanged for another currency

Conversely if the currency of State Participant has increased in par value or appreciated in its foreign exchange value within

that participants territory the Fund shall return to that participant an amount of such currency equal to the increase in the value

of the Funds holding of that currency which was received by it in payment of subscriptions to the extent that these amounts

have not been disbursed or exchanged for another currency

In accordance with Board of Governors successive Resolutions governing the Second through to the twelfth general replenish

ments of the Fund which stipulated that Article 13 shall not apply to these general replenishments subscribers to these replen

ishments fixed the amount of their subscriptions payable in national currencies in terms of agreed parities ruling at the date these

replenishments came into force Gains or losses arising on translating these subscriptions when received into UA are applied

against subscriptions with the offsetting debits or credits recorded as Cumulative Exchange Adjustment on Subscriptions CEAS
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Financial Assets

The Funds financial assets are classified into the following categories financial assets at amortized cost and financial assets at

fair value through profit or loss FVTPL These classifications are determined based on the Funds business model In accordance

with the Funds business model financial assets are held either for the stabilization of income through the management of net

interest margin or for liquidity management Management determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition

Financial Assets at Amortized cost

financial asset is classified at amortized cost only if the asset meets the objective of the Funds business model to hold the

asset to collect the contractual cash flows and the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely

payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding The nature of any derivatives embedded in financial assets are

considered in determining whether the cash flows of the investment are solely payment of principal and interest on the principal

outstanding and are not accounted for separately

If either of the two criteria above is not met the financial asset is classified at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at amortized cost include mainly demand obligations and accrued income on loans and receivables and certain

investments that meet the criteria of financial assets at amortized cost Demand obligations are non-negotiable non-interest-

bearing notes payable on demand deposited for subscription payment

The Fund also classifies at amortized cost investments of the proceeds of accelerated encashment of notes This is consistent

with the business model of the Fund of collecting contractual cash flows The primary objective of such financial assets is to

recoup the discount granted to State Participants on the accelerated encashment program

ii Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the amortized cost criteria as described above are measured at FVTPL This category includes

all treasury assets held for resale to realize short-term fair value changes Gains and losses on these financial assets are report

ed in the income statement in the period in which they arise Derivatives are also categorized as financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss

Cash and cash equivalents include amounts due from banks demand deposits and other short-term highly liquid investments

that are readily convertible to known amount of cash are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value and have time

to maturity upon acquisition of three months or less

Purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on trade-date basis which is the date the Fund commits to purchase or

sell the asset Loans are recognized when cash is advanced to the borrowers Income on investments includes interest earned

and unrealized gains and losses on financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or where the Fund

has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership

Investments

The Funds investment securities are classified either as financial assets at amortized cost or as at fair value Investments classi

fied as financial assets at amortized cost include non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed

maturities These investments are carried and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method

All other investment securities are classified as investments at fair value through profit or loss and measured at market value

Income on investments includes interest earned and unrealized gains and losses on the portfolio held at fair value through profit

or loss Purchases and sales of investments are recognized on trade-date basis which is the date on which the Fund commits

to purchase or sell the investments
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Loans

The Fund provides concessional funding for development purposes to the least developed countries in Africa Country eligibil

ity is determined by assessing gross national income per capita creditworthiness and performance Annual Debt Sustainability

Analysis is used to determine the risk of debt distress of each beneficiary country and set appropriate financing terms

The following categories of countries are eligible to ADF loans

Category countries that are not deemed creditworthy for non-concessional financing and whose income levels are below

the operational cut-off

Category countries that are not deemed creditworthy for non-concessional financing but whose income levels are above

the operational cut-off blend countries will have access to ADF funds with modified financing terms at par with those of

blend countries

Category countries are those deemed creditworthy for non-concessional financing but whose income levels are below the

operational cut-off with access to blend of ADB and ADF resources

Graduating countries are those that are graduating from the category of ADF borrowing countries to the category of ADB bor

rowing countries and the graduating policies are determined for each new ADF replenishment

Disbursed and outstanding loans are not included in Net Development Resources as they represent an allocation of development

resources Accordingly no provision for possible loan losses is required Loans reported at amortized cost in the special purpose

financial statements are treated as allocation of development resources

Loan income arising from interest service and commitment charges is recognized on an accrual basis The Fund places all loans

to borrower country in non-accrual status if the principal installments interest or service charges on any of the loans to such

member country are overdue by months or more unless the Funds management determines that the overdue amount will be

collected in the immediate future Further management may place loan in non-accrual status even if it is not yet overdue by

months if the specific facts and circumstances including consideration of events occurring subsequent to the balance sheet

date warrant such action On the date borrowers loans are placed in non-accrual status unpaid interests and charges that had

previously been accrued on loans to the borrower are deducted from income on loans for that period Interests and charges on

loans in non-accrual status are included in income only to the extent that payment of such charges has been received by the Fund

Grants

In addition to loans the Fund is authorized to provide development financing in the form of grants Prior to the ninth replenish

ment of the resources of the Fund grant funds were granted for technical assistance activities only With effect from the ninth

replenishment grants may be used for technical assistance as well as project financing Grants like loans represent allocations

of development resources and are accordingly treated as such in the Statement of Net Development Resources of the Fund

HPC Debt lntiative

The Fund participates in multilateral debt relief initiative for addressing the debt problems of countries identified as heavily

indebted poor countries HIPCs to help ensure that their reform efforts are not compromised by unsustainable external debt

burdens Under this initiative creditors provide debt relief for those countries that demonstrate good policy performance over

an extended period to bring their debt burdens to sustainable levels As part of this process the HIPC Debt Initiative Trust Fund

the Trust Fund constituted by funds from donors including the Bank Group was established to help beneficiaries reduce their

overall debt including those debts owing to the Fund

Under the original framework of the debt relief initiative upon signature of HIPC Debt Relief Agreement by the Fund the ben

eficiary country and the Trust Fund loans or repayment installments identified for sale to the Trust Fund are written down to

their estimated net present value On the settlement date the estimated write-down is adjusted to reflect the actual difference

between the cash received and the carrying value of the loans sold

Under the enhanced HIPC framework the implementation mechanism comprises partial payment of ADF debt service as it

falls due with funds received from the Trust Fund
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Multilateral Debt Relief Initiative MDRI
Under the MDRI loans due from eligible HIPCs are canceled when the countries attain the completion point under the HIPC

framework The Fund is expected to be fully compensated for loans canceled under MDRI by additional contributions to be

made by donors over the previously scheduled repayment periods of the canceled loans When MDRI becomes effective for

country certain amounts previously disbursed to that country as loans are no longer repayable by the country and effectively

take on the character of grants made by the Fund Accordingly loans canceled under the MDRI are included in Net Debt Relief

and reported in the Statement of Net Development Resources as allocation of development resources with corresponding

offset to loans outstanding

Financial Liabilities

Financial liabilities include accounts payable and are subsequently measured at amortized cost Financial liabilities are derecog

nized upon discharge cancelation or expiration

Impairment of Financial Assets

The Fund assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that financial asset or group of financial

assets included in its Net Development Resources is impaired financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired and

impairment losses are incurred if and only if there is objective evidence of impairment as result of one or more events that

occurred after the initial recognition of the asset loss event and that loss event or events has an impact on the estimated

future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated

If the Fund determines that there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred on its receivable or treasury

investments held at amortized cost described in prior years as held-to-maturity investment the amount of the loss is meas

ured as the difference between the assets carrying amount and the present value of its estimated future cash flows excluding

future credit losses that have not been incurred discounted at the financial assets original effective interest rate The estimat

ed impairment loss may arise from delays that may be experienced in receiving amounts due and the impairment calculations

reflect managements best estimate of the effect of such delays

The impairment loss is reported as reduction to the carrying amount of the asset through the use of an allowance account and

recognized in the income statement If treasury investment at amortized cost has variable interest rate the discount rate for

measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate determined under the contract

Loans are not included in Net Development Resources and are therefore not subject to impairment

Fair Value Disclosure

The fair values of quoted financial assets in active markets are based on current bid prices while those of liabilities are based

on current asking prices For financial instruments with inactive markets the Fund establishes fair value by using valuation

techniques that incorporate the maximum use of market data inputs These include the use of recent arms length transactions

discounted cash flow analysis option pricing models and other valuation techniques commonly used by market participants

Financial instruments for which market quotations are not readily available have been valued using methodologies and assump

tions that necessarily require the use of subjective judgments Accordingly the actual value at which such financial instruments

could be exchanged in current transaction or whether they are actually exchangeable is not readily determinable Management

believes that these methodologies and assumptions are reasonable however the values actually realizable in sale might be

different from the fair values disclosed

The following three hierarchical levels are used for the determination of fair value

Level Quoted prices in active markets for the same instrument i.e without modification or repackaging

Leve/2 Quoted prices in active markets for similar assets or liabilities or other valuation techniques for which all significant

inputs are based on observable market data

Leve/3 Valuation techniques for which any significant input is not based on observable market data
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The methods and assumptions used by the Fund in estimating the fair values of financial instruments are as follows

Thvestmerits Fair values for investment securities are based on quoted market prices where available using the bid prices If

quoted market prices are not available fair values are based on quoted market prices of comparable instruments Government

and agency obligations include marketable bonds or notes and other government obligations issued or unconditionally guar
anteed by governments of member countries or other official entities with minimum credit rating of AA- For asset-backed

securities the Fund may only invest in securities with an AAA credit rating Money market instruments include time deposits

certificates of deposit and other obligations with maturity period of less than year issued or unconditionally guaranteed by

banks and other financial institutions with minimum rating of

Derivative Financial Instruments The fair values of derivative financial instruments are based on market quotations when pos
sible or valuation techniques that use market estimates of cash flows and discount rates The Fund also uses valuation tools

based on industry standard pricing models and valuation techniques to value derivative financial instruments The models use

market-sourced inputs such as interest rates yield curves exchange rates and option volatilities All financial models used for

valuing the Funds financial instruments are subject to both internal and periodic external reviews

______
Events after the Balance Sheet date

The financial statements are adjusted to reflect events that occurred between the date of the Statement of Net Development
Resources and the date when the financial statements are authorized for issue provided they give evidence of conditions that

existed at the date of the Statement of Net Development Resources

Events that are indicative of conditions that arose after the date of the Statement of Net Development resources are disclosed

but do not result in an adjustment of the financial statements themselves

Reclassification

Certain reclassifications of prior years amounts have been made to conform to the presentation in the current year These reclas

sifications did not affect the prior years reported result

NOTE RISIK MANAGEMENT POUCIES AND PROCEDURES

In carrying out its development mandate the Fund seeks to maximize its capacity to assume core business risks resulting from

its lending and investing operations while at the same time minimizing its non-core business risks market risk counterparty risk

and operational risk that are incidental but nevertheless critical to the execution of its mandate

The degree of risk the Fund is willing to assume to achieve its development mandate is limited by its commitment capacity The

Funds overall risk management strategy is to minimize the exposure of its replenishment resources the Commitment Capacity
to the risk of over-commitment and also to protect its Net Development Resources from currency translation losses that could

negatively affect the Funds long-term capacity to meet its development needs

The policies processes and procedures which the Fund uses to manage its risk profile continually evolve in response to mar
ket credit product and other developments The highest level of risk management oversight is assured by the Funds Board of

Executive Directors which is chaired by the President The Board of Directors is committed to the highest standards of corporate

governance In addition to approving all risk management policies the Board of Directors regularly reviews trends in the Funds

risk profiles and performance to ensure compliance with the underlying policies

The guiding principles by which the Fund manages its core and non-core risks are governed by the General Authority on Asset

Liability Management the ALM Authority approved by the Board of Directors of the Fund
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The ALM Authority is the overarching framework through which Management has been vested with the authority to manage

the Funds liquid assets and liabilities within defined parameters The ALM Authority sets out the guiding principles for manag

ing the Funds interest rate risk currency exchange rate risk liquidity risk counterparty credit risk and operational risk The ALM

Authority covers the Funds entire array of ALM activities

Under the umbrella of the ALM Authority the President is authorized to approve and amend more detailed operational guide

lines as necessary upon the recommendations of the Asset and Liability Management Committee ALCO The ALCO chaired by

the Vice President for Finance is the oversight and control organ of the Funds finance and treasury risk management activities

The ALCO meets on regular basis to perform its oversight role ALCO is supported by several standing working groups that

report on specific issues including interest rate risk currency risk operational risk financial projections and financial products

and services

Day-to-day operational responsibility for implementing the Funds financial and risk management policies and guidelines are

delegated to the appropriate business units The Financial Management Department is responsible for monitoring the day-to

day compliance with those policies and guidelines

The following sections describe in detail the manner in which the individual sources of risk are managed by the Fund

Credit Risk

Credit risk arises from the inability or unwillingness of counterparties to discharge their financial obligations It is the potential

financial loss due to default of one or more debtors/obligors Credit risk is the largest source of risk for the Fund arising essen

tially from its lending and treasury operations

The Funds credit risk arises from two principal sources sovereign credit risk arising from lending to its qualifying RMCs and

ii counterparty credit risk on its portfolio of treasury investments and derivative transactions

Sovereign Credit Risk

The Fund provides concessional loans in order to fund economic and social development of its member countries which gener

ally have lower credit quality than ADB borrowers Although loans are included in the financial statements as resources already

allocated for development and therefore not included in the Net Development Resources the Fund still manages sovereign

credit risks to ensure equitable allocation of resources to eligible beneficiaries and ensure that expected reflows from loan repay

ments are properly monitored and managed Country eligibility for loans is determined by assessing among other things gross

national income per capita credit worthiness and performance The Fund uses the International Monetary Fund/World Bank

Debt Sustainability Framework DSF for low-income countries to make performance-based allocation PBA of ADF resources

among the many competing needs in the continent and to ensure the funds are directed to areas they will be used most effec

tively The PBA process which is reviewed regularly is also used to determine the proportion of ADF resources that is allocated

in the form of grants to each qualifying borrower On the basis of the debt sustainability analysis certain countries are allocated

grants-only resources while others may receive combination of loan and grant resources or loan resources only
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Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the potential for loss resulting from insufficient liquidity to meet cash flow needs in timely manner The Funds

principal liquidity risk management objective is to hold sufficient liquid resources to enable it to meet all probable cash flow

needs for between 50 and 75 percent of the three years moving average of expected disbursements

To strike balance between generating adequate investment returns and holding securities that can be easily sold for cash if the

need arises the Fund divides its investment portfolio into two tranches with different liquidity objectives and benchmarks The

Funds core liquidity portfolio which is fair valued is invested in highly liquid securities that can be readily liquidated if the need

arises to meet the Funds short-term liquidity needs In addition to the trading portfolio the Fund maintains second tranche

of liquidity under the broad category of amortized cost portfolio which is held in portfolio of fixed income securities intended

to earn contractual cash flows

Currency Exchange Risk

Currency risk is the potential loss due to adverse movements in market foreign exchange rates To promote stable growth in the

Funds Net Assets including its Net Development Resources NDR and outstanding loans the Funds principal currency risk

management objective is to ensure that it is able to provide the disbursement currencies requested by borrowers while mini

mizing the exposure of its net development resources to adverse exchange rate movements To the extent possible the Fund

shall maintain the alignment of the currency composition of its Net Assets with the UA as the primary benchmark of its currency

composition The Fund may conduct currency exchange transactions for the following two reasons to align the currency

composition of its Net Assets loan and investment portfolios with the UA for the purpose of providing ADE borrowers with

the disbursement currencies requested

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the potential for loss due to adverse movements in market interest rates In seeking to earn stable and rea

sonable return on invested liquidity the Funds principal interest rate risk management is to reduce the sensitivity of the Funds

investment returns to changes in market interest rates To achieve this objective the Funds investments are managed in two

portfolios an actively managed portfolio the Operational Portfolio and passively managed portfolio the Investment

Portfolio

The Operational Portfolio provides readily available source of liquidity to cover both expected and unexpected disbursements

as well as any other probable cash outflows The Operational Portfolio is managed against s-month LIBOR reference bench

mark in each currency Generally investments in the Operational Portfolio are held for trading and are regularly marked to market

The Investment Portfolio consists of funds that are not immediately required for loan disbursements and therefore may be invest

ed for longer horizon Generally investments in the Investment Portfolio are purchased with the intention to hold them until

their maturity and are not marked to market The Investment Portfolio comprises two sub-portfolios an investment portfolio

for income stabilization for the purpose of generating stable income for the Fund and reducing the Funds investment income

sensitivity to interest rates This portfolio is managed against ten-year uniform re-pricing profile for each invested currency and

an investment portfolio for accelerated encashments for the purpose of investing proceeds from accelerated encashments

to recoup the discount granted to State Participants minimizing or eliminating interest rate risk on accelerated encashments

This portfolio is managed against target rate which is the discount rate agreed with State Participants
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Chapter African Development Fund

Futures Contracts

The Fund has also entered into futures contracts to hedge fixed interest rate bonds against interest rate variations As at December

31 2012 the Fund had 317 contracts in Euro and 2397 contracts in US Dollars The nominal value of each contract is one million

of each currency unit except for 56 Euro contracts with nominal value of 100000 for each contract

NOTE DEMAND OBLIGATIONS

Demand obligations represent subscription payments made by participants in accordance with Article of the Agreement in the

form of non-negotiable non-interest-bearing notes payable at their par value on demand The Board of Governors has agreed

that the encashment of these notes will be governed by the Funds disbursement requirements

NOTE DEVELOPMENT ACTIVITIES

According to the Funds loan regulations loans are expressed in and repaid in the currency disbursed

Project Loans and Lines of Credit

Loans are generally granted under conditions that allow for repayment over 40 years after 10-year grace period commencing

from the date of the loan agreement Loan principal is generally repayable from years 11 through 20 at rate of percent per

annum and from years 21 through 50 at rate of percent per annum service charge at rate of 0.75 percent per annum on

the principal amount disbursed and outstanding is payable by the borrower semi-annually Loans and lines of credit approved after

June1996 carry 0.5 percent per annum commitment charge on the undisbursed portion Such commitment charge commences

to accrue after 90 days from the date of signature of the loan agreement With effect from the ADF 12 replenishment loans to

blend gap and graduating countries carry differentiated financing terms of thirty 30 years maturity grace period of years

and interest rate of per cent in addition to the existing standard 0.50 percent commitment fee and 0.75 percent service charge

Prior to the establishment of the Technical Assistance Account loans for pre-investment studies were normally granted for

period of 10 years including grace period of years with repayments in seven equal installments from years through 10

Of the undisbursed balances of loans signed the Fund may enter into special irrevocable commitments to pay amounts to bor

rowers or others in respect of the cost of goods and services to be financed under loan agreements As at December 31 2012

outstanding irrevocable reimbursement guarantees to commercial banks amounted to UA 13.83 million 2011 UA 7.11 million

As at December 31 2012 loans made to or guaranteed by certain borrowers with an aggregate principal balance outstanding of

UA 283.56 million 2011 UA 286.01 million of which UA 98.10 million 2011 UA 91.10 million was overdue were in non-accrual

status If these loans had not been in non-accrual status income from loans for the year ended December 31 2012 would have

been higher by UA 3.84 million 2011 UA 2.13 million At December 31 2012 the cumulative charges not recognized on the non

accrual loans amounted to 39.47 million compared to UA 35.92 million at December 31 2011

Lines of credit to national development banks and similar national finance institutions are generally granted for maximum of

20 years including 5-year grace period

At December 31 2012 outstanding loans amounted to 7213.99 million 2011 UA 6878.62 million

174
Annual Report 2012



Chapter

fi Do 2012 ansI as cws

Amounts in hA millions

One ar ore 1620 5.97 227

More han on at but Ic than two ar 718 100 6951 101

Mor than two years but less than thr ars 7871 09 115

Mor than thr year but Icc tb four
years

811 15 8604

ore than tour years but less than fly years
884 12 901 .31

More than two ye rs 2841 926 971 901

if

Amounts in UA millions

Canadian Dollar 1298 08 14 021

nab Kroner 1140 016 131 019

Euro 767 484.94 6.13

Jaganese Yen 2273 1002 152487 22.17

Norwegian Kronr 779 26.26

Pound St ring 2661 14 6.22 009

Swedish Krona 6.06 1716 0.25

Swi Franc 5701 079 726 1.06

Unit States Dollar 4679 2718.57 92

Others 032

1ff rca cc rdi

Is or of tr to in 1ab tI as ur OOCi por

CI xtf or his and 75 oi ad th CiCO od 0k ra mo

si sac ai at ai otsr Ciat dna Sf pr tsr

rn il rc add oaiomrs nfl argsof o2 inaata as Ir

Hf so is cc grar orrr tte JSE SC 10 to hi ass tar 110 OC hr ao

bc arg am gra di he nun ovur th rw tt or cia rop or to os al so

rhs lay nra sisctdto usia aL idsrtr oento eqltn aol ft 7r.cFa m030liSilOH ho aIasss

ai am ci In 5r ra ud por

ct is ci to Fr as stcq hav orir

in OlyroF sd tSthf

ca as Cl .ç as

115



Chapter African Development Fund

ii where the loan is granted for strengthening regional member countries cooperation or for the improvement of the opera

tions of existing institutions and is not related to specific projects or programs the grace period is 45 years with repayment

period of years thereafter

Technical assistance loans do not carry charges

HIPC Debt Relief Initiative

Under the original framework of HIPC selected loans to beneficiary countries were paid off by the HIPC Trust Fund at price

equivalent to the net present value of the loans as calculated using the methodology agreed under the initiative Following the

signature of HIPC debt relief agreement loans identified for payment were written down to their estimated net present value

The amount of the write-down representing the difference between the book value and net present value of the loans was shown

as an allocation of development resources The amount of UA 71.08 million which was the write-down in respect of the debt

relief granted to Mozambique in 1999 under the original HIPC framework is included in the amount stated as net debt relief in the

Statement of Net Development Resources The outstanding balance and net present value of the loans owed by Mozambique

and sold to the HIPC Trust Fund in 1999 were UA 132.04 million and UA 60.96 million respectively

______
In 1999 the HIPC initiative was enhanced to provide greater faster and more poverty-focused debt relief This was achieved by

reducing the eligibility criteria for qualification under the initiative and by commencing debt relief much earlier than under the

original framework Under the enhanced framework where 32 African countries are currently eligible debt relief is delivered

through annual debt service reductions which allow the release of up to 80 percent of annual debt service obligations as they

come due until the total net present value NPV of debt relief determined by the debt sustainability analysis DSA is provided

Interim financing of up to 40 percent of total debt relief is granted between the decision and completion points Total contribu

tions by the Fund to the HIPC initiative at December 31 2012 amounted to UA 184 million and are shown as allocation of devel

opment resources in the Statement of Net Development Resources

Multilateral Debt Relief Initiative

At the Gleneagles Summit on July 2005 the Group of major industrial countries agreed on proposal for the ADF the

International Development Association IDA and the International Monetary Fund IMF to cancel 100 percent of their claims

on countries that have reached or will reach the completion point under the enhanced HIPC initiative Through the Development

Committee CommuniquØof September 25 2005 the donor community expressed its support for the MDRI and urged the insti

tutions referred to above to proceed with the necessary steps to ensure implementation

The main objective of the MDRI is to complete the process of debt relief for HIPCs by providing additional resources to help 38

countries worldwide 33 of which are in Africa to make progress towards achieving the Millennium Development Goals MDGs

while simultaneously safeguarding the long-term financing capacity of the ADF and the IDA The debt cancelation is delivered

by relieving post-completion-point HIPCs repayment obligations and adjusting their gross assistance flows downward by the

same amount To maintain the financial integrity of the ADF donors are expected to make additional contributions to the ADF

to match dollar-for-dollar the foregone principal and service charge payments

The MDRI became effective for the ADF on September 2006 Since disbursed and outstanding loans are already excluded from

net development resources the debt cancelation did not have an impact on the Funds balance of net development resources

Cancelation of ADF debts are effected when other eligible countries reach the HIPC completion point

At December 31 2012 gross amount of UA 5.52 billion 2011 UA 5.15 billion of outstanding loans had been canceled under

N1DRI for 28201126 HIPC completion-point countries Of this amount UA 1225.99 million 2011 UA 1225.99 million in nominal

terms were converted by the HIPC Trust Fund The present value of the converted loans was UA 942.71 million 2011 UA 942.71

million As of December 31 2012 the present value amounts have been transferred from the HIPC Trust Fund to ADF
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African Development Fund Chapter

NOTE ADMNSTRATWE EXPENSES

Pursuant to Article 31 of the Agreement the Fund reimburses the ADB for the estimated fair value of its use of the latters offic

es staff organization services and facilities The amount of such administrative expenses reimbursed is based on predeter

mined cost-sharing formula which is driven in large part by the Funds relative share of the number of programs and projects

executed during the year by the Bank Group The administrative expenses incurred by the Fund for the year amounted to UA

185.27 million 2011 UA 159.33 million

NOTE RELATED PAPTES

The general operation of the Fund is conducted by 14-member Board of Directors of which members are selected by the

Bank The Bank exercises 50 percent of the ADFs voting power and the President of the Bank is the ex-officio President of the

Fund In accordance with the Agreement the Fund utilizes the officers staff organization services and facilities of the ADB the

Bank to carry out its functions for which it reimburses the Bank as disclosed in Note In this regard the Bank administers the

resources of the Fund The Fund also administers trust funds entrusted to it by one of its State Participants
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KPMG Audit TØlØphone 3301 55686868
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France

African Development Fund

Temporary Relocation Agency
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Tunisia

Independent Auditors Report on the special purpose financial statements of the African Development Fund to

the Board of Governors of the African Development Fund

Year ended 31 December 2012

We have audited the accompanying special purpose financial statements of the African Development Fund the Fund prepared in

compliance with the accounting and financial reporting matters as set out in the accounting policies in note to the Special Purpose

Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2012

These special purpose financial statements have been prepared for the purposes
of submitting approved and audited special purpose

financial statements to the Board of Governors as required by Article 26v 351 and 353 of the Agreement establishing the Fund

and are not intended to be presentation in conformity with recognised accounting framework such as International Financial

Reporting Standards

This report is made solely to the Funds Board of Governors as body in accordance with Article 26v 351 and 353 of the

Agreement establishing the Fund Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Funds Board of Governors those

matters we are required to state to them in an auditors report and for no other purpose To the fullest extent permitted by law we do

not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Fund and its Board of Governors as body for our audit work for this

report or for the opinions we have formed

Management Responsibility for the Annual Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and presentation of these financial statements in accordance with articles 26v 351

and 353 of the Agreement Establishing the Fund and the accounting policies set out in note to the special purpose financial state

ments This responsibility includes designing implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and presenta

tion of financial statements that are free from material misstatement whether due to fraud or error selecting and applying appropriate

accounting policies and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances

Auditor Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these special purpose financial statements based on our audit We conducted our audit

in accordance with International Standards on Auditing Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan

and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance that the special purpose financial statements are free from material misstatement

Siege social

SocidtØ anonyme dexpertise KPMG S.A

comptable et de commissariat Immeuble Le Palatin

aux comptes directoire et cours du Triangle

conseil de surveillance 92939 Paris La Defense Cedex

Inscrite au Tableau de IOrdre Capital 5497 100

KPMG S.A Paris sous le 14-30080101 Code APE 6920Z

sociØtØ francaise membre du rØseau KPMG eta Ia Compagnie Regionale
775 726 417 R.C.S Nanterre

constituØ de cabinets indØpendants adherents de des Commissaires aux Comptes TVA Union EuropØenne

KPMG International Cooperative une entitØ de droit suisse de Versailles FR 77775726 417
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Chtur AfrIcan Development Fund

African Development Fund

Independent Auditorc Report on the speciol purpose

Jinoociol stotements of the Africon Development Fund

to the Boord ot Governors of
the A/ricon Development Fund

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the special purpose financial

statements The procedures selected depend on the auditors judgement including the assessment of the risks of material misstate

ment of the special purpose financial statements whether due to fraud or error In making those risks assessments the auditor consid

ers internal control relevant to the entitys preparation and presentation of the special purpose financial statements in order to design

audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of

the entitys internal control An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting principles used and the reasonable

ness of accounting estimates made by management as well as evaluating the overall special purpose financial statement presentation

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide basis for our audit opinion

Opinion

In our opinion the special purpose financial statements of the Fund have been prepared in all material respects in accordance with

the accounting and financial reporting matters as set out in the accounting policies in note to the special purpose financial statements

for the year ended 31 December 2012
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Paris La Defense 27th March 2013

KPMG Audit

division of KPMG S.A

Valery FoussØ

Parlner
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Chapter Nigeria Trust Fund

inturt
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized when the Fund assumes related contractual rights or obligations

Fianca Asset

In accordance with IFRS the Fund classifies its financial assets into the following categories financial assets at amortized

cost and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss FVTPL These classifications are determined based on the Funds

business model In accordance with the Funds business model financial assets are held either for the stabilization of income

through the management of net interest margin or for liquidity management Management determines the classification of its

financial assets at initial recognition

financial asset is classified as amortized cost only if the asset meets the objective of the Funds business model to hold the

asset to collect the contractual cash flows and the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely

payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding The nature of any derivatives embedded in financial assets are

considered in determining whether the cash flows of the investment are solely payment of principal and interest on the principal

outstanding and are not accounted for separately

If either of the two criteria above is not met the financial asset is classified as at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at amortized cost include loans and receivables on amounts advanced to borrowers and certain investments that

meet the criteria of financial assets at amortized cost Loans and receivables comprise demand obligations accrued income and

receivables from loans and investments and other sundry amounts receivable Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial

assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market They arise when the Fund provides money

goods or services directly to debtor with no intention of trading the receivable Loans and receivables are carried at amortized

cost using the effective interest method

Loan origination fees are deferred and recognized over the life of the related loan as an adjustment of yield Incremental direct

costs associated with originating loans are expensed as incurred as such amounts are considered insignificant

Investments classified as financial assets at amortized cost include investments that are non-derivative financial assets with

fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities These investments are carried and subsequently measured at amortized

cost using the effective interest method

Financial assets that do not meet the amortized cost criteria as described above are measured at FVTPL This category includes

all treasury assets held for resale to realize short-term fair value changes Gains and losses on these financial assets are report

ed in the income statement in the period in which they arise Derivatives are also categorized as financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss

Cash and cash equivalents include amounts due from banks demand deposits and other short-term highly liquid investments

that are readily convertible to known amount of cash are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value and have time

to maturity upon acquisition of three months or less

Purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on trade-date basis which is the date the Fund commits to purchase or

sell the asset Loans are recognized when cash is advanced to the borrowers

Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or where the Fund

has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership
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Financial liabilities include accounts payable and are subsequently measured at amortized cost Financial liabilities are derecognized

upon discharge cancelation or expiration

The Fund assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that financial asset or group of financial

assets is impaired financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred if and only if

there is objective evidence of impairment as result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset

loss event and that loss event or events has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group

of financial assets that can be reliably estimated

If the Fund determines that there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred on loan receivable or held-

to-maturity investment carried at amortized cost the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the assets car

rying amount and the present value of its estimated future cash flows excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred

discounted at the financial assets original effective interest rate The estimated impairment loss may arise from delays that may

be experienced in receiving amounts due and the impairment calculations reflect managements best estimate of the effect of

such delays

The impairment loss is reported as reduction to the carrying amount of the asset through the use of an allowance account and

recognized in the income statement If loan or other investment held at amortized cost has variable interest rate the discount

rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate determined under the contract Interest and charges

are accrued on all loans including those in arrears

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet when there is legally enforceable

right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on net basis or realize the asset and settle the liabil

ity simultaneously

In liquid or active markets the most reliable indicators of fair value are quoted market prices financial instrument is regarded

as quoted in an active market if quoted prices are regularly available from an exchange dealer broker industry group pricing

service or regulatory agency and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arms length

basis If the above criteria are not met the market is regarded as being inactive Indications that market might be inactive include

when there is wide bid-offer spread or significant increase in the bid-offer spread or there are few or no recent transactions

observed in the market When markets become illiquid or less active market quotations may not represent the prices at which

orderly transactions would take place between willing buyers and sellers and therefore may require adjustment in the valua

tion process Consequently in an inactive market price quotations are not necessarily determinative of fair values Considerable

judgment is required to distinguish between active and inactive markets

The fair values of quoted investments in active markets are based on current bid prices while those of liabilities are based on

current asking prices For financial instruments with inactive markets or unlisted securities the Fund establishes fair value by

using valuation techniques that incorporate the maximum use of market data inputs These include the use of recent arms length

transactions discounted cash flow analysis option pricing models and other valuation techniques commonly used by market

participants Financial instruments for which market quotations are not readily available have been valued using methodologies

and assumptions that necessarily require the use of subjective judgments Accordingly the actual value at which such financial

instruments could be exchanged in current transaction or whether they are actually exchangeable is not readily determinable

Management believes that these methodologies and assumptions are reasonable however the values actually realized in sale

might be different from the fair values disclosed
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The following three hierarchical levels are used for the determination of fair value

Level Quoted prices in active markets for the same instrument i.e without modification or repackaging

Level2 Quoted prices in active markets for similar assets or liabilities or other valuation techniques for which all significant

inputs are based on observable market data

Level3 Valuation techniques for which any significant input is not based on observable market data

The methods and assumptions used by the Fund in estimating the fair values of financial instruments are as follows

Cash and cash equivalents The carrying amount is the fair value

Investments Fair values for investment securities are based on quoted market prices where available If quoted market prices

are not available fair values are based on quoted market prices of comparable instruments

Loans The Fund does not sell its loans nor does it believe there is comparable market for its loans The fair value of loans

reported in these financial statements represents managements best estimates of the expected cash flows of its loans The fair

valuation of loans has been determined using discounted cash flow model based on year end market lending rates in USD

including impairment percentages when applicable

Retained earnings of the Fund consist of amounts allocated to reserves from prior years income and unallocated current year

net income

.ti

In the preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS management makes certain estimates assumptions and judg

ments that affect the reported amounts of assets liabilities revenue and expenses as well as the disclosure of contingent liabilities

Actual results could differ from such estimates Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical

experience and other factors including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances

The most significant judgments and estimates are summarized below

The Fund first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets If the Fund determines

that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset that asset is included in group of

financial assets with similar credit characteristics and collectively assessed for impairment

Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is or continues to be recognized are not

included in collective assessment of impairment financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired and impairment

losses are incurred if and only if there is objective evidence of impairment as result of one or more events that occurred after

the initial recognition of the asset loss event and that loss event or events has an impact on the estimated future cash flows

of the financial asset or group of financial assets and can be reliably estimated

If the Fund determines that there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables or held-to-maturity

investments carried at amortized cost has been incurred the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the

assets carrying amount and the present value of its estimated future cash flows excluding future credit losses that have not

been incurred discounted at the financial assets original effective interest rate
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The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognized

in the income statement

tj
The fair values of financial instruments that are not quoted in active markets are determined by using valuation techniques

Valuation techniques for example models that are used to determine fair values are validated and periodically reviewed by

qualified personnel independent of the area that created them All models are periodically calibrated to ensure that outputs

reflect actual data and comparative market prices To the extent practical models use only observable data however areas

such as credit risk both own and counterparty volatilities and correlations require management to make estimates Changes

in assumptions about these factors could affect the reported fair value of financial instruments

Certain reclassifications of prior years amounts have been made to conform to the presentation in the current year These reclas

sifications did not affect prior years reported result

NOi 1c ttI EW AN REvLrU tt
EPOTNG STANDARDS

At the date of issue of these financial statements certain new and amended International Financial Reporting Standards and

Interpretations are not yet effective for application and have not been applied in preparing these financial statements

The following new standards and amendments are expected to be relevant to the Fund

et1 t31tCt

IFRS 10 was issued in May 2011 and is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 2013 IFRS 10 introduces new

control model to determine whether an investee should be consolidated This IFRS defines the principle of control and estab

lishes control as the sole basis for determining which entities should be consolidated by the reporting entity It also establishes

principles for the presentation and preparation of consolidated financial statements when an entity has determined that it con

trols one or more other entities

The adoption of IFRS 10 is not expected to have any significant impact on the Funds financial position or performance

IFRS 13 was issued in May 2011 and is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 2013 with early adoption per

mitted IFRS 13 defines fair value sets out in single IFRS framework for measuring fair value and requires disclosures about

fair value measurements

IFRS 13 explains how to measure fair value for financial reporting which is market-based measurement not an entity-specific

measurement It does not require fair value measurements in addition to those already required or permitted by other standards

and is not intended to establish valuation standards or affect valuation practices outside financial reporting However this stand

ard expands the concepts and principles behind fair valuation In addition extensive disclosures about fair value are required

under IFRS 13 and in particular when an entity relies on unobservable valuation inputs under the level fair valuation hierarchy

The adoption of IFRS 13 is not expected to have any significant impact on the Funds financial position or performance
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In December 2011 ASB issued new disclosure requirements in respect of the effect of offsetting arrangements on an entitys

financial position as part of common project with the US Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB The new require

ments are set out in Disclosures-Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities amendment to IFRS and are related to

financial assets and liabilities that are offset in the statement of financial position or that are subject to master netting arrange

ments or similar agreements As part of the same project the IASB also published Disclosures-Offsetting Financial Assets and

Financial Liabilities amendment to lAS 32 clarifying the offsetting criteria in lAS 32 to address inconsistency in their application

These amendments to IFRS and AS 32 are to be applied in the financial statements for the annual periods beginning on or

after January 2013 and annual periods beginning on or after January 2014 respectively

The adoption of IFRS and lAS 32 are not expected to have any significant impact on the Funds financial position or performance

As described in Note the Bank manages the resources of the Fund on behalf of the Government of Nigeria In the course of

exercis ng its fiduciary duties the Bank applies specific risk management policies designed to protect the resources of the Fund

through the Banks General Authority on Asset and Liability Management the ALM Author ty The ALM Authority sets out

the guiding principles for managing the Funds risks including interest rate risk currency risk liquidity risk counterparty credit

risk and operational risk

Under the ALM Authority the President of the Bank is authorized to approve and amend more detailed operational guidelines

as necessary upon the recommendations of the Asset and Liability Management Committee ALCO ALCO is the Banks most

senior management forum on finance and risk management issues and is chaired by the Vice President for Finance of the Bank

In June 2012 the Bank also created the Credit Risk Committee CRC to ensure effective implementat on of the Banks credit

policies and oversee all credit risk issues related to sovereign and non-sovereign operations

The ALCO and CRC meet on regular basis to perform their oversight roles Among its functions the ALCO reviews regular and

ad-hoc finance anc treasury risk management reports and projections and approves strategies to adjust the balance sheet The

Credit Risk Committee takes over the Credit Risk responsibilities previously handled by ALCO including the coverage of the end-

to-end credit risk ciovernance credit assessments portfolio monitoring and rating change approval amongst others ALCO and

CRC are supported by several standing working groups that report on specific issues including country risk non-sovereign credit

risk interest rate risk currency risk operational risk financial projections and financial products and services

Day-to-day operational responsibilities for implementing the Banks risk management policies and guidelines are delegated to

the relevant business units and the Financial Management Department is responsible for monitoring the day-to-day compli

ance with those policies and guidelines

The following sections describe in detail the manner in which the-individual sources of risk are managed by the Fund

Credit risk is the potential financial loss due to default of one or more debtors/obligors Credit risk is the largest source of risk

for the Fund arising from its lending and treasury operations essentially and it includes sovereign credit risk from lending opera

tions and counterparty credit risk These risks are managed within an integrated framework of credit policies guidelines and

processes which are described in more detail in the following sections
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Chapter Nigeria Trust Fund

As at December 31 2012 the Fund entered into an obligation to purchase investment bond amounting to UA 13.01 million This

amount is included in the Accounts Payable

NOTEG LOANS

Loans originated prior to September 22 2003 carry an interest rate of four per cent 4% on the outstanding balance With

effect from September 22 2003 pursuant to the Board of Governors resolution B/BG/2003/11 of June 2003 and the pro

tocol agreement between the Government of Nigeria and the Bank dated September 22 2003 the interest rate on loans was

changed from flat percent per annum to range of percent to percent inclusive per annum on the outstanding balance

and future undisbursed loans Furthermore 0.75 percent commission is payable on undisbursed balances commencing 120

days after the signature of the loan Loans approved prior to the extension of the Agreement are granted for maximum period

of twenty-five years including grace periods of up to five years

Following the extension of the Agreement in April 2008 the terms of the NTF loans were further modified in line with the

terms of financing in the operational guidelines of the Fund approved pursuant to the Board of Directors resolution ADB/BD/

______
WP/2008/196 of December 2008 which stipulates that the resources of the Fund will henceforth be deployed in accordance

with the following three options

Financing Terms

Financial terms for the first option include no interest charges on NTF loans ii service charge of 0.75 percent per annum

on outstanding balances iii commitment fee of 0.5 percent per annum on un-disbursed commitments and iv 20-year

repayment period with 7-year grace period

Financial terms for the second option include no interest charges on NTF loans ii service charge of 0.75 percent per annum

on outstanding balances iii commitment fee of 0.5 percent per annum on un-disbursed commitments and iv 15-year

repayment period with 5-year grace period

Financial terms for the third option would be the same terms as for the ADB private sector financing taking into consideration

the risk analysis of the project

For all the above mentioned options the grace period starts from the date of signing of the financing agreement or at date

agreed amongst co-financiers in the case of co-financed projects

For private sector operations commitment fee of 0.75 percent per annum on un-disbursed balances will be charged from 120

days after the signing of the loan agreement

The NTF shall provide financing to suit the needs of its borrowers

In order to promote broader coverage of the NTF resources utilization will be subject to ceiling for each operation For both

public and private sector operations ceiling of US$10 million per project will apply Project proposals of more than US$10 mil

lion may be considered if there is strong justification This will be subject to review as appropriate depending on the recommen

dations of the mid-term reviews of the NTF

The Funds loan regulations require that loans be expressed in UA and repaid in the currency disbursed At December 31 2012

all loans disbursed were repayable in U.S dollars
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KPMG Audit TØlØphone 3301 55686868

1coursValmy TØlØcopie 3301 55687300

92923 Paris La Defense Cedex Site internet www.kpmg.fr

France

Nigeria Trust Fund

Temporary Relocation Agency

Avenue du Ghana

1002 Tunis BelvØdŁre

Tunisia

Independent Auditors Report to the Board of Governors of the African Development Bank in respect of the

Nigeria Trust Fund

Year ended 31 December 2012

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Nigeria Trust Fund the Fund which comprise the balance sheet as

at 31 December 2012 and the income statement the statement of comprehensive income the statement of changes in equity and the

statement of cash flows for the year then ended and summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes as set

out in notes to

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards for the purpose of sub

mitting approved and audited financial statements to the Board of Governors of the African Development Bank as required by Section

8.2 of the Agreement establishing the Fund This report is made solely to the Board of Governors of the Bank as body in accordance

with Section 8.2 of the Agreement establishing the Fund Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Board of

Governors those matters we are required to state to them in an auditors report and for no other purpose To the fullest extent permitted

by law we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Fund and the Board of Governors of the Bank as body

for our audit work for this report or for the opinions we have formed

Managements Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with International

Financial Reporting Standards This responsibility includes designing implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to

the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatements whether due to fraud or error

selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances

Auditor Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit We conducted our audit in accordance with

International Standards on Auditing Those standards require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements and plan and perform

the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement

Siege social

SociØtØ anonyme dexpertise KPMG S.A

comptable et de commissanat Immeuble Le Palatin

aux comptes directoire at cours du Triangle

conseil de surveillance 92939 Paris La Defense Cedex

lnscrite au Tableau de lOrdre Capital 5497100

KPMG SA Paris sous le 14-30080101 Code APS 6920Z

societe française membre du rØseau KPMG at Ia Compagnie Regionale 775 726 417 R.C.S Nanterre

constituØ de cabinets indØpendants adherents de des Commissaires aux Comptes TVA Union EuropØenne

KPMG International Cooperative une entitØ de droit suisse de Versailles FR 77 775 726 417
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Nigeria Trust Fund Chapter

Nigeria Trust Fund

Independent AuditorN Report to the Board of Governors

of the African Development Bank in respect of the Nigeria Trust Fund

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements The

procedures selected depend on our judgment including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements

whether due to fraud or error In making those risk assessments we consider internal control relevant to the entitys preparation and

fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances but not for

the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entitys internal control An audit also includes evaluating the appro

priateness of accounting principles used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management as well as evaluating

the overall presentation of the financial statements

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide basis for our opinion

Opinion

In our opinion the financial statements present fairly in all material respects the financial position of the Fund as at 31 December 2012

and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

Annual Report 2012

Paris La Defense 27th March 2013

KPMG Audit

division of KPMG LA

Valery FoussØ

Partner
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Overview of Key Decisions by the Boards of Directors in 2012

Bank Groups Pohcy on Prop ram Based Operations PBOs

Delegation of Authonty to the President for the Conhnuation of Operations of the African Development Bank Group in Emergency Situations

GEl VI Report on the Implementation

Operational Risk Management Framework

Bank Business Continuity Leverage Decentralisation to Strengthen the Banks Business Continuity

Bank Groups Policy on Disclosure and Access to Information

Review of the Bank Groups 1ff Operations Strategy Action Plan for the Medium Farm 2011 2014

The Multi Donor Trust Fund for Countries in Transition

Proposal for the Implementation of Sanctions Process within the African Development Bank Group

Amendments to Rules and Procedures for Procuremeiit of Goods and Works and Rules and Procedures for the Use of Consultants

Line Tuning the Organiiational Structure and Business Piocesses of IACD

Fneigy Sector Policy of the Afrcan Deveiopment Bank Group

Framework for Enhaiiced Engagement with the Civil Society Organizations

Climate Change Action Plan CCAP 2011 2015

Infoi mat ion Fechnology Strategy 2013 2015

The Banks Participation in the Middle Fast and North Africa Transition Fund
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B- Abbreviations

African Development Bank

Association for the Development of Education in Africa

Annual Development Effectiveness Review

African Development Fund

African Development Bank

African Legal Support Facility

Committee on Administrative Matters Affecting the

Boards of Directors

African Ministers Council on Water

Annual Report

African Peer Review Mechanism

African Urson

African Urson Commission

Audit and Finance Committee

Australian Dollar

Australian Government Overseas Aid Program

African Water Facility

Brazilian Real

Brazil Russia India China South Africa

Committee on Administrative Affairs and

Human Resources Policy Issues

Canadian Dollar

Central African Republic

Cost Accounting System

Congo Basin Forest Fund

Climate Change Action Plan

Comprehensive Development Framework

Swiss franc

Canadian International Development Agency

Climate Investment Funds

Carbon dioxide

Committee on Operations and Development Effectiveness

Country Strategy Papers

Committee of the Whole

Delegation of Authority Matrix

Development Finance Institution

Department for International Development of the

United Kingdom
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Democratic Republic of Congo

Economic Commission for Africa
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Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative

Statistics Department
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Euro Interbank Offered Rate
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Foreign Direct Investment
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Johannesburg Interbank Agreed Rate
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Korea Africa Economic Technical Cooperation Fund
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UNESCO United Nations Educational Scientific and

Cultural Organization

USA United States of America

USD United States Dollar
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Annex

Thematk Trust Funds/Speda Funds Resources AvailaWe for Commitment

as of December 31 2012

rnUbt it the 4gnenieit

NEPAD lntrastiu turn Project Preparation Facility Fund NEPAD 050 4479803085 27815362 Itt Regional project identification

IPPI
Transport preparation workshops seminars

Energy in hne wOk NEPAD agenda RECs

Denmaik
DKK 1/100000 Water and Samtation capauty building

Canada
CAD 10000000

Norway Goncrnment
WOK 45000000

DFID/United ngdom GOP 5000000

Germany Government FUR 1000000

ABO Contribution
UA 6300000

Damsh fund tor lechnical assistance DKK 5000000

USA
050 1000000

Switzerland
Euro 3000000

Carrada
CAD 15000000

Atrican Water Facility Funds
Euro 160974862 109331498 Water Sectnr

Techn cal assistance studies

operational support

Algeria
Forn 99975

Austria
Euro 5120 259

Aost alia
Euro 336/500

BillBelinda CoIns lundation nm
330/ 6/1

Canada
Euro 13811300

Denmark
Fuin 5665352

OttO 11052415

Egypt
Euro 15000

Un on Euro 25000000

trance Euro 11999990

Norway
Euro 11101951

Seoegal
Euro 174963

Sweden
turn 12195 623

Spani
Euro 12000000

Chad Euro /48123

DR Congo
Euro /4361/

Ca nada Euro 14354735

Burkina Faso Euro /48/2

Fran Euro 22000000

Rural Vater Supply aud Santaton lnitiatve Grants RWSSI Euro 117517731 110598993 Water Sector Policy and strategy capacity

building training programmes

Denmark
Euro 3082964/

and protect preparation

France
Euro 40000000

Canada
Euro 17329409

Netherlands the
Euro 9287803
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Burkina Faso
Euro 74872

Multi donor Water Partnership Programme Euro 5313656 4842482 Water Suctoi Policies workshops conferences

training studies and seminars

Canadu Euro 2010 841

Denmark uro 3302815

SIDA Suppot to tW First Aticas Water Wck tern 10924

Islamic Development Bank Support to the First Atrican Water

Week Euro 1368917

Fund tur Atrican Private Sector Assistance FAPA USO 49066564 30465719 Private Sector Techirical assistance capacity

Duvelopment building

Japan
USD 35660000

Austria
USO 2648047

ADO OW 10645 670
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Thematic Trust Funds/Specia Funds Resources AvaHable for Commitment
as of December 31 2012

Congo Basoi forest Fund CBFf Euro 93447915 70337482 Environment Reduce deforestation Assessment and funding of

and degradation poverty reduction Projects establishment of REF

UK REID Euro 37619513 sustainable forest management secretariat and systems Governing

Norway Euro 40658154 sustainable development capacity Council meetings Preparation

Canada Euro 15110248 building of annual work plan monitoring

missions of CBFf projects

Sensitization workshops and

seminars Establish Monitoring

Evaluation system

Microfinance Capacity Building lund Euro 15113515 14100927 Microfinance Consultancy services Training and

Capacity Bu4diug Prenaration of

Spain Euio 15000000 polky and sector studies

UNCDE USD 150000

Migration and Development Initiative fund 5722217 Migration and Developnient Studies Fechoical Assistance

France Euro 6000 000

lEAD USD 200000

Governance Trust funds 4325036 Governance Measures to analyse and improve

governance and reduce corruption

Norway NOK 6400000 promotion of credible audit

Switzerland CHF 3000000 accountability mechanisms and

Denmark USD 84308 nvcrsight institutions good

Inland USD 84068 finanLial management including

Sweden SEK 15000080 public procurement support to

investment climate and business

environment

South South Cooperation Trust Fund 050 6000000 3728190 Agriculture and Agribusiness Technical Assistance capacity

Private Sector Development Building human resources

Brazil Clean Energy development seminars workshops

Governance

Health

Social Development

Sustainable Energy fund For Africa 0KB 300000000 36050413 Sustainable Erergy Project preparation for projects

Energy Efficiency
of total investment needs of

neninark CSCFA USD 3uiS miihon
support or

projects with an independent

power producer or within PPP

structure sovereign entities are

not eligible as project sponsors

Contribution of equity to

Private equity fund

Africa Trade Fund CAD 15000000 9526229 Trade Technical assistance training

Economic Growth capacity building preparation
of

Regional Integration policy and sector studies

Trust Fund for Countries in Transition GBP 2352000 3515141 Strengthening governance

0KB 9300000 Fostering economic and social

nclusion

Creating lobs

Supporting private sector led

growth

Advancing regional and global

integration

8WaAvgft8b1g$O
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Annex

The African Development Bank Group

The African Development Bank ADB resources which are

generally obtained through capital market borrowings are

used to provide loans to its RMC5 on non-concessional terms

Resources from this window are also used to support private

sector projects in all RMCs through direct loans LOCs trade

finance facilities equity and quasi-equity participations and

guarantees to financially sound and viable private enterprises

and multinational projects that support regional integration

The ADBs standard loan product has evolved over time with

terms that are increasingly more accommodating and respon

sive to client needs

The standard loan product now offered to sovereign and sover

eign guaranteed clients is the Enhanced Variable Spread Loan

EVSL which gives borrowers high degree of flexibility to

manage their interest rate risks For Non-sovereign guaran

teed clients the loan product offered is the Fixed Spread Loan

The interest rate on the EVSL is comprised of floating base

6-month LIBOR for USD and YEN 6-month EURIBOR for Euro

and month JIBAR for ZAR funding margin that is func

tion of the Banks cost of funding relative to LIBOR EURIBOR or

JIBAR computed every six month and contractual spread of

60 bps At borrowers request the EVSL offers free option

to convert the floating base rate into fixed rate

The standard repayment period for sovereign and sovereign

guaranteed loans is up to 20 years including grace period

not exceeding years

The interest rate on the FSL is comprised of floating base

rate 6-month LIBOR for USD and YEN 6-month EURIBOR

for Euro and month JIBAR for ZAR which remains floating

until maturity date or fixed base rate amortizing swap rate

set at borrowers request for disbursed loan balances plus

risk-based credit spread

Non sovereign loans have standard repayment periods up to

15 years including grace period that does not exceed years

The African Development Fund ADF resources emanate

from contributions and periodic replenishments by ADF-State

Participants usually on 3-year basis No interest is charged on

ADF loans The loans however carry service charge of 0.75

percent per annum on outstanding balances and commitment

fee of 0.50 percent per annum on undisbursed commitments

Project loans span 50-year repayment period including

10-year grace period Lines of credit LOCs have 20-year

repayment period which also includes 5-year grace period

The Fund also provides grants to RMCs and these do not carry

any interest charges For blend countries see Appendix IV

however the lending terms have been made more stringent

during the ADF-12 2011-2013 period as follows 30 years

maturity grace period of years and an interest rate of

percent on project loans The other terms remain the same

namely 0.75 percent service charge on outstanding balances

and 0.5 percent commitment fee on undisbursed commitments

The Nigeria Trust Fund NTF resources are provided entirely

by the Federal Republic of Nigeria under an Agreement signed

with the Bank in 1976 for an initial period of 30 years Following

its revision in April 2008 the Agreement provides that the

resources of the Fund shall be used in accordance with the

terms of the following three options

First option no interest charges on NTF loans service

charge of 0.75 percent per annum on outstanding balances

commitment fee of 0.5 percent per annum on undis

bursed commitments and 20-year repayment period

including 7-year grace period

Second option no interest charges on NTF loans

service charge of 0.75 percent per annum on outstanding

balances commitment fee of 0.5 percent per annum

on undisbursed commitments and 15-year repayment

period including 5-year grace period

Third option Same terms as for the ADB private sector loans

taking into consideration the provisions of the Guidelines for

the Banks private sector financing as well as the risk analysis

of the project

Loans granted prior to the revision of the Agreement carried

interest at rates that ranged between percent and percent

with commission of 0.75 percent on undisbursed portions
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Appendix l2

Principal Officers of the Bank Group as of December 31 2012
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Appendix U1

Resolutions Adopted by the Board of Governors in 2012 for the ADD

B/RG/2812/01 Resolution Authorizing the Return and Cancel ahon from the total Authoozed Capital Stork of the ik ol the Additional shares without Voting

Power rubscribed by aneda as part intmim masurm pnding thy onciucinn of the Swth Oennral apiial lnresco 61 VI

8/86/2012/02 By election of Executive Directors of the Afri an Development Bank

8/86/2012/03 Appointment of External Auditors for the Finncial Years 2012 through 2016

B/B6/2D12/84 Resolution Authorizing Special Capital Increase

8/86/2012/85 Resolution Authorizing the Accession of the Republic of South Sudan to the African Developnient Bank Agreement

8/84/2012/06 Annual Report and Audited Financial Statemcnts for the Financial Year ended 31 Decembei 2011

8/00/2012/87 Allocation and Distribution of Allocable Income of the African Development Dank for the iancial Year ended 31 December 2011

8/86/2012/08 Distribution of Part of the Income of the Nigei ia trust fund for the Financial Year eridd 31 December 2011

8/86/2012/09 Annual review of the Remuneration of the Pmsiderit

8/86/2012/10 Annual review of the Remuneration of Executive Directors

8/86/2012/11 Resolution authorizing the cancellation and Reduction from the Total Authoris Captal Swik th Banx the Additional Ser wduut Votiny

Power subscribed by the Republic of Korea as part of interim measures pending the conclusion of he Sixth Gereial Capital Increase 61 VI

icc acne Ia act pc
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Appendix H2

Board of Governors of ADB Voting Powers of Member Countries as of December 31 2012

Algeria Karim Djoudi Mdoud Boutabba 267291 4205

Angola Job Graca Carlos Alberto Lopes 74104 1166

Benin Marcel Dc SouLa Jonas Gbian 12955 0204

Botswana Vincent Seretse Taufda Nyamadzabo 69552 1094

Burkina Easo Luden Marie Noel Bembamba Lone Sehgo 27544 0433

Burundi labu Abda0ah Manirakica Moise Bucumi 15638 0246

Cameroon Emmanuel Nqanou Dioumessi Blaie Ngoula Essomba 69738 1097

Cape Verde Cristina Duarte Leonesa Maria Do Nascimonto Dma Fortes 5469 0086

Central African Republic Abdou Karim Meckassoua Albert Besse 3448 0054

10 Chad Kordjo Bedoumra Mahamat Dlibrine Souleyman 5371 0084

11 Comoros Mohamed All Sodihi Alfeine Sitti Sort iat Tadjiddine 1166 0018

12 Congo Gilbert Ondongo Raphael Mokoko 29186 0459

13 COte dlvoire Albert Toikeusse Mabri Niale Kaba 234924 3696

14 Democratic Republic of Congo Patrice Kitebi Kibol Maul Jean Claude Masangu Mulongo 65359 1028

15 Dibouti Ilyas Moussa Dawaleh Dlama Mahamoud Haid 1838 0029

16 Egypt Farouk Okdah Ashraf El Araby 341478 5372

17 Equator al Guinea Marcelino Ownno Edu 10721 0169

18 Eritrea Berhane Abrehe Martha Woldegiorghis 2628 0041

19 Ethiopia Sot ian Ahmed Ahmed Shide 101214 1592

20 Gabon or Oyoubi Christiane Rose Ossoucah Raponda 76360 1201

21 Gambia the Abdor Kolley Mod Secka 10289 0162

22 Ghana Kwabena Dutfuor Kwesi Bekoi AmissahArthur 144382 2271

23 Guinea Kerralla Yansano Soumynran Lime 26275 u4J3

24 Guinea Bissau 2360 0037

25 Kenya Robinson Githae Joseph Kinyua 92331 1453

26 Losotho Leketekete Victor Ketso Mosito Khethisa 4289 0067

2/ Liberia Amaia Konneh Sebastian Muah 12271 0193

28 lrbya Hassan Ziglam Air Mohamed Salem 256508 4035

29 Madagascar 41590 0654

30 Malawi Ken Lipenga Ted Sitima Wma 19343 0304

31 Mali Tiena Coulibaly Marimpa Samoura 28202 0444

32 Mauritania Worm Diombar Cheikh Kebir Quid Chbih 4323 0168

33 Maurit ins Charles Gaetan Xavier Inc Duval Au Michael Mansoor 41965 0660

Mnrco Nizar Raraka Driss Elazami Erdrissi 222060 0404

35 Mozambique Aiuba Cuereneia Ernesto Gouveia Gove 40440 0636

36 Namrbia Saara Kuugongelwa Amadhila 2716/ 0349

3/ Nrger Amadou Boubacar Case Ballet Gdles 16607 0261

38 Nigeria Ngozi Okonjo Iweala Danladi lrmiya Kitasi 5893/1 9272

39 Rwanda John Rwanqombwa Kampeta Sayingoza 9019 0142

40 Sb Tome and Principo Helio Silva Almeida Maria Do Carmo Trovoada Pires Do Carvalho Silveira 4930 0178

41 Senegal Amadou Kane Eat Diop 67734 1058

42 Seychelles Pierre Laporte Caroline Abel 2434 0.038

43 Sierra Leone Sarnura Mathew Wilson Kamara Edmund Koroma 15948 0251

44 Somalia Sharit Hassan Sheik Adam Hamid Ibrahim 2566 0040

45 South Africa Pravin Gordhan Lungisa Fuzile 305833 4811

46 Sudan Ali Mahmoud Mohamed Abdelrasoul Magdi Hassan Yassin 24786 0390

41 Swaziland Majozi Vincent Sithole Hlangusemphi Dlamini 7876 0.124

48 Tanzania William Augustao Mgimwa Charles Mutalemwa 57281 0822

49 logo Adji Oteth Ayassor Mawussi Djossou Sornodji 10608 0.167

50 Tunisia Riadh Bettaieb Add Ben Ali 89434 1.407

51 Uganda Maria Kiwanuka Chris Kassami 32472 0.511

SI Zambia Aloxaiider Chikwanda Fredson Yamba 80034 1259

53 Zimbabwe Tendai Biti Willard Manungo 131011 2.061

YTALf0EGOtAt$ 3813O
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Appendix Ul1

Resolutions Adopted by the Board of Governors in 2012 for the ADF

F/B6/2012/01 Selection of Executive Ehrectors ot the African Development fund

f/BG/2012/02 Appouitment of External Auditors for the Fmancial Years 2012 through 2016

f/BG/2012/03 Annual Report and Audited Special Purpose Financial Statements tor the Financial Year ended 31 December 2011
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Appendix W4
Subscdptions of State Partidpants and of the ADB as of December 31 2012
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Appendix

Cassification of Regona Member Countries

V$$ otADt RoOW
Benin 20 liberia

Burkina Faso 21 Madagasar

Burundi 22 Malawi

Cameroon 23 Mali

Central Afnan Republk 24 Mauritania

Chad 25 Mozambique

Comoros 26 NIger

Congo 27 Owanda

Congo Deniocratk Ropublk of 28 SOn TomO and Prinripe

10 tOte dIvoire 29 Senegal

11 Djibouti 30 Sierra leone

12 lritrea 31 Somalia

13 Ethiopia 32 Sudan

34 Gambia 33 lanLania

15 Ghana 34 logo

16 Guinea 35 Uganda

17 Guinea Bissau 36 Zambia

18 Kenya 37 Zimbabwe

19 lesotlio

C4 tft Il1ordoAAstt
Nigeria

Algeria

Angola

Botswana

Cage Verde

lgypt

Equatorial Guinea

Gabon

Ubya

Mauritius

10 Morocw

11 Namibia

12 Seychelles

13 South Africa

14 SwaLiland

15 lunisia

X1t 71 enr 111 nrn Is
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African Development Bank Group Field Offices Addresses

Bank Group Addresses

HEADQUARTERS

ROSA
BANOUE AFRICAINE DE DEVELOPPEMENT

01 Boite Postale 1387 ABIDJAN 01 COte dlvoire

etage de Immeuble CRRAE UMOA PLATEAU

TEL 225 20 20 4822

FAX 22520213100

Contact Mr Au LAMINE ZEINE Representative

E-mail a.zeineafdb.org

EXTERNAL REPRESENTATION OFFICE

JAPAN

External Representation Office for Asia ASRO
African Development Bank Group

Room 701 NBF Building 1-1-7 Uchisaiwai-cho

Chiyoda-ku Tokyo 100-0011 Japan

TEL 81 3581 4429

Contact Mr Masayuki TAMAGAWA
Resident Representative

E-mail m.tamagawaafdb.org

REGIONAL RESOURCE CENTRES

KENYA

East Africa Resource Centre EARC
African Development Bank Group

12th Floor Landmark Plaza

Argwings Kodhek Road Upper Hill

Nairobi Kenya

TEL 254 20 2712925/6/8
FAX 254 20 2712938

Contact Mr Gabriel NEGATU Director EARC

E-mail g.negatu@afdb.org

SOUTH AFRICA

South Africa Resource Centre SARC
African Development Bank Group

339 Witch-Hazel Avenue Highveld Ext 78

Centurion South Africa

TEL 27 12 003 6900

Contact Mr Ebrima FAAL Director SARC

E-mail e.faalafdb.org

CUSTOMIZED OFFICES

BENIN

Rue des Dominicians

01 BP 506

Lot 111

Zone RØsidentielle

Cotonou Benin

TEL 2292131 30 45/229 9475 5499

FAX 229 21 31 lB 34

Contact Mr Daniel NDOYE Resident Country

Economist ADB Liaison Office

E-mail d.ndoyeafdb.org

GUINEA-BISSAU

Bureau du Programme national de Ia BAD GWFO
Groupe de Ia Banque africaine de DØveloppement

Rua Rui Djassi Bktiment des Nations Unies

Øtage

Bissau Guinea-Bissau

TEL 245 320 13 48

FAX 245 320 17 53

CELL 245 664 14 84/590 90 19

Contact Mr Jose Albino CHERNO EMBALO

National Program Officer

E-mail a.embalo@afdb.org

MAURITIUS

Mauritius Liaison Office

African Development Bank Group

5th Floor Anglo-Mauritius House

Intendance street

Port Louis Mauritius

TEL 230 211 61 72

Contact Mr Karim MHIRSI Resident Country

Economist ADB Liaison Office

E-mail k.mhirsi@afdb.org

SˆO TOME AND PRINCIPE

Sªo Tome and Principe Programme Office STFO
African Development Bank Group

Bureau national de Ia BAD

S/C Programme des Nations Unies pour le

Developpement

Avenue des Nations Unies BP 109

Sªo Tome et Principe

TEL 239 9907116

Contact Mr Helder NETO UNDP National

Program Officer

FIELD OFFICES

ALGERIE

Bureau nationale de lAlgerie DZFO
Groupe de Ia Banque africaine de DØveloppement

Commune dEl-Bier lotissement BENSMAIA
parcelle n4 lot n3
Alger Algeria

TEL 213 779 503 314

Contact Mrs DIARRA-THIOUNE Resident

Representative

E-mail a.diarra-thiouneafdb.org

ANGOLA

Angola Field Office AOFO
Banco Africano de Desenvolvimento

Rua Rei Katyavala Building Rei Katyavala

Ingombota

Luanda Angola

TEL 244 937240847/244930049256/

244 935565656

EXT 1992/2281/3526
Contact Mr Martin SEPTIME Resident

Representative

E-mail m.septime@afdborg

BURKINA FASO

Bureau nationale du Burkina Faso BFFO
Groupe de Ia Banque africaine de Developpement

Immeuble Administratif et Technique de lARCEP

5ere Etage

Ouagadougou Burkina Faso

TEL 226 50375750/51/53
FAX 226 50375749

EXT 6150-6199

Contact Mrs KG NZAU-MUTETA

Representante RØsidente

E-mail g.nzau-muteta@afdb.org

BURUNDI

Bureau national du Burundi BIFFO

Groupe de Ia Banque africaine de DØveloppement

24 Rue des Travailleurs Kiriri

B.P 7543- Bujumbura Burundi

TEL 257 22 27 78 23/22 27 78 24

FAX 257 22 27 78 25

Contact Mr Abou Amadou BA Resident

Representative

E-mail a.a.baafdb.org

CAMEROUN
Bureau national du Cameroun CMFO
Groupe de Ia Banque africaine de DØveloppement

Immeuble Foulassi 1067 bis rue 750

Nouvelle Route Bastos

BP 33 178 YaoundØ Cameroun

TEL 237 22 20 27 61/22 20 27 65

FAX 237 22 20 27 64

Contact Mr Kane RACINE Resident Representative

E-mail k.racineafdb.org

DEMOCRATIC REPUBLIC OF CONGO

Bureau national du R.D Congo CDFO
Groupe de Ia Banque africaine de DØveloppement

Immeuble de Ia BCDC Banque de Commerce

du Congo
Boulevard du 30 Juin Kinshasa NRC Kinshasa 340

Kinshasa RØpublique Democratique du Congo

TEL 243 815 705 989

Contact Mr Valentin ZONGO Resident

Representative

E-mail v.zongo@afdb.org

EGYPT

Egypt Field Office EGFO
African Development Bank Group

72b Al-Maahad El-Eshteraky st 5th floor

AFREXIMBANK Bldg Opposite to Marryland

Roxy/Heliopolis Cairo/Egypt

TEL 202 22563790/1

FAX 202 22563792

Contact Mr Sibry TAPSOBA Resident

Representative

E-mail s.tapsobaafdb.org

ETHIOPIA

Ethiopia Field Office ETFO
African Development Bank Group

Get House Building

7th and 8th floor

Kirkos Sub City Kebele 20/21 House No 056

Addis Ababa Ethiopia

TEL 251 11 554 63 36

FAX 251 11 554 63 35

Contact Mr Lamin Gorgui BARROW Resident

Representative

E-mail l.barrow@afdb.org

GABON
Bureau national du Gabon GAFO
Groupe de Ia Banque africaine de Developpement

Immeuble Saint Georges

Quartier Kalikak

B.P 4075

LIBREVILLE Gabon

TEL 241 442952/241 442953

FAX 241 442951

Contact Mr Moulay ENNAHLI Resident

Representative

E-mail m.ennahli@afdb.org

GHANA

Ghana Field Office GHFO
African Development Bank Group

No.1 Dr Isert Road

7th Avenue Ridge Accra Ghana

TEL 233.302662818/302.662835

FAX 233.302.662855

Contact Mrs M.L AKIN-OLUGBADE Resident

Representative

E-mail m.akin-olugbade@afdb.org

LIBERIA

Liberia Field Office LRFO
African Development Bank Group

2nd from the sea Sheriff-Sophie Street

Sophie community Old Congo Town

Montserrado County Monrovia Republic of Liberia

TEL 231 886665588/231 880912918

Contact Mrs Margaret KILO Resident

Representative

E-mail m.kilo@afdb.org

MADAGASCAR
Bureau national de Madagascar MGFO
Groupe de Ia Banque africaine de Developpement

9Ł Øtage Immeuble Fitaratra

Rue Ravoninahitriniarivo

Ankorondrano

Antananarivo 101 Madagascar

TEL 2612022 64361

Contact Mr Abdelkrim BENDJEBBOUR Resident

Representative

E-mail a.bendjebbour@afdb.org
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African Development Bank Group Field Offices Addresses

MALAWI
Malawi Field Office MWFO
African Development Bank Group

2nd Floor Kangombe House

Box 30732

City Centre Lilongwe Malawi

TEL 265 77 4460-62/64

FAX 265 77 44 69

Contact Mr Andrew MWABA Resident

Representative

E-mail a.mwaba@afdb.org

MALI

Bureau national du Mali MLFO
Groupe de Ia Banque africaine de DØveloppement

Immeuble SODIES ACI 2000

tangle derriere BNDA

BP 2950 Bamako Mali

TEL 223 20 22 28 85/20 22 28 72

Contact Mrs NGARNIM-GANGA Resident

Representative

E-mail h.ngarnim-ganga@afdb.org

MAROC
Bureau national du Maroc MAFO
Groupe de Banque africaine de Developpement

Immeuble Espaces les Lauriers le Etage

Angle des avenues Annakhil et Mehdi Ben Barka

Hay Riad

BP 592 Rabat Chellah

Rabat Maroc

TEL 212 537 565 937

FAX 212 537 565 935

Contact Mrs Amani ABOU-ZEID Resident

Representative

E-mail a.abou-zeid@afdb.org

MOZAMBIQLJE

Mozambique Field Office MZFO
African Development Bank Group

3rd floor JAT Building

Zedequias Maganhela 267

Maputo Mozambique

TEL 258 21326409

FAX 258 21315600

EXT 3801-3806

Contact Mr Joseph Martial RIBEIRO Resident

Representative

E-mail j.ribeiro@afdb.org

NIGERIA

Nigeria Field Office NGFO
African Development Bank Group

Plot 813

Lake Chad Crescent

Maitama District

Abuja Nigeria

TEL 234 4133261/262

234 672 1738/738

FAX 2349413 3260/1 321 956 3851

Contact Mr Ousmane DORE Resident

Representative

E-mail o.dore@afdb.org

REPUBLIQUE CENTRAFRICAINE

Bureau national de Ia Republique Centrafricaine

CFFO
Groupe de Ia Banque africaine de Developpement

Rue JOSEPH DEGRAIN Stade Municipal

Sainte Sophie Residences

BP 324

Bangui RCA

Contact Mr Modibo SANGARE Resident

Representative

E-mail rn.sangare@afdb.org

RWANDA

Bureau national du Rwanda RWFO
Groupe de Ia Banque africaine de Developpement

BUILDING GLORY HOUSE 3rd 4th FLOORS

BOULEVARD DE LUMUGANDA

KACYIRU ROAD

P0 BOX 7329

Kigali Rwanda

TEL 250 252 504250

FAX 250 252 504298

Contact Mr Negatu MAKONNEN Resident

Representative

E-mail n.makonnen@afdb.org

SENEGAL

Bureau regional du Senegal SNFO
Groupe de Ia Banque africaine de DØveloppement

Immeuble Coumba 2ene etage

Route de Ngor Zone 12

Les Almadies

BP 50544 CP 18524 RP

Dakar Senegal

TEL 221 338200888/338697544

FAX 221 338200999

Contact Mrs Leila MOKADEM Regional Resident

Representative

E-mail l.mokadem@afdb.org

SIERRA LEONE

Sierra Leone Field Office SLFO
African Development Bank Group

5th 6th floor Bishop Building

13 Lemma Sankoh Street PMP335

Freetown Sierra Leone

TEL 232 76541328

Contact Mr Yero BALDEH Resident

Representative

E-mail y.baldeh@afdb.org

SOUTH SUDAN

South Sudan Field Office SSFO
African Development Bank Group

UNDP Compound

Ministries Road

P.O Box 622

Juba South Sudan

TEL 211956450033
Contact Mr Jeremiah MUTONGA Resident

Representative

E-mail j.mutonga@afdb.org

SUDAN
Sudan Field Office SDFO
African Development Bank Group

Higleig Petroleum Tower 7th Floor

Obaid Khatim Street

P.O Box 644

Khartoum 11111 Sudan

TEL 249 183 236131/249 183 236240/

249 183 236320

Contact Mr Abdul KAMARA Resident

Representative

E-mail a.kamara@afdb.org

TANZANIA

Tanzania Field Office TZFO
African Development Bank Group

Garden Avenue

5th Floor International House

P.O Box 6024

Oar es Salaam Tanzania

TEL 255 22 2125281/2 office

255 22 2125286 Direct

FAX 225 22 2125283

Contact Ms Tonia KANDIERO Resident

Representative

E-mail t.kandiero@afdb.org

TCHAD

Bureau national du Tchad TDFO
Groupe de Ia Banque africaine de Developpement

Immeuble BCC

etage

Avenue Charles de Gaulle

BP 193

NDjamena Tchad

TEL 235 252 46 79/252 43 12

Contact Mr Michel DJIENA-WEMBOU Resident

representative

E-mail m.djiene@afdb.org

TOGO
Bureau national du Togo TGFO
Groupe de Ia Banque africaine de Developpement

Immeuble de Ia BOAD etage

68 Avenue de Ia Liberation

01 B.P 2722 LomØ Togo

TEL 228 22 22 80 02/228 22 22 80 03

Contact Serge NGUESSAN Resident

Representative

E-mail s.nguessan@afdb.org

UGANDA

Uganda Field Office UGFO
African Development Bank Group

14th Floor Crested Towers Building

Plot 17/22 Hannington Road

Kampala Uganda
P.O Box 28509

TEL 256-414 236 166/7

FAX 256-414 234 011

Contact Mr Mahamudu BAWUMIA Resident

Representative

Emai m.bawumia@afdb.org

ZAMBIA

Zambia Field Office ZMFO
African Development Bank Group

Banc ABC House

746 Church Road

Cathedral Hill

Ridgeway

Lusaka Zambia

Box 51449

TEL 260 211 257868/869/874

FAX 260 211 257872

Contact Mr Freddie KWESIGA Resident

Representative

E-mail f.kwesiga@afdb.org

ZIMBABWE
Zimbabwe Field Office ZWFO
African Development Bank Group

5th Floor Joina City

Cnr Jason Moyo Avenue/Julius Nyerere Way

Harare Zimbabwe

TEL 263 752 917/838

FAX 263 779 398

Contact Mr Damoni KITABIRE Officer-in-Charge

E-mail d.kitabire@afdb.org
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